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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN JOSE DIVISION 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

META PLATFORMS INC., et al., 

Defendants. 

Case No.   5:22-cv-04325-EJD 

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

Re: ECF Nos. 108, 164, 470 

This action was brought by Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) to block the 

merger between a virtual reality (“VR”) device provider and a VR software developer.  Defendant 

Meta Platforms Inc. (“Meta”) has agreed to acquire all shares of Within Unlimited, Inc. (“Within,” 

collectively with Meta, “Defendants”).  The FTC has come before the Court to seek preliminary 

injunctive relief pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

53(b), to enjoin Defendants from consummating their proposed merger (the “Acquisition”) 

pending the outcome of ongoing administrative proceedings before the FTC.  ECF Nos. 101, 164.  

In addition to the FTC’s motion for preliminary injunction, Defendants have filed a motion 

to dismiss the Amended Complaint (“FAC”) and a motion to strike the opinion of the FTC’s 

expert, Dr. Hal J. Singer, regarding the relevant product market definition.  ECF Nos. 108, 470. 

Over the course of a seven-day evidentiary hearing, the Court heard the parties’ arguments 

and evidence.  The Court has also received briefing on all pending motions, as well as pre-hearing 

and post-hearing submissions of the parties’ proposed findings of fact.  Having considered the 

parties’ submissions and evidence, the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss, DENIES 
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the Defendants’ motion to strike, and DENIES the FTC’s motion for preliminary injunction.   

I. FACTUAL FINDINGS 

A. Defendant Meta Platforms, Inc.  

1. Defendant Meta Platforms, Inc. is a publicly traded corporation organized 

under Delaware law and headquartered in Menlo Park, California.  DX1237, at 11.  Meta operates 

a collection of social networking platforms referred to as its “Family of Apps,” which includes 

Facebook, Instagram, Messenger, and WhatsApp.  PX0937, at 51.  Meta also manufactures VR 

devices, such as the Quest 2 and the Quest Pro headsets, through its Reality Labs division.  

Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 71:2–13; 74:10–19.    

2. VR technology enables users to experience and interact with a digitally 

generated three-dimensional environment by wearing a headset with stereoscopic displays in front 

of each eye.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 72:25–74:9.  Users can download a wide variety of VR 

software applications (“apps”) from digital marketplaces, or app stores, for use on their personal 

VR devices.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 219:19–25.  Quest headsets are designed so that a user’s geolocation 

determines what content is available and at what price.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 79:23–80:6.  

3. In 2020, 2021, and 2022, Meta spent several billion dollars each year on its 

VR Reality Labs division.  Zuckerberg Hr’g Tr. 1280:9–1282:15.    

4. Meta operates an app store called the Quest Store, previously known as the 

Oculus Store.  Third-party app developers can request to have their app distributed in the Quest 

Store, and Meta also actively seeks out and invites developers to bring apps to the Quest Store.  

Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 79:16–22; Pruett Hr’g Tr. 220:8–13.  Apps must meet several content, 

technical, and asset requirements before they may be considered for listing on the Quest Store; 

however, Meta may still reject an app that meets all the requirements pursuant to the Quest Store’s 

curation policy.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 220:25–223:16.  Apart from the Quest Store, Meta also operates 

App Lab, an app distribution service for VR applications that meet basic technical and content 

requirements but is otherwise free from any editorial curating by Meta.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 260:16–

22.  Quest users can also download VR apps from other app stores on VR platforms that Meta 
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does not own, such as SideQuest and Steam VR Store.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 274:8–21.  

5. The content and apps that are available for a particular VR system plays an 

important role in the widespread adoption of that system, and many users may purchase a VR 

system for specific content they want to experience.  Zuckerberg Hr’g Tr. 1294:16–125:2; 

Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 101:6–13, 101:21–27.  As a result, high quality and popular VR apps—

dubbed as “system sellers”—can drive adoption and sales of the specific headsets for which they 

are available.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 107:23–108:5.  Broad adoption of a specific VR system, in 

turn, will attract third-party app developers to create more VR content for that system, a 

phenomenon referred to as a “flywheel” effect.  PX0100, at 2–3; Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1048:21–

1049:3.  

6. When a VR app is developed wholly by a developer unaffiliated with Meta, 

Meta refers to that as third-party (“3P”) development.  When Meta funds all or most of a VR app’s 

development, Meta refers to that as second-party (“2P”) development.  When a VR app is 

developed in-house at Meta, either by acquired VR studios or Meta employees themselves, Meta 

refers to that as first-party (“1P”) development.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 72:12–16; 106:16–21.   

7. Meta encourages third-party VR app developers to build apps for the Quest 

platform by providing funding and technical VR engineering assistance to those developers.  

Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 106:5–15.  Specifically, Meta provides grants that are designed to improve 

existing VR software or incentivize the development of software on Quest that may only exist on 

another platform.  Meta also maintains a developer relations engineering team consisting of 

veteran engineers who work directly with developers to improve software quality, fix bugs, or 

polish the experience they are building.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 285:19–286:12.  Meta’s VR content 

organization spends approximately .  PX0066 (“Rubin Dep.”) 24:5–25:8.  

8. In addition to providing funding or engineering support to third-party VR 

app developers, Meta has also sought to increase the VR app content available on its platform by 

acquiring third-party app developers and developing its own apps internally.  PX0055 (“Verdu 

Dep.”) 117:5–118:12.   
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9. Although decisions may be made on a case-by-case basis, Meta typically 

will seek to acquire or build its own VR app if:  

 

 

 

  PX0127, at 4–5.  

10. Similarly, Meta is more inclined to build its own VR app instead of 

acquiring an existing third-party developer  

 

 

  PX0127, at 5. 

11. In the past three years, Meta has acquired at least nine VR app studios: Beat 

Games, Sanzaru Games, Ready at Dawn Studios, Downpour Interactive, BigBox VR, Unit 2 

Games, Twisted Pixel, Armature Studio, and Camouflaj.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 87:5–88:2. 

12. The VR apps that Meta has independently developed and released include 

Horizon Worlds (world building), Horizon Workrooms (productivity), Horizon Venues (live 

events), and Horizon Home (social networking).  Meta’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses ¶ 35, 

ECF No. 84.  Meta’s background and emphasis has been on communication and social VR apps.  

Zuckerberg Hr’g Tr. 1273:15–1274:22.  That said, Meta has also developed and released Dead and 

Buried, a multiplayer shooter game.  Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1051:18–20.   

B. Defendant Within Unlimited, Inc.  

13. Defendant Within Unlimited, Inc. is a privately held corporation organized 

under the laws of Delaware with headquarters in Los Angeles, California.  PX0006, at 1, 161.  

Within is a software development company founded by Chris Milk and Aaron Koblin, who were 

experienced visual artists.  Milk Hr’g Tr. 669:25–670:6; Koblin Hr’g Tr. 649:9–13.  
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14. Within’s flagship product is Supernatural, a subscription VR fitness service 

launched in April 2020 on the Quest Store.  PX0005, at 77.  Supernatural releases new workouts 

daily and continues to add new modalities (e.g., aerobic boxing, meditation) to its lineup of 

workouts.  Koblin Hr’g Tr. 605:15–606:4; Milk Hr’g Tr. 734:1–11.  Users access Supernatural’s 

workouts by paying a monthly subscription fee of $18.99 or an annual subscription fee of $179.99.  

FAC ¶ 24, ECF No. 101-1; Within’s Answer and Affirmative Defense ¶ 25, ECF No. 83.  

 

  Koblin Hr’g Tr. 636:15–22; Milk Hr’g Tr. 735:17–21.  Within has never 

changed Supernatural’s prices.  Carlton Report ¶ 77.  At present,   

Milk Hr’g Tr. 735:20–21. 

C. The Alleged “VR Dedicated Fitness App” Market 

15. The FTC alleges that the relevant market consists of VR dedicated fitness 

apps in the United States.  Mot. 13, ECF No. 164.  The government defines “VR dedicated fitness 

apps” as VR apps that are “designed so users can exercise through a structured physical workout 

in a virtual setting anywhere they choose to use their highly portable VR headset.”  Id. 

16. Both Meta and Within have repeatedly referred to VR apps intended to 

provide immersive at-home structured physical exercise as “deliberate” or “dedicated” fitness 

apps.  E.g., Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 831:12-24; PX0001, at 5; PX0286, at 1; Milk Hr’g Tr. 681:19-21; 

PX487, at 4; Pruett Hr’g Tr. 263:6–264:2; PX0004, at 169.  Meta now describes these apps as 

“trainer workout apps.”  PX0060 (“Paynter Dep.”) 24:2–12, 56:14–23.  VR dedicated fitness apps 

are sometimes called “VR deliberate fitness apps” or “trainer workout apps.”  The Court will use 

the phrase “VR dedicated fitness apps” throughout. 

17. VR dedicated fitness apps are marketed to customers for the purpose of 

exercise.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 263:6–18.  Some other VR apps, often called “incidental” or 

“accidental” fitness apps, may include mechanics that may allow users to exercise as a byproduct 

but have a primary focus other than fitness (such as gaming).  PX0001, at 5 n.10; PX0529, at 2; 

Carmack Hr’g Tr. 562:12–18.  Unlike VR incidental fitness apps, VR dedicated fitness apps often 



 

Case No.: 5:22-cv-04325-EJD 
ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF’S MOT. FOR PRELIM. INJUNCTION 

6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

U
n
it

ed
 S

ta
te

s 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o
u
rt

 

N
o
rt

h
er

n
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

o
f 

C
al

if
o
rn

ia
 

have features like trackable progress goals, heart rate tracking, and motion calibration.  PX0001, at 

5 n.10; Milk Hr’g Tr. 683:8–21.  Additionally, VR dedicated fitness apps generally require the 

producing company to have expertise and assets that allow them to create exercise content, e.g., 

workout coaches, green screen studios, stereoscopic capture, post processing pipelines.  PX0111; 

PX0251, at 2–3; PX0127, at 7; Koblin Hr’g Tr. 650:3–12; Garcia Hr’g Tr. 1079:16–24.  And 

because VR dedicated fitness apps create content on an ongoing basis to avoid user boredom, they 

are better suited than most other VR apps to be priced using a subscription model (although not all 

VR dedicated fitness apps follow this model).  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 269:9–270:17; Singer Hr’g Tr. 

359:2–18; Vickey Report ¶ 47.   

18. The user base for VR dedicated fitness apps differs from that of VR overall.  

VR users generally skew younger and male, but VR dedicated fitness app users tend to have an 

older and more female set of users.  PX0003, at 17; PX0004, at 167; Rubin Dep. 131:19–132:14; 

PX0127, at 1, 6; Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1035:18–22.  In addition to the diverse appeal of VR 

dedicated fitness apps, they have strong user retention and rapid growth.  Carlton Report ¶¶ 33–35; 

PX0386, at 12.   

 

 

.  PX0003, at 9, 44.   

 

  PX0386, at 12.   

Carlton Report ¶ 67, Table 

10. 

19. Multiple companies that make VR dedicated fitness apps consider their 

products to compete with the extensive range of methods by which an individual can seek to 

exercise.  According to Within, Supernatural “compete[s] with every product or service or offering 

that offers fitness or wellness,” ranging from connected fitness devices like Peloton equipment to 

gyms to YouTube videos intended to be mimicked by a viewer.  Milk Hr’g Tr. 724:15–25.  Within 



 

Case No.: 5:22-cv-04325-EJD 
ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF’S MOT. FOR PRELIM. INJUNCTION 

7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

U
n
it

ed
 S

ta
te

s 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o
u
rt

 

N
o
rt

h
er

n
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

o
f 

C
al

if
o
rn

ia
 

does not, however, consider a VR incidental fitness app to constitute a fitness offering.  Koblin 

Hr’g Tr. 606:5–8.  The founder of VirZoom, another VR company with a dedicated fitness app 

(VZfit), made similar claims, and added that VZfit even “compete[s] with somebody who wants to 

just jump on their bike and go for a bike ride.”  Janszen Hr’g Tr. 1143:8–12; DX1290 (“Janszen 

Decl.”) ¶ 23.  However, Odders Lab, another VR company that makes not only a dedicated fitness 

app but also a rhythm game app and a chess app, stated that its fitness app competed most directly 

with other fitness dedicated apps, such as Supernatural and FitXR, and that the launch of its fitness 

app had not diminished sales of its rhythm game app.  Garcia Hr’g Tr. 1105:18–1106:21. 

20.  

 

 

 

  Apple provides Fitness+, a paid subscription app, and  

 but it does not currently offer its own headset.  

DX1257, at 3, 24–28; Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1022:13–16. 

21. The customers for more established fitness offerings are perceived to be 

more likely to have long-term or well-developed fitness routines, while VR dedicated fitness app 

users are targeted more toward “ ” who have less fitness experience.  PX0051 

(“Cibula Dep.”) 84:20–25; PX0318, at 1; PX0563, at 1; DX1081, at 1–2.  No record evidence 

suggests that these firms possess VR engineering expertise.  PX0118, at 1; Singer Report ¶ 82.  As 

such, these fitness offerings do not create the 360-degree embodiment in a virtual environment 

provided by VR dedicated fitness apps.  See, e.g., Zuckerberg Hr’g Tr. 1298:5–6; Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 

835:24–836:3.  Although some fitness offerings may display videos of various locations around 

the world, those videos are displayed on a flat screen.  Vickey Hr’g Tr. 1184:12–21. 

22. Connected fitness devices are generally stationary and larger than the 

portable and relatively small VR headset equipment required to use a VR dedicated fitness app.  
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See, e.g., Milk Hr’g Tr. 689:17–25.  The upfront device cost can be over $1,000, and users pay a 

monthly subscription fee to access fitness content; for example, Peloton and Tonal are connected 

fitness device companies, and cost, respectively $1,445 plus $44 per month and $3,495 plus $49 

per month.  Singer Report ¶¶ 68–69.  There are also more affordable alternatives outside of VR, 

such as a Peloton mobile app-only subscription, which costs $12.99 per month.  Id. ¶ 65; DX1081, 

at 1–2.  The subscription model is common in the overall fitness industry—in addition to the 

examples above, traditional gyms and Fitness+ charge monthly subscriptions.  PX0001, at 2; 

DX1081, at 1–2; DX1257, at 3, 24–28. 

23. Within’s VR app Supernatural is a dedicated fitness app: it was designed 

specifically for fitness and offers “daily personalized full-body workouts and expert coaching from 

real-world trainers.”  PX0906, at 1.  Within began developing Supernatural in February 2019, and 

launched it in the Quest Store on April 23, 2020.  PX0005, at 77; PX0906, at 1.  Supernatural now 

offers over 800 fully immersive video workouts set to music in various photorealistic landscapes, 

such as the Galapagos Islands and the Great Wall of China.  FAC ¶ 24, ECF No. 101-1; Koblin 

Hr’g Tr. 604:18–605:19; ECF No. 83 ¶ 25; PX0906, at 1; see id. at 3–4, 6, 8.  Through deals with 

major music studios, Supernatural sets each workout to songs from A-list artists like Katy Perry, 

Imagine Dragons, Lady Gaga, and Coldplay.  FAC ¶ 24, ECF No. 101-1.  Within optimized the 

exercise movements in Supernatural through consultations with experts holding PhDs in 

kinesiology and biomechanics; the workouts are led by personal trainers, calibrated to users’ range 

of motion, mapped out in VR by dance choreographers, and filmed at Within’s studio in Los 

Angeles.  PX0712, at 18–20, 27–29.  Within’s founders are experienced directors of interactive 

music videos.  Id. at 3–4.  Supernatural is 

only available to Quest headset users in the United States and Canada.  Milk Hr’g Tr. 671:4–9. 

24. Other VR dedicated fitness apps include FitXR, Les Mills Bodycombat, 

VZfit, VZfit Premium, PowerBeats VR, RealFit, Holofit, Liteboxer, Liteboxer Premium VR, and 

VRWorkout.  Singer Report ¶ 39.  Like Supernatural, Liteboxer Premium VR costs $18.99 per 

month.  Id.  Les Mills Bodycombat, PowerBeatsVR, and RealFit have respective one-time costs of 
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$29.99, $22.99, and $19.99; Liteboxer and VRWorkout are free; and the other VR dedicated 

fitness apps charge monthly subscription prices ranging from about $9 to $12.  Id.  Companies 

producing VR dedicated fitness apps generally pursue business strategies optimized for growth 

and market penetration, .  Milk Hr’g Tr. 736:15–21; Garcia 

Hr’g Tr. 1111:8–1112:14; Janszen Hr’g Tr. 1147:22–1148:1.  These companies expect that high 

growth and penetration metrics will render them attractive acquisition targets.  Id.; Zyda Hr’g Tr. 

1227:18–22, 1228:15–18. 

25. All of these apps, including Supernatural, were launched within the past 

five years.  Carlton Report ¶ 125.  New VR dedicated fitness apps are expected to launch in the 

near future.  Id.  Supernatural currently possesses an 82.4% share of market revenue among the 

existing VR dedicated fitness apps (or a 77.6% share of VR apps in the Quest Store’s “Fitness and 

Wellness” category).  Singer Report ¶ 75, Tables 2-A, 2-B.   

  Singer Rebuttal 

Report ¶¶ 124–25, Tables 1-A, 1-B. 

26. The FTC’s economics expert, Dr. Singer, analyzed the concentration of the 

VR dedicated fitness app market using the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (“HHI”).  Singer Report ¶ 

76.  Dr. Singer performed the HHI calculation multiple times to account for different conceptions 

of the firms contained within the VR dedicated fitness app market.  Id.  Using a set of firms based 

off a list of Supernatural competitors provided by Meta to the FTC, Dr. Singer calculated an HHI 

of 6,917 by measuring each firm’s market share of revenue.  Id. ¶¶ 46, 76, Table 2-A.  Then, to 

capture broader potential set of firms within the VR dedicated fitness app market, Dr. Singer 

analyzed all apps listed in Meta’s Quest Store under its “Fitness & Wellness” category and 

calculated an HHI of 6,148 (again, based on revenue).  Id. ¶¶ 48, 76, Table 2-A.  Dr. Singer also 

calculated HHI using market share of total hours spent and identified outputs 6,307 for the set of 

firms based off Meta’s list and 4,863 for the broader set of “Fitness & Wellness firms.”  Singer 

Rebuttal Report ¶¶ 124–25, Table 1-A.  Lastly, Dr. Singer calculated HHI using market share of 

monthly active users and identified outputs of 3,377 and 2,098 for the two respective sets of firms.  
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Id. ¶¶ 124–25, Table 1-B.  Markets are generally considered “highly concentrated” when the HHI 

is above 2,500 and “moderately concentrated” when the HHI is between 1,500 and 2,500.  Singer 

Report ¶ 76 & n.129. 

D. The Challenged Acquisition  

27. Meta and Zuckerberg first expressed interest in acquiring Within as early as 

February 22, 2021.  PX0170, at 1–2.  

28. After Zuckerberg showed some interest in  

, Michael Verdu (Vice President of VR Content) investigated and 

.  PX0118, at 2, Mar. 4, 2022; Verdu Dep. 

7:22–8:02.    

29. On March 11, 2021, Meta employees met to discuss potential VR fitness 

investments with Mark Rabkin, the head of VR technology at Meta and one of the final decision 

makers to approve any VR investment.  PX0179, at 2; Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 800:7–11; Stojsavljevic 

Hr’g Tr. 189:24–190:12.  In advance of this meeting, Ananda Dass (Meta’s director of non-

gaming VR content) and Jane Chiao (business-side employee) prepared a pre-read document 

analyzing five potential investment options.  PX0127, Mar. 10, 2021; Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 

69:18–24, 138:11–18, 140:23–141:1, 149:16–151:12.  Shortly before this meeting, on March 4, 

2021, Jane Chiao had also prepared a document titled,  

 

.  PX0492, at 7, Mar. 9, 2021.  During the meeting, the 

attendees decided  

.  PX0179.   

30. On March 17, 2021, Dass and Chiao summarized the advantages and 

disadvantages of acquiring Supernatural .  At this time, they proposed spending the next 

few months inquiring into  

 

.  PX0284, Mar. 17, 2021. 



 

Case No.: 5:22-cv-04325-EJD 
ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF’S MOT. FOR PRELIM. INJUNCTION 

11 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

U
n
it

ed
 S

ta
te

s 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o
u
rt

 

N
o
rt

h
er

n
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

o
f 

C
al

if
o
rn

ia
 

31. On April 20, 2021, Melissa Brown (Head of Developer Relations) prepared 

an executive summary pre-read in advance of Meta’s meeting with Within, which was circulated 

to Verdu and Dass.  The executive summary contains  

 

  PX0565, Apr. 20, 2021.   

32. On April 26, 2021, Brown circulated a  

 

 

  PX0253, Apr. 26, 2021.  

33. On May 26, 2021, Anand Dass  

  DX1012, at 1, 3, May 26, 2021.   

  Id.; see also PX0123, at 2.   

 

  PX0117, June 10, 2021. 

34. Frank Casanova (Apple’s senior director of augmented reality product 

marketing) testified that Apple   

.  

Casanova’s personal recollection was that  

.  DX1219 (“Casanova Dep.”) 90:20–93:15.  

35. In mid-July 2021, Meta and Within entered into a non-binding term sheet 

regarding a potential acquisition.  PX0062 (“Milk Dep.”) 129:2–14; Milk Hr’g Tr. 720:12–15.  

Meta and Within executed the Merger Agreement on October 22, 2021.  DX1072, Oct. 22, 2021. 

E. Beat Saber Expansion Proposal 

36. Beat Saber is a VR rhythm game in which players use virtual swords to 

slash oncoming blocks timed to music.  FAC ¶ 30; Meta’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses ¶ 33.  

Beat Saber is the most popular and best-selling VR app of all time.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 82:23–

83:8; Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 820:9–11. 
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37. Meta acquired Beat Games, the studio that produces Beat Saber, in late 

2019.  Meta’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses ¶ 4.   

38. At the time it acquired Beat Games, Meta viewed Beat Saber as a potential 

“vector into fitness as a game-adjacent use case.”  PX0342, at 2, Sept. 27, 2019.  There was a 

continuing internal dialogue at Meta regarding a potential fitness version of Beat Saber, which was 

referred to as the “perpetual white whale quest to get . . . Beat Games to build a fitness version of 

Beat Saber.”  Verdu Dep. 112:04–112:12, 178:12–20.  The founders of Beat Games were “warm 

to the idea” and released a “FitBeat” song for Beat Saber, but the idea otherwise did not gain 

traction.  Verdu Dep. 178:12–20; see also PX0123  

 Sept. 15, 2021.  

39. On February 16, 2021, Rade Stojsavljevic (director of Meta’s first party 

studios) was riding his Peloton bike on a workout with a live DJ spinning music when he came up 

with the idea of a Peloton partnership with Beat Saber.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 127:20–128:24.   

40. Shortly thereafter, Stojsavljevic collaborated on a presentation called 

“Operation Twinkie,” in which he proposed repositioning Beat Saber as a fitness app in a 

partnership with Peloton.  The same presentation recommended  

  PX0527, at 5, 8.   

41. On March 4, 2021, Chiao responded to comments regarding partnering with 

Peloton to create VR content,  

  PX0251, at 2–3, Mar. 4, 2021.   

42. On March 11, 2021, Stojsavljevic attended the VR fitness investment 

meeting with Mark Rabkin.  PX0179, at 2; see also supra ¶ 31.  Alongside the acquisitions of 

 Supernatural, the March 11 meeting concluded that Stojsavljevic was to prepare a 

presentation to Rabkin to expand Beat Saber to dedicated fitness.  PX0179, at 2. 

43. On March 15, 2021, Stojsavljevic queried a group chat and solicited 

feedback on his proposal for a Beat Saber–Peloton partnership.  PX0407, at 1, Mar. 15, 2021.  The 

group members discussed different forms the partnership could take.  Id.  
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44. On March 25, 2021, Stojsavljevic received a presentation from a consultant, 

, titled “Beat Saber x Peloton Opportunity Identification.”  PX0121, at 2.  The 

presentation provided a quote for  to investigate the Beat Saber and Peloton opportunity, 

which was to take about 8 weeks and cost $23,500.  Id. at 8.  ’s proposed research approach 

included nine action items, as follows: (1) analyze the home fitness market; (2) analyze the 

Peloton market; (3) assess the Peloton bike capabilities; (4) analyze the current XR1 fitness 

market; (5) analyze Beat Saber’s current strategy and its Fitbeat song; (6) identify Beat Saber x 

Peloton opportunities; (7) identify XR fitness opportunities; (8) define the go-to-market approach; 

and (9) define how to approach Peloton with the partnership.  Id. at 5–6.  Stojsavljevic ultimately 

did not engage  to undertake this research project.  PX0052 (“Stojsavljevic Dep.”) 219:23–

220:1. 

45. Based on the parties’ representations and to the best of the Court’s review 

of the evidence, the next reference to the Beat Saber–Peloton proposal was on June 11, 2021, after 

Meta began pursuing Within as an acquisition target.  PX0341, at 2, June 11, 2021.  In a chat, 

Stojsavljevic briefly mentioned that Chiao and Dass had disagreed with his Beat Saber–Peloton 

proposal and had wanted to .  Id.  At the evidentiary hearing, 

Stojsavljevic testified that his enthusiasm for the Beat Saber–Peloton proposal had “slowed down” 

before Meta’s decision to acquire Within.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 165:12–17.  He also testified that 

he had not undertaken the research project that he had promised Rabkin because he had been busy 

working on another Meta acquisition.  Id.; see also supra ¶ 44.  

46. On September 15, 2021,  

 Jason Rubin—who had just transitioned into his role as the vice president of Metaverse 

content on August 1, 2021—made comments about Beat Saber in response to  

PX0123, at 2, Sept. 15, 2021; see also Rubin Dep. 28:8–15.  Rubin suggested that 

  PX0123, at 2.  He 

 
1 The Court understands “XR” to refer generally to virtual reality, augmented reality, and mixed 
reality. 
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subsequently remarked that  

  Id.  

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY  

Defendants signed an Agreement and Plan of Merger for a proposed acquisition of Within 

by Meta (the “Acquisition”) on October 22, 2021.  ECF No. 101-1 (“FAC”) ¶ 24; PX0004, at 161.  

On July 27, 2022, the FTC filed a complaint for a temporary restraining order and preliminary 

injunction enjoining the Acquisition.  See Compl., ECF No. 1.  At the time of the FTC’s filing, 

Defendants would have been free to consummate the Acquisition after July 31, 2022.  Id. ¶ 27.  

On July 29, 2022, the Court granted the parties’ stipulated order preventing Defendants from 

consummating the Acquisition until after August 6, 2022.  ECF No. 19.  On August 5, 2022, the 

Court granted the parties’ second stipulated order and entered a temporary restraining order 

enjoining the Acquisition until after December 31, 2022.  ECF No. 56.  The FTC filed its amended 

complaint on October 7, 2022, see FAC, and Defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint 

on October 13, 2022, ECF No. 108 (“MTD”).  The Court took the MTD under submission without 

oral argument on December 2, 2022.  ECF No. 388.   

On October 31, 2022, pursuant to the parties’ stipulated order, the FTC filed its 

memorandum in support of its motion for a preliminary injunction (the “Motion”).  ECF Nos. 86, 

164.  The evidentiary hearing on the Motion began on December 8, 2022.  See ECF No. 441.  

Following the in-Court testimony of the FTC’s economics expert, Dr. Hal J. Singer, on December 

13, 2022, Defendants orally moved the Court to strike Dr. Singer’s testimony.  See ECF No. 464.  

Defendants subsequently filed a motion to strike Dr. Singer’s opinion regarding the definition of 

the relevant product market.  ECF No. 470.  The evidentiary hearing concluded on December 20, 

2022, see ECF No. 492, and the Court granted the parties’ stipulated order extending the 

temporary restraining order to enjoin the Acquisition until January 31, 2023, ECF No. 508. 

On January 31, 2023, the FTC filed an emergency motion requesting an extension of the 

temporary restraining order if the Court either was not prepared to rule on the Motion until after 

that date or denied the Motion.  ECF No. 543 (“Emergency Motion”).  The Court’s ruling on the 
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Emergency Motion will be filed in a separate order. 

The Court now rules on the Motion, the MTD, and the motion to strike Dr. Singer’s 

opinion on the relevant product market definition.  See ECF Nos. 108, 164, 470. 

III. LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

A. Legal Standard 

Section 13(b) of the FTC Act provides that “[u]pon a proper showing that, weighing the 

equities and considering the Commission’s likelihood of ultimate success, such action would be in 

the public interest, and after notice to the defendant, a temporary restraining order or a preliminary 

injunction may be granted without bond.”  15 U.S.C. § 53(b)(2).  In evaluating a motion for 

preliminary injunction brought under Section 13(b), courts must “1) determine the likelihood that 

the Commission will ultimately succeed on the merits and 2) balance the equities.”  F.T.C. v. 

Warner Commc’ns Inc., 742 F.2d 1156, 1160 (9th Cir. 1984) (emphasis added) (citing F.T.C. v. 

Simeon Mgmt. Corp., 532 F.2d 708, 713–14 (9th Cir. 1976)). 

The federal court is not tasked with “mak[ing] a final determination on whether the 

proposed merger violates Section 7, but rather [with making] only a preliminary assessment of the 

merger’s impact on competition.”  Warner Commc’ns Inc., 742 F.2d at 1162.  To obtain a 

preliminary injunction, the FTC must “raise questions going to the merits so serious, substantial, 

difficult and doubtful as to make them fair ground for thorough investigation, study, deliberation 

and determination by the FTC in the first instance and ultimately by the Court of Appeals.”  Id. 

(citations omitted); see also FTC v. Whole Foods Market, Inc., 548 F.3d 1028, 1035 (D.C. Cir. 

2008) (“the FTC [must] ‘raise questions going to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult[,] and 

doubtful as to make them fair ground for thorough investigation.’”).  Although a district court may 

not “require the FTC to prove the merits, . . . it must ‘exercise independent judgment’ about the 

questions § 53(b) commits to it.”  Whole Foods Market, Inc., 548 F.3d at 1035 (citations omitted).  

The FTC is therefore required to provide more than mere questions or speculations supporting its 

likelihood of success on the merits, and the district court must decide the motion based on “all the 

evidence before it, from the defendants as well as from the FTC.”  Id. (citations omitted); see 
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United States v. Siemens Corp., 621 F.2d 499, 506 (2d Cir. 1980) (noting that “the Government 

must do far more than merely raise sufficiently serious questions with respect to the merits” in 

demonstrating a “reasonable probability” of a Section 7 violation.). 

B. Relevant Market Definition 

The first step in analyzing a merger challenge under Section 7 of the Clayton Act is to 

determine the relevant market.  U.S. v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc., 418 U.S. 602, 619 (1974) 

(citing E.I. Du Pont, 353 U.S. 586, 593 (1957)); see FTC v. Qualcomm Inc., 969 F.3d 974, 992 

(9th Cir. 2020) (“A threshold step in any antitrust case is to accurately define the relevant market, 

which refers to ‘the area of effective competition.’”).  The relevant market for antitrust purposes is 

determined by (1) the relevant product market and (2) the relevant geographic market.  Brown 

Shoe Co. v. U.S., 370 U.S. 294, 324 (1962). 

1. Product Market 

“The outer boundaries of a product market are determined by the reasonable 

interchangeability of use or the cross-elasticity of demand between the product itself and 

substitutes for it.”  Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325.  “Within a general product market, ‘well-defined 

submarkets may exist which, in themselves, constitute product markets for antitrust purposes.’”  

Hicks v. PGA Tour, Inc., 897 F.3d 1109, 1121 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoting Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 

325); see also Newcal Indus., Inc. v. Ikon Office Sol’n, 513 F.3d 1038, 1045 (9th Cir. 2008) 

(“[A]lthough the general market must include all economic substitutes, it is legally permissible to 

premise antitrust allegations on a submarket.”).  The definition of the relevant market is “basically 

a fact question dependent upon the special characteristics of the industry involved.”  Twin City 

Sportservice, Inc. v. Charles O. Finley & Co., Inc., 676 F.2d 1291, 1299 (9th Cir. 1982).  Products 

need not be fungible to be included in a relevant market, but a relevant market “cannot 

meaningfully encompass th[e] infinite range” of substitutes for a product.  Id. at 1271 (quoting 

Times Picayune Publishing Co. v. United States, 345 U.S. 594, 611, 612 n. 31, (1953)).  The 

overarching goal of market definition is to “recognize competition where, in fact, competition 

exists.”  Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 326; see also U.S. v. Continental Can Co., 378 U.S. 441, 449 
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(1964) (“In defining the product market between these terminal extremes [of fungibility and 

infinite substitution], we must recognize meaningful competition where it is found to exist.”); FTC 

v. Whole Foods Market, Inc., 548 F.3d 1028, 1039 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (“As always in defining a 

market, we must ‘take into account the realities of competition.’”) (citations omitted). 

Courts have used both qualitative and quantitative tools to aid their determinations of 

relevant markets.  A qualitative analysis of the relevant antitrust market, including submarkets, 

involves “examining such practical indicia as industry or public recognition of the submarket as a 

separate economic entity, the product's peculiar characteristics and uses, unique production 

facilities, distinct customers, distinct prices, sensitivity to price changes, and specialized vendors.”  

Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; see also, e.g., Klein v. Facebook, Inc., 580 F. Supp. 3d 743, 766–68 

(N.D. Cal. 2022) (applying Brown Shoe factors).  A common quantitative metric used by parties 

and courts to determine relevant markets is the Hypothetical Monopolist Test (“HMT”), as 

described in the U.S. Department of Justice and the FTC’s 2010 Merger Guidelines.  U.S. Dep’t of 

Justice & FTC, Horizontal Merger Guidelines (“2010 Merger Guidelines”) § 4 (2010); see also, 

e.g., U.S. v. H & R Block, Inc., 833 F. Supp. 2d 36, 51 (D.D.C. 2011) (“An analytical method 

often used by courts to define a relevant market is to ask hypothetically whether it would be 

profitable to have a monopoly over a given set of substitutable products.  If so, those products may 

constitute a relevant market.”). 

There is “no requirement to use any specific methodology in defining the relevant market.”  

Optronic Techs., Inc. v. Ningbo Sunny Elec. Co., Ltd., 20 F.4th 466, 482 (9th Cir. 2021).  As such, 

courts have determined relevant antitrust markets using, for example, only the Brown Shoe factors, 

or a combination of the Brown Shoe factors and the HMT.  See, e.g., Lucas Auto. Eng., Inc. v. 

Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc., 275 F.3d 762, 766–68 (9th Cir. 2001) (relying on Brown Shoe factors 

alone in review of district court’s determination of relevant market); United States v. Aetna Inc., 

240 F. Supp. 3d 1, 20–21 (D.D.C. 2017) (using HMT and Brown Shoe factors to analyze relevant 

market).  The Ninth Circuit has “repeatedly noted that the Brown Shoe indicia are practical aids 

for identifying the areas of actual or potential competition and that their presence or absence does 
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not decide automatically the submarket issue.”  Thurman Indus., Inc. v. Pay ‘N Pak Stores, Inc., 

875 F.2d 1369, 1375 (9th Cir. 1989) (citations omitted).  The suitability of a submarket as a 

relevant antitrust market “turns ultimately upon whether the factors used to define the submarket 

are ‘economically significant.’”  Id.   

The FTC proposes a relevant product market consisting of VR dedicated fitness apps, 

meaning VR apps “designed so users can exercise through a structured physical workout in a 

virtual setting.”  Mot. 13.  According to the FTC, VR dedicated fitness apps are distinct from (1) 

other VR apps and (2) other fitness offerings.  Id. 14.  To differentiate their proposed market from 

other VR app markets, the FTC claims that VR dedicated fitness apps have distinct customers and 

pricing strategies.  Id.  The FTC further argues that VR dedicated fitness apps are in a separate 

market from other fitness offerings (e.g., gyms, at-home fitness equipment) because they provide 

users with “fully immersive, 360-degree environments,” are fully portable, save space, cost less, 

and target a different type of consumer.  Id. 14–15.  The FTC claims that these qualitative product 

differences satisfy the Brown Shoe practical indicia of a relevant market, and that the Hypothetical 

Monopolist Test conducted by the FTC’s economics expert further confirms the relevant product 

market definition.  Id. 15. 

Unsurprisingly, Defendants disagree.  They claim that the FTC’s proposed market is 

impermissibly narrow because it excludes “scores of products, services, and apps” that are 

“reasonably interchangeable” with VR dedicated fitness apps, including dozens of VR apps 

categorized as “fitness” apps on the Quest platform, fitness apps on gaming consoles and other VR 

platforms, and non-VR connected fitness products and services.  Opp. 8, ECF No. 216.  

Defendants argue that members of the FTC’s proposed market subjectively consider other VR 

apps and other fitness offerings to be competing products, and that several such products also 

possess the very features—portability, immersion, and pricing models—that the FTC highlights as 

distinguishing or unique to its proposed market.  Id. 8–10.  Defendants also contend that Dr. 

Singer’s HMT analysis is fatally flawed due to methodological errors in the survey underlying the 

test.  Id. 11. 
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In this case, the Court finds the FTC has made a sufficient evidentiary showing that there 

exists a well-defined relevant product market consisting of VR dedicated fitness apps. 

a. Brown Shoe Analysis 

The Court first examines in turn each of the Brown Shoe factors, i.e., “practical indicia 

[such] as industry or public recognition of the submarket as a separate economic entity, the 

product's peculiar characteristics and uses, unique production facilities, distinct customers, distinct 

prices, sensitivity to price changes, and specialized vendors.”  370 U.S. at 325. 

i. Industry or Public Recognition 

The evidence indicates that Defendants and other VR dedicated fitness app makers viewed 

VR dedicated fitness apps as an economic submarket of VR apps.  For example,  

 

  PX0003, at 44.   

 

  Id. at 9.  Within’s contemporaneous view of untapped market segments 

indicates that a “fitness first” app paired with a VR headset—i.e., a VR dedicated fitness app—

would be in a distinct segment of the overall VR market.  See id. at 31.  Likewise, as explained in 

greater detail in the sections below, Meta repeatedly stated that VR dedicated fitness apps 

constituted a distinct market opportunity within the VR ecosystem due to their unique uses, 

distinct customers, and distinct prices.  See infra Sections III.B.1.a.ii., iv., v.  And a representative 

the VR app company Odders Lab testified that the launch of its VR dedicated fitness app did not 

diminish sales of its VR rhythm app, acknowledging that its VR fitness app “compete[d] more 

directly with fitness dedicated applications than gaming applications.”  Garcia Hr’g Tr. 1105:18–

1106:21.  Industry companies’ internal communications showing frequent distinctions between 

various categories of applications is “strong[] support” of a distinct submarket.  Klein, 580 F. 

Supp. 3d at 758.   

Participants in the broader fitness industry also recognized VR fitness as a “separate 

economic entity.”   
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See United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 53 

(D.C. Cir. 2001) (rejecting inclusion of middleware products in the relevant market where 

middleware was a potential, rather than current, competitor). 

Defendants claim that members of the VR dedicated fitness app industry understood the 

market in which they operated to consist of “[s]cores of products, services, and apps available to 

consumers who want to exercise.”  Opp. 8; Milk Hr’g Tr. 724:15–25 (“  

 

 

 

); id. 779:7–8 (“We have thousands of competitors.”); see also Janszen Hr’g Tr. 1143:8–

12 (VR dedicated fitness app VirZoom “compete[s] with somebody who wants to just jump on 

their bike and go for a bike ride”).  Defendants also contend that “[e]stablished fitness and 

technology firms . . . view VR fitness as competitive with off-VR products,” and point as an 
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example to Apple’s inclusion of Supernatural and the Peloton Guide in the “competitive 

landscape” when it  

.2  Opp. 9; DX1257, at 3, 24–28.  

Defendants’ evidence shows that there is a broad fitness market that includes everything 

from VR apps to bicycles.  This in no way precludes the existence of a submarket constituting a 

relevant product market for antitrust purposes.  Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; Newcal Indus., 513 

F.3d at 1045.  As the Ninth Circuit has noted, a relevant antitrust market “cannot meaningfully 

encompass th[e] infinite range” of substitutes for a product—yet this is exactly how Defendants 

propose to define the market.  Twin City Sportservice, Inc. v. Charles O’Finley & Co., Inc., 512 

F.2d 1264, 1271 (9th Cir. 1975).  The Court therefore acknowledges that VR dedicated fitness 

apps compete for consumers with every manner of exercise (including gyms, bike rides, and 

connected fitness), but finds that Defendants and the broader fitness industry recognized VR 

dedicated fitness apps as an economically distinct submarket.   

ii. Peculiar Characteristics and Uses 

The evidence indicates that VR dedicated fitness apps have several “peculiar 

characteristics and uses” in comparison to both other VR apps and non-VR fitness offerings.  

Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325.  Even assuming “[a]lmost all VR applications require body 

movement,” Pruett Hr’g Tr. 264:16, VR dedicated fitness apps are “specifically marketed to 

customers for the purpose of exercise,” id. 263:6–18.  To support that marketing, VR dedicated 

fitness apps (unlike other VR apps) are often characterized by their fitness-specific features, such 

as trainer-led workout regimens, calorie tracking, and the ability to set and track progress toward 

fitness goals.  See, e.g., id. 263:14–23; Paynter Dep.  24:2–12 (“what [Meta] used to call 

[dedicated] fitness apps now correspond to a category . . . call[ed] . . . trainer workout apps”); 

PX0487, at 4 (VR dedicated fitness apps are “[d]esigned to allow a player to deliberately set and 

attain fitness goals, with fitness-specific features i.e. coaching, trackable progress”); PX0001, at 5 

 
2 Apple does not currently offer a VR headset.  See, e.g., Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1022:13–16. 
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n.10 (“Meta draws a distinction between apps designed to allow users to set and attain fitness 

goals, with features like coaching and trackable progress (called ‘deliberate’ or ‘dedicated’ fitness 

apps) and games whose primary focus is not fitness that allow users to get a workout as a 

byproduct (sometimes called ‘incidental’ or ‘accidental’ fitness apps).”). 

The most “peculiar characteristic” of VR dedicated fitness apps in comparison to non-VR 

fitness offerings is, of course, the VR technology itself.  A VR user is “embodied” in a virtual 

environment.  Zuckerberg Hr’g Tr. 1298:5–6.  She is “teleported to a different place, feeling like 

when you move your head and look around, you’re in a new space and seeing virtual things as if 

they are real, which is virtual reality.”  Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 835:24–836:3.  Defendants’ fitness 

industry expert, Dr. Vickey, submitted that non-VR fitness options could also be immersive, 

describing the non-VR Hydrow rowing machine as an “immersive exercise piece of equipment” 

because the Hydrow displayed video footage of various locations on a touchscreen the user viewed 

while rowing.3  Vickey Hr’g Tr. 1184:12–21.  The Court finds that no matter how crisp or 

accurate a video may be, a two-dimensional screen display is inherently far less immersive than a 

360-degree environment.  The evidence does not suggest—and the Court is not aware of—any 

other at-home fitness offering that can transport the user in this way.  That a user of a VR 

dedicated fitness app can exercise in a VR setting is, therefore, a “distinct core functionality” 

indicative of a submarket.  Klein, 580 F. Supp. 3d at 767 (quoting Datel Holdings, Ltd. v. 

Microsoft Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 974, 997 (N.D. Cal. 2010)). 

The FTC puts forth other hallmarks of VR dedicated fitness apps that generally differ from 

characteristics of non-VR fitness offerings.  For example, the FTC argues that “VR headsets are 

fully portable and take up little space.”  Mot. 14.  These appear to be distinguishing features in 

relation to bulky connected fitness devices, such as the Peloton Bike or Hydrow rowing machine, 

but Defendants persuasively argue that mobile fitness apps can offer these same functionalities.4  

 
3 Dr. Vickey later testified that he had not used a Hydrow, and that he “would have” evaluated the 
machine by reviewing the company’s website and watching its videos.  Vickey Hr’g Tr. 1202:8–
18. 
4 The Court is not persuaded by Defendants’ argument that the Peloton Guide is similarly portable 
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Opp. 10.  Nonetheless, the virtual reality fitness experience created by VR dedicated fitness apps 

appears to be vastly different from a workout conducted on a large and stationary device or based 

off a mobile phone screen. 

With respect to “peculiar . . . uses,” Defendants have shown that consumers use non-VR 

fitness offerings for exercise.  See supra Section III.B.1.a.i.  Defendants have additionally shown 

that consumers may use other VR apps for fitness.  See, e.g., Carmack Hr’g Tr. 562:12–18 (“You 

can work up a pretty good sweat in Beat Saber.”); PX0529, at 2 (“UXR reports that many users 

have fitness intent among these [incidental fitness] apps”).  As explained above, the existence of a 

broader fitness market does not mean a relevant submarket does not exist.  Supra Section 

III.B.1.a.i.  Defendants have themselves recognized the characteristics that distinguish VR 

dedicated fitness apps from other VR apps.  E.g., PX0001, at 5 n.10 (“Meta draws a distinction 

between apps designed to allow users to set and attain fitness goals, with features like coaching 

and trackable progress (called ‘deliberate’ or ‘dedicated’ fitness apps) and games whose primary 

focus is not fitness that allow users to get a workout as a byproduct (sometimes called ‘incidental’ 

or ‘accidental’ fitness apps).”); Milk Hr’g Tr. 683:8–21 (Supernatural, unlike Beat Saber, 

“employed experts in movement and fitness[;] built companion apps for the phones and for heart 

rate tracking integration[; and] calibrate[d to a] range of motion so that [it would not] injury 

anybody.”); see also Koblin Hr’g Tr. 606:5–8 (“VR games that require some incidental physical 

exertion” are not a fitness offering).  The Court therefore finds that the “peculiar characteristics 

and uses” factor of the Brown Shoe analysis supports the finding that VR dedicated fitness apps 

constitute a relevant antitrust product market.  See, e.g., SC Innovations, Inc. v. Uber Techs., Inc., 

434 F. Supp. 3d 782, 792 (N.D. Cal. 2020) (finding plaintiffs alleged a submarket for ride-sharing 

services excluding taxis, in part due to distinguishing features such as ability to rate and review 

 

to a VR headset.  See Opp. 10.   

Vickey Report ¶ 43 (“[T]he Peloton Guide uses augmented 
reality features to track the user’s motions and a camera to position the user visually near an on-
screen instructor.”). 
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drivers and share rides). 

iii. Unique Production Facilities 

The parties did not explicitly develop arguments regarding unique production facilities in 

support of their positions regarding the relevant product market.  See Mot. 13–16; Opp. 7–11.  The 

Court notes, however, that VR dedicated fitness apps require a unique combination of production 

inputs.   

 

  See Singer Report ¶ 82 (“[T]he talent needed to 

create true triple-A VR experiences is going to be scarce and really valuable in a few years.”) 

(citing PX0118, at 1); Pruett Hr’g Tr. 286:6–8 (“I have an engineering team . . . [who] are a group 

of veteran engineers who are particular experts in our VR technology and our hardware.”).  

Similarly, most VR companies are unlikely to have the fitness expertise and equipment necessary 

to create content for VR dedicated fitness apps.  See Singer Report ¶ 84 (“  

 

”) (citing 

PX0251, at 2–3).  Koblin Hr’g Tr. 650:3–12 (“[I]t seemed highly unlikely to me that [Meta] would 

get into virtual reality fitness . . . honestly at that level of depth, it just seemed extremely unlikely 

that they would hire coaches and build a green screen studio and dive deep into the psychology of 

what makes fitness fitness.”); Garcia Hr’g Tr. 1079:16–24 (“[One of the things that we have done 

in Odders Lab whenever developing any of our apps has always been looking into – – been 

looking at the experts. . . . And for our fitness app, we also started reaching out to local experts.”). 

Although relevant markets are generally defined by demand-side substitutability, supply-

side substitution also informs whether alternative products may be counted in the relevant market.    

Twin City Sportservice, Inc., 512 F.2d at 1271 (“While the majority of the decided cases in which 

the rule of reasonable interchangeability is employed deal with the ‘use’ side of the market, the 

courts have not been unaware of the importance of substitutability on the ‘production’ side as 

well.”); see also Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325 n.42 (“The cross-elasticity of production facilities 
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may also be an important factor in defining a product market.”); Julian von Kalinowski et al., 

2 Antitrust Laws & Trade Regulation § 24.02[1][c], at 24–55 (2d ed. 2012) (“Another important 

factor in defining a product market is the ability of existing companies to alter their facilities to 

produce the defendant's product. . . . The Supreme Court has long recognized the significance of 

this factor, often referred to as cross-elasticity of supply.”) (footnote omitted); 2010 Merger 

Guidelines, § 5.1 & n.8 (high supply side substitutability may be used to aggregate products into a 

market description). 

Supply-side substitution focuses on suppliers’ “responsiveness to price increases and their 

ability to constrain anticompetitive pricing by readily shifting what they produce.”  RAG-Stiftung, 

436 F. Supp. 3d at 293 (citing Rebel Oil Co. v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 51 F.3d 1421, 1436 (9th Cir. 

1995) (“reasonable market definition must also be based on ‘supply elasticity’”), cert. denied, 516 

U.S. 987 (1995)).  Here, as explained above, the evidence indicates that neither general fitness 

firms nor general VR firms have the production facilities to readily produce a substitute VR 

dedicated fitness app product, even if VR dedicated fitness apps were to raise prices and make 

market entry more attractive.  See also Singer Report, Section F (“Would-Be Suppliers of VR 

Dedicated Fitness Apps Face Significant Barriers to Entry”).  That existing companies are not 

easily able to alter their facilities to produce VR dedicated fitness apps is additional evidence that 

such apps constitute a distinct product market.5       

iv. Distinct Customers 

The FTC proffered evidence showing that users of VR dedicated fitness apps differ from 

those of other VR apps along multiple axes.  Internal evaluations by Meta and Within found that 

although overall users of VR apps skewed younger and male, users of VR dedicated fitness apps 

tended to have an older and more female user base.  For example, Meta claimed in its response to 

the FTC’s Second Request regarding the Meta-Within transaction that the overall Quest user base 

 
5 This supply-side analysis of whether other firms would be able to switch production to VR 
dedicated fitness apps is independent of the demand-side inquiry (and main focus of the market 
definition analysis) of whether users would switch consumption to other products in the event of a 
price increase in VR dedicated fitness apps. 
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was about   See PX0004, at 167, May 2, 2022.  VR fitness 

apps, on the other hand, drew far more women.  Id.  

; PX0003, at 17 Apr. 23, 

2021; PX0127, at 1  

 Mar. 10, 2021.  Meta expected that VR dedicated fitness apps would 

expand the reach of virtual reality to new customer segments.  To that end, Meta’s Vice President 

of Metaverse Content informed the company’s board of directors that “Supernatural, FitXR, and . . 

. other fitness applications, . . . unlike our gaming population . . . had tended to be more successful 

with on average an older person, on average more women.  It was a very different demographic, 

and . . . we had always been in search of expanding VR beyond gaming into more of a general 

computing platform.”  PX0066 (“Rubin Dep.”) 131:19–132:14; see also PX0127, at 6 (“[g]rowing 

[dedicated] fitness will broaden and diversify our user base, and bring on a disproportionate % of 

women). 

Defendants acknowledge that VR fitness appeals to different user demographics than other 

VR apps.  Opp. 5 (“Fitness is one such use case that can expand VR’s audience beyond gamers 

(who tend to be younger males) to a broader population (including older and female users).”); see 

also Bosworth Hr’g Tr. 1035:18–22 (Meta perceived that “users of VR fitness apps represent[ed] a 

distinct category of customer compared to overall users of other VR apps on its platform”).  

Defendants do, however, dispute that VR dedicated fitness apps have a customer base that is 

distinct from that of non-VR fitness offerings.  Opp. 9 n.1.  The evidence indicates that VR 

dedicated fitness apps are targeted more toward “ ” who have less fitness 

experience and more difficulty finding motivating fitness products (rather than to individuals who 

have long-term or well-developed fitness routines.)  As stated by Within’s executive vice president 

of business development and finance, it was “Within’s understanding that Supernatural appeals to 

 in a way that other existing fitness products do not.”  PX0051 (“Cibula Dep.”) 

84:20–25.  Within insiders also compared Supernatural to  
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  DX1081, at 1–2, Apr. 13, 2020.  And in summer 2021—when Meta was in 

negotiations regarding the acquisition of Supernatural—a Meta employee described Within’s 

business model as “encouraging users who don’t think about fitness much as well as users with a 

light routine, not the fitness buff who is better served by the likes of Peloton cycling or Crossfit 

classes.”  PX0318, at 1, June 22, 2021;  

 

 

  The Court finds the VR dedicated fitness apps have 

a customer base that is distinct from those of both other VR apps and several other fitness 

offerings—   See, e.g., FTC v. 

Sysco Corp., 113 F. Supp. 3d 1, 29–30 (D.D.C. 2015) (finding relevant product market in part 

based on erstwhile competitors’ inability to serve certain types of customers). 

v. Distinct Prices 

The pricing of VR dedicated fitness apps likewise differs in at least one key respect from 

other VR apps and non-VR fitness offerings.  The main difference in comparison to the former 

category is that VR dedicated fitness apps are more likely to have a subscription-based pricing 

model.  As one of Within’s founders testified, Within’s daily release of new workout content 

requires ongoing revenue, which is supported by a subscription membership.  Milk Hr’g Tr. 

671:10–19.  Likewise, Meta’s Director of Content Ecosystem testified that “subscriptions are 

particularly good monetization strategies for [fitness] applications” because “fitness applications 

need to produce content on an ongoing basis . . . in order to not get boring.”  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 

269:9–23.  However, subscription pricing does not provide a clear basis for delineating between 

VR dedicated fitness apps and other VR apps.  Some VR dedicated fitness apps do not charge 

subscription fees, Vickey Report ¶ 47, and other VR apps may also be a good fit for subscription 

pricing, see Pruett Hr’g Tr. 268:22–269:4 (the “fitness, productivity, and social genres . . . all seem 

to be trending towards subscriptions as a default monetization method”).  Nonetheless, the 

evidence indicates that “the majority of the video game applications on the Quest platform are not 
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a good fit for subscriptions” including because “most of them don’t have [an] ongoing content 

pipeline.”  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 270:12–17. 

Many fitness offerings, whether virtual or physical, use subscription models.  As Meta 

noted in its June 2022 white paper to the FTC, Supernatural’s “monthly subscription model . . . is 

similar in structure to other connected fitness solutions included specialized equipment solutions 

(e.g., Peloton, Mirror, Tonal), paid apps (e.g., Apple Fitness+), and other VR fitness apps (e.g., 

FitXR, Holofit, VZfit), as well as in-person gym memberships (e.g., Equinox, CrossFit, 24 Hour 

Fitness).”  PX0001, at 2; see also DX1081, at 1–2 (listing subscription prices for “leading fitness 

offering[s]”).  The FTC argues that despite sharing a subscription pricing model, VR dedicated 

fitness apps tend to be “far less expensive” than “other at-home smart fitness devices.”  Mot. 14.  

The evidence supports this assertion with respect to several connected fitness devices—

Supernatural, the most expensive VR dedicated fitness app,6 costs $399 plus $18.99 per month, 

while Peloton costs $1,445 plus $44 per month and Tonal costs $3,495 plus $49 per month.  

Singer Report ¶¶ 68–69.  There are, however, digital fitness options—generally mobile phone 

apps—with subscriptions “in the sort of $8 to $12 range.”  Milk Hr’g Tr. 732:22–733:1; see also 

DX1081, at 1–2 (noting $12.99 Peloton app-only monthly subscription); Singer Report ¶ 65 

(same). 

The Court finds that the VR app and non-VR pricing evidence tilts slightly in favor of the 

existence of a VR dedicated fitness app market.  See, e.g., FTC v. Tronox Ltd., 332 F. Supp. 3d 

187, 200–01 (D.D.C. 2018) (“The existence of distinct prices . . . are ‘not what one would expect 

if North American customers were willing and able to substitute one type of titanium dioxide for 

another in response to a change in their relative prices.’”) (citations omitted).  Testimony from 

both Within and Meta indicate a practical reason for VR fitness apps to be generally best served 

 
6 Some VR dedicated fitness apps charge a one-time price over $18.99, and another VR dedicated 

fitness app has a free version as well as a premium version priced equally to Supernatural at 

$18.99 per month.  All other VR dedicated fitness apps charge subscriptions lower than $18.99 per 

month, and one is free.  Singer Report ¶ 39. 
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by a subscription pricing model, which is in line with broader non-VR fitness offerings.  And VR 

dedicated fitness apps are much more affordable than the non-VR fitness products that come 

closest to offering the level of immersion available in VR.  See Vickey Hr’g Tr. 1184:12–21 

(opining that touchscreen on Hydrow rowing machine provides immersive experience). However, 

in light of the evidence that there exist both other VR apps that can strategically employ a 

subscription model and non-VR fitness offerings that are comparably priced to VR fitness apps, 

the overall weight of this factor is lessened. 

vi. Sensitivity to Price Changes 

The sixth Brown Shoe factor evaluates the change in sales of a possible substitute product 

given a change in the price of products within the relevant market.  Because this is in essence the 

same question posed by the HMT, see FTC v. Staples, 970 F. Supp. 1066, 1075 (D.D.C. 1997), the 

Court will not duplicate its analysis here.  Drawing from that analysis, see infra, Section III.B.1.b., 

the Court finds this factor to be neutral as to the existence of a VR dedicated fitness app market. 

vii. Specialized Vendors 

The final Brown Shoe factor considers whether a product’s distribution requires vendors 

with specialized knowledge or practices.  See Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; FTC v. Staples, Inc., 

190 F. Supp. 3d 100, 120–21 (D.D.C. 2016) (defining product market in part due to necessity that 

vendors have distinguishing capabilities such as sophisticated IT systems, personalized and high-

quality service, and next-day delivery).  The FTC has not presented evidence that the VR 

dedicated fitness app market requires specialized vendors. 

* * * 

For the reasons explained above, the Court finds that the following Brown Shoe “practical 

indicia” support the FTC’s assertion that VR dedicated fitness apps constitute the relevant product 

market: industry or public recognition; peculiar characteristics and uses; unique production 

facilities; distinct customers; and (to a lesser degree) distinct prices.  These factors indicate that 

VR dedicated fitness apps present in-market firms with an economic opportunity that is distinct 

from both other VR apps and other fitness offerings.  See Thurman Indus., Inc., 875 F.2d at 1375.  
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The Court therefore finds that the FTC has met its burden of showing that VR dedicated fitness 

apps constitute a relevant antitrust product market.  Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325–28; see also 

Lucas Auto. Eng., 275 F.3d at 766–68 (relying on Brown Shoe factors alone in review of relevant 

market); Klein, 580 F. Supp. 3d at 766–73 (same); Newcal Indus., 513 F.3d at 1051 (“Even when a 

submarket is an Eastman Kodak submarket, though, it must bear the ‘practical indicia’ of an 

independent economic entity in order to qualify as a cognizable submarket under Brown Shoe.”). 

b. Hypothetical Monopolist Test (HMT) 

In the interests of thoroughness, the Court also addresses the parties’ HMT arguments.  

The HMT is a quantitative tool used by courts to help define a relevant market by determining 

reasonably interchangeable products.  Optronic Techs., Inc., 20 F.4th at 482 n.1.  The test asks 

whether a “hypothetical monopolist that owns a given set of products likely would impose at least 

a small but significant and nontransitory increase in price (SSNIP) on at least one product in the 

market, including at least one product sold by one of the merging firms.”  Singer Report ¶ 32; see 

2010 Merger Guidelines § 4.1.1.  If enough consumers would respond to a SSNIP—often 

calculated as a five percent increase in price—by making purchases outside the proposed market 

definition so as to make the SSNIP not profitable, then the proposed market is defined too 

narrowly.  Singer Report ¶ 32; Optronic Techs., Inc., 20 F.4th at 482 n.1. 

The FTC’s economics expert, Dr. Singer, conducted a hypothetical monopolist test on the 

VR dedicated fitness app market.  Singer Report ¶¶ 49–68.  To inform his analysis of the response 

to a SSNIP in the VR dedicated fitness app market, Dr. Singer commissioned Qualtrics to conduct 

“a survey of Supernatural users to determine what fitness apps they perceive to be a reasonably 

close substitutes to Supernatural and to VR dedicated fitness products generally.”  Id. ¶ 60.  Dr. 

Singer testified that although an economist’s natural path would be to collect data about 

Supernatural customers’ transactions and reactions to any price increases, such data was 

unavailable here because Supernatural has never changed its price from $18.99 per month.  Singer 

Hr’g Tr. 365:2–13.  The survey was his “next best” option, and the approach is supported by the 

2010 Merger Guidelines.  Id. 365:16–18; Singer Report ¶¶ 60–61; 2010 Merger Guidelines § 
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4.1.3.  Based on his analysis of the survey, Dr. Singer determined that VR dedicated fitness apps 

constituted a relevant market.  Singer Hr’g Tr. 360:7–8. 

Defendants deride Dr. Singer’s survey as “junk science” and urge this Court not to rely on 

it.  Opp. 11; Meta Closing Hr’g Tr. 1508:22–1509:3.  In support of their arguments, Defendants 

relied on the expert reports and testimony of Dr. Dube and Dr. Carlton, who the Court found 

qualified as experts in the design and implementation of surveys and the economics of consumer 

demand for branded goods, see Dube Hr’g Tr. 872:16–873:19, and industrial organizations and 

microeconomics, see Carlton Hr’g Tr. 1355:15–20.  Based on the testimony elicited by 

Defendants from Dr. Singer, Dr. Dube, and Dr. Carlton, the Court is troubled by various apparent 

flaws in the survey underlying Dr. Singer’s HMT.  Most pertinently, there appear to be several 

indications that a high fraction of the 150 surveyed individuals, on whose answers Dr. Singer’s 

analysis necessarily relied, were untruthful in one or more responses.  See, e.g., Dube Hr’g Tr. 

895:12–25 (respondents claimed to own multiple pieces of bulky, expensive equipment); Carlton 

Report ¶ 93 (over two dozen respondents claimed to regularly use all 27 fitness products listed on 

survey).  Another facet of concern is the survey’s apparent inclusion of a non-VR product in the 

question designed to capture a hypothetical monopolist’s pricing power in a VR-only market.  

Carlton Hr’g Tr. 1428:21–1429:9.  These questions, among others, suggest that the survey data 

underlying Dr. Singer’s HMT analysis may not be reliable, which in turn casts doubt on the 

conclusions to be drawn from the HMT. 

The Court’s reservations about the survey do not change its finding that VR dedicated 

fitness apps constitute a relevant antitrust product market.  Because the Court bases its 

determination of the relevant product market on its Brown Shoe analysis, see supra Section 

III.B.1.a., rather than the HMT, it need not determine the validity of Dr. Singer’s survey 

methodology.  See, e.g., Singer Hr’g Tr. 450:25–452:17.  The Brown Shoe factors are sufficient to 

inform the Court’s understanding of the “business reality” of the VR dedicated fitness app market.  

Lucas Auto. Eng., 275 F.3d at 766–68; see also United States v. Anthem, Inc., 236 F. Supp. 3d 

171, (D.D.C. 2017) (noting Brown Shoe factors supported the “business reality” of the 
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government’s relevant market despite defense argument of “[in]sufficient economic rigor”); RAG-

Stiftung, 436 F. Supp. 3d at 293 n.3 (“The Brown Shoe practical indicia may indeed be old school, 

and its analytical framework relegated ‘to the jurisprudential sidelines.’  But Brown Shoe remains 

the law, and this court cannot ignore its dictates.”) (citations omitted).  Because the Court does not 

rely on the challenged portions of Dr. Singer’s report, the Court DENIES AS MOOT Defendants’ 

motion to strike Dr. Singer’s opinion that VR dedicated fitness apps constitute a relevant product 

market. 7  ECF No. 470. 

2. Geographic Market  

“The relevant geographic market is the ‘area of effective competition where buyers can 

turn for alternate sources of supply.’”  Saint Alphonsus Med. Ctr.-Nampa Inc. v. St. Luke’s Health 

Sys., Ltd., 778 F.3d 775, 784 (9th Cir. 2015) (citations omitted).  “[I]n a potential-competition case 

like this one, the relevant geographic market or appropriate section of the country is the area in 

which the acquired firm is an actual, direct competitor.”  Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. at 622.  

That is, the geographic market must “correspond to the commercial realities of the industry.”  

Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 336; see also Staples, 970 F. Supp. at 1073 (relevant geographic market 

is region where “consumers can practically turn for alternative sources of the product and in which 

the antitrust defendant faces competition”). 

The FTC asserts that the United States is the relevant geographic market, and Defendants 

do not argue to the contrary.  Mot. 15; see generally Opp.  The Court agrees.  As one of Within’s 

founders testified, Supernatural is only available to Quest headset users in the United States and 

Canada mainly .  Milk Hr’g Tr. 671:4–9.  

More broadly, Quest headsets are designed so that a user’s geolocation determines the availability 

and prices of content.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 79:23–80:6.  Because content developed in other 

countries may not be available in the United States, and because Supernatural is not available 

 
7 Having independently reached the same conclusion as Dr. Singer regarding the relevant product 
market definition, the Court will rely on his subsequent analyses regarding the structure and 
characteristics of the defined market, which Defendants do not challenge.  See ECF No. 470. 
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outside of the United States and Canada, the Court finds that the United States is an appropriate 

relevant geographic market.  See Staples, 970 F. Supp. at 1073. 

Accordingly, the relevant antitrust market for the analysis of the competitive impacts of 

Meta’s acquisition of Within is VR dedicated fitness apps in the United States. 

C. Substantial Market Concentration 

The FTC has challenged Meta’s acquisition of Within on the basis that the merger would 

substantially lessen potential competition.  The Supreme Court has taken note of two species of 

potential competition theories: actual potential competition and perceived potential competition.  

See United States v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 410 U.S. 526 (1973); United States v. Marine 

Bancorporation, Inc., 418 U.S. 602 (1974).  Although the two theories have different elements 

and are grounded in different presumptions about the market, they share a common requirement: 

they have “meaning only as applied to concentrated markets.”  Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. 

at 630–31.  Because both doctrines posit that potential competitors can or will soon impact the 

market, there would be no need for concern if the market is already genuinely competitive.  Id.   

In assessing whether the relevant market is “substantially concentrated,” the Supreme 

Court sets forth a burden-shifting framework.  First, the FTC may establish a prima facie case that 

the relevant market is substantially concentrated by introducing evidence of concentration ratios.  

Id. at 631.  Once established, the burden shifts to the merging companies to “show that the 

concentration ratios, which can be unreliable indicators of actual market behavior, did not 

accurately depict the economic characteristics of the [relevant] market.”  Id.  If the prima facie 

case is not rebutted, then the market is suitable for the potential competition doctrines.  See United 

States v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 430 F. Supp. 729, 755 (D. Md. 1976). 

1. Market Concentration Ratios 

The Court finds that the FTC has sufficiently presented evidence using concentration ratios 

as permitted by Marine Bancorporation.  Here, the FTC has provided the Herfindahl-Hirschman 

Index (“HHI”)—a widely accepted measure of industry concentration frequently used by courts 

considering antitrust merger and acquisition actions—for the relevant market.  FTC Proposed 
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Post-Hearing Findings of Fact (“FTC’s Findings”) ¶¶ 80–83, ECF No. 516; Optronic Techs., Inc. 

v. Ningbo Sunny Elec. Co., 414 F. Supp. 3d 1256, 1263 (N.D. Cal. 2019), aff'd, 20 F.4th 466 (9th 

Cir. 2021).  The FTC’s 2010 Merger Guidelines provide that a market is considered “moderately 

concentrated” when the HHI exceeds 1500 and “highly concentrated” when it exceeds 2500.  2010 

Merger Guidelines § 5.3.   

The FTC’s expert, Dr. Singer, calculated the HHI multiple times, accounting for different 

market definitions and stipulations.  Dr. Singer first calculated the HHI by measuring each firm’s 

market share using revenue.  Singer Report ¶ 75, Table 2-A.  This yielded an HHI of 6,917,  

  Id.  Dr. Singer also calculated the market’s HHI 

using “total hours spent” and “average monthly active users” as metrics and data collected from 

the Quest Store.  Singer Rebuttal Report ¶¶ 124–25, Tables 1-A, 1-B.  The HHI for “total hours 

spent” was 6,307; and for “monthly active users” was 3,377.  Id.    

The Court finds that—regardless of the metrics used—every one of these ratios reflect a 

market concentration well above what the Merger Guidelines have designated as “highly 

concentrated.”  Accordingly, the FTC have made their prima facie showing, and the burden shifts 

to Defendants to “show that the concentration ratios . . . did not accurately depict the economic 

characteristics of the [relevant] market.”  Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. at 631.  

2. Defendants’ Pleading Challenges  

Before continuing to Defendants’ substantive arguments seeking to rebut the FTC’s prima 

facie case, the Court first turns to the Defendants’ legal attacks on the FTC’s pleadings.  

Defendants argue that the FTC’s case stumbles right out of the blocks because the complaint does 

not allege oligopolistic or “interdependent or parallel behavior.”  Mot. Dismiss FAC (“MTD”) 10–

13, ECF No. 108.  Defendants’ position arises from the following language in Marine 

Bancorporation:  

 
The potential-competition doctrine has meaning only as applied to concentrated 
markets.  That is, the doctrine comes into play only where there are dominant 
participants in the target market engaging in interdependent or parallel behavior 
and with the capacity effectively to determine price and total output of goods or 
services. 
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418 U.S. at 631.   

Defendants’ argument is unpersuasive.  Their fidelity to a stilted and strained reading of 

the Supreme Court’s commentary conveniently dodges the actual burden-shifting framework that 

Marine Bancorporation set forth and applied.  Id. at 631–32.  In fact, the Supreme Court held that 

the district court had erred by taking the precise course of action that Defendants urge the Court 

takes here, i.e., requiring the FTC to allege parallel behavior when it is Defendants’ burden to 

present the absence.  Id. (“In our view, appellees did not carry this burden, and the District Court 

erred in holding to the contrary.  Appellees introduced no significant evidence of the absence of 

parallel behavior in the pricing or providing of commercial bank services in [the relevant 

market].”) (emphasis added).  A similar attempt to stretch the language from Marine 

Bancorporation to pin the burden on the government was likewise unsuccessful.  Black & Decker, 

430 F. Supp. at 750 n.41 (rejecting argument that “the government has failed to produce evidence 

of any interdependent or parallel behavior in the market or of the market firms’ capacity to 

determine price and total output”).  Defendants also are unable to identify any authority that has 

adopted its proposed inversed framework, not even the one Fifth Circuit decision they cited.  See 

MTD 6; Republic of Texas Corp. v. Bd. of Governors, 649 F.2d 1026, 1045–46 (5th Cir. 1981) 

(“Concentration ratios of this magnitude establish here . . . a prima facie case that the [] market is a 

candidate for the potential competition doctrine, and shift to Republic the burden to show that the 

concentration ratios . . . do not accurately depict the economic characteristics of the [] market.”) 

(emphasis added).   

For all the reasons discussed, Defendants’ theory that the FTC was required to plead 

oligopolistic, interdependent, or parallel behavior is without merit.  To the extent Defendants’ 

motion to dismiss the FAC is premised on this theory, the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion.  

3. Economic Characteristics of the “VR Dedicated Fitness App” Market 

The FTC having established a prima facie case of “substantial concentration” using 

concentration ratios, the burden now shifts to Defendants to rebut that showing that “the 

concentration ratios . . . did not accurately depict the economic characteristics of the [relevant] 
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market.”  Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. at 631.  The touchstone inquiry, however, appears to 

be whether the relevant market “is in fact genuinely competitive.”  Marine Bancorporation, 418 

U.S. at 631; Tenneco, Inc. v. FTC, 689 F.2d 346, 353 (2d Cir. 1982) (finding the FTC was “fully 

justified in concluding that the [] market was not genuinely competitive”); Republic of Texas, 649 

F.2d at 1046 (finding that rebuttal evidence did not “establish that the overall competition from the 

thrift institutions was sufficient”); Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 755 (noting that “various 

facets of competitive performance in the gasoline powered chain saw market offer conflicting 

indications”).  The Court addresses each argument that Defendants have raised in rebuttal.  

The Court first makes an opening observation that there appear to be at least some 

characteristics of the market that may be difficult to express with concentration ratios.  If nothing 

else, both parties seem to agree that the VR dedicated fitness app market is a nascent and emerging 

market, which would be an economic characteristic of the market not fully captured by the 

concentration ratios.  See FTC’s Findings ¶¶ 68–69; Singer Report ¶ 92.  However, the Court must 

consider whether those characteristics indicate that the market is genuinely competitive.  

Nascency.  The Court has received conflicting expert evidence from both parties as to 

whether nascent markets are more or less vulnerable to coordinated oligopolistic behaviors.  Dr. 

Carlton submits that a nascent market with rapidly evolving products is more difficult to 

coordinate behaviors, while Dr. Singer has asserted that there is no accepted economic theory to 

support the segmentation of nascent, adolescent, or mature markets.  Compare Carlton Report ¶¶ 

127–29, with Singer Rebuttal Report ¶¶ 130-33.   

The evidence presented suggests that companies in the VR dedicated fitness market do not 

exhibit revenue or profit-maximizing behaviors, such as price competition.  Koblin Hr’g Tr. 

636:11–14; Milk Hr’g Tr. 736:6–8.  Instead, their strategies appear to be optimized for growth and 

penetration— —with the expectation that those qualities will 

render them an attractive acquisition target.  See, e.g., Milk Hr’g Tr. 736:15–21 (“  
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.”); Zyda Hr’g Tr. 1227:18–22, 1228:15–18 (“[S]tartups that work in the VR 

space can get acquired, and that’s pretty much the dream of almost every startup.”); Garcia Hr’g 

Tr. 1111:8–1112:14; Janszen Hr’g Tr. 1147:22–1148:1.  It is unclear to the Court how this 

departure from conventional profit-maximization strategies—an assumption often made in 

defining antitrust markets, see 2010 Merger Guidelines § 4.1.1 (noting that the HMT “requires [] a 

hypothetical profit-maximizing firm”)—should affect the assessment of genuine competition in 

this market.8   

Notwithstanding the experts’ robust economics discussions, neither party has presented the 

Court with a working definition of “nascency,” such that it can distinguish a nascent market from 

a more mature market.  Rather, the parties appear to use the “nascency” label—however the lines 

are drawn—as a proxy for other more observable market descriptions, such as highly 

differentiated products, unstable market shares, and new entrants.  Carlton Report ¶¶ 127–29.  

Accordingly, the Court will give limited weight to the fact that the VR dedicated fitness market 

may be characterized as a nascent market and focus instead on the underlying market indicators.   

Market Share Volatility.  Dr. Carlton claims that the VR dedicated fitness market exhibits 

changing market shares, but he does not provide any historical data or evidence that the market 

shares have changed over time.  Carlton Report ¶¶ 124–25.  Instead, Dr. Carlton relies on the fact 

that none of the apps were in existence five years ago, that new entries are occurring, and on Dr. 

Singer’s data on changes in other VR app markets.  Id. ¶ 125.  But new entrants do not necessarily 

result in shifting or deconcentrating market shares, and Defendants have not presented evidence of 

actual historical shifts in shares for the relevant market here.  Moreover,  

 

 

  Id. ¶ 67, Table 10.  

New Entrants.  Defendants and Dr. Carlton have made much ado about the incoming 

 
8 Indeed, the many novel questions of law presented by this case may signal an ill fit between 
these long-standing antitrust doctrines and the structures of modern technology markets.  
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entrants and the fact that the FTC’s relevant market has effectively doubled since the initiated this 

litigation.  See, e.g., Opp. 14.  Although the “introduction of new firms and fluid condition of 

market entry and exit can indicate competitive behavior,” the bottom line is that these new entrants 

have not significantly deconcentrated the market, nor do they suggest a trend towards such 

deconcentration.  Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 751; see also Singer Rebuttal Report ¶¶ 124–

25, Tables 1-A, 1-B (indicating de minimis shares of new entrants).  

Barriers to Entry.  Defendants rely on the new entrants into the market as evidence that 

barriers to entry are low.  Opp. 13.  However, the number of new entrants “does not belie the 

substantial entry barriers characteristic of the [relevant] market.”  Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 

751.  The evidence presented suggest that barriers to entry are existent but are not insurmountable.  

As the Court discusses further in this order, there are several ingredients required for a potential 

entrant considering entry into the VR dedicated fitness app entrant, including financial resources, 

VR engineering resources, fitness experience and content creation, and studio production 

capabilities.  See infra Section III.D.2.a.  On the other hand, for most potential entrants into any 

VR app market, Meta provides grants, software development kits, infrastructure code, and even 

engineering support to third-party VR app developers.  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 284:18–285:18.  

Having considered the VR dedicated fitness app market’s nascency, volatility, new 

entrants, barriers to entry, and price competition, the Court is inclined to find that Defendants have 

not rebutted the FTC’s prima facie case.  The Court certainly appreciates that a nascent market 

with an emerging technology may have some features and market incentives that are not captured 

by concentration ratios.  However, the evidence does not support a finding that the VR dedicated 

fitness app market exhibits the characteristics or desirable behaviors of a competitive market.  And 

as the Supreme Court noted in Falstaff Brewing, the absence of “blatantly anti-competitive 

effects” may not necessarily preclude the propriety of potential competition theories, because the 

high degree of market concentration indicates that the “seeds of anti-competitive conduct are 

present.”  410 U.S. 526, 550; see also id. n.15 (“[A] market might be so concentrated that even 

though it is presently competitive, there is a serious risk that parallel pricing policies might emerge 
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sometime in the near future.”).   

That said, because the Court finds infra that the FTC has not satisfied the other elements of 

the potential competition theories they have brought, the Court need—and does not—decide 

whether the Defendants’ showing here is sufficient to rebut the FTC’s prima facie case on 

substantial concentration.  See United States v. Siemens Corp., 621 F.2d 499, 506 (2d Cir. 1980).   

D. Actual Potential Competition  

The FTC first argues that the Acquisition would substantially lessen competition because it 

deprives the VR dedicated fitness app market of the competition that would have arisen from 

Meta’s independent entry into the market, a theory known as the “actual potential competition” or 

“actual potential entrant” doctrine.  See, e.g., United States v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc., 418 

U.S. 602, 633 (1974).  Although the Supreme Court has twice declined to resolve the doctrine’s 

validity when presented, it has nonetheless identified two essential preconditions before the theory 

can be applied: (1) the alleged potential entrant must have “available feasible means for entering 

the [relevant] market other than by acquiring [the target company]”; and (2) those “means offer a 

substantial likelihood of ultimately producing deconcentration of that market or other significant 

procompetitive effects.”  Id.  The doctrine has since been applied by Courts of Appeal and district 

courts alike, though the Ninth Circuit has not yet had an opportunity to provide guidance on the 

actual potential competition theory. 

Although “available feasible means” for entry may be established either by de novo entry 

or a toehold acquisition, the FTC has not argued that Meta could have entered the relevant market 

through a toehold acquisition, nor does it identify any company in the relevant market that could 

have served as such a target.  See, e.g., FAC ¶ 57; Mot. 19.  “Since the [FTC] offered no evidence 

of a toe-hold purchase that was available and attractive to [Meta], any such theory must be 

rejected for lack of proof.”  United States v. Siemens Corp., 621 F.2d 499, 508 (2d Cir. 1980).  

Accordingly, the Court will only consider whether Meta had “available feasible means” for 

entering the relevant market de novo.  
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1. Threshold Issues  

Before discussing the evidence, the Court first turns to three threshold disputes of law 

between the parties, which are: (1) the continued vitality of the actual potential competition 

theory; (2) the standard of proof the FTC must meet; and (3) the roles and consideration of 

objective and subjective evidence.  

a. Doctrinal Validity  

Throughout this litigation, Defendants have sought to cast doubt as to the very existence of 

the actual potential competition theory because it has never been fully endorsed by the Supreme 

Court.  See, e.g., Opp. 2; MTD, at 2, 16–17.  Notwithstanding Defendants’ doubts, this doctrine 

has been applied by multiple Circuit Courts of Appeal, e.g., Yamaha Motor Co. v. FTC, 657 F.2d 

971 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Siemens Corp., 621 F.2d 499 (2d Cir. 1980); FTC v. Atl. 

Richfield Co., 549 F.2d 289 (4th Cir. 1977); the Federal Trade Commission itself, Altria Group, 

Inc., 2022 WL 622476 (Feb. 23, 2022); B.A.T. Industries, 1984 WL 565384 (Dec. 17, 1984); and 

various district courts, including one that ordered divestiture upon a finding of actual potential 

competition and whose judgment was affirmed by the Supreme Court.  United States v. Phillips 

Petroleum Co., 367 F. Supp. 1226 (C.D. Cal. 1973), aff’d sub nom. Tidewater Oil Co. v. United 

States, 418 U.S. 906 (1974), and aff’d, 418 U.S. 906 (1974).  Given the actual potential 

competition doctrine’s consistent, albeit distant, history of judicial recognition, the Court declines 

to reject the theory outright and will apply the doctrine as developed.  See FTC v. Steris Corp., 

133 F. Supp. 3d 962, 966 (N.D. Ohio 2015) (“[T]he FTC has clearly endorsed this theory by filing 

this case, and the administrative law judge will be employing it during the proceeding. . . .  

Accordingly, in deciding the likelihood of success on the merits, the Court will assume the validity 

of this doctrine.”).  

To the extent Defendants’ motion to dismiss sought dismissal of the FTC’s actual potential 

competition claim on the basis that it is a “dead-letter doctrine,” ECF No. 108, at 2, Defendants’ 

motion is DENIED.   
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b. Standard of Proof 

There is less consistency among courts as to the proper standard of proof by which the 

FTC must prove its case on actual potential competition, and it is an issue of first impression 

within the Ninth Circuit.  The Fourth Circuit has held that the FTC must establish its case with 

“strict proof.”  Atl. Richfield, 549 F.2d at 295.  The Second Circuit has asked whether a defendant 

“would likely have entered the market in the near future.”  Tenneco, Inc. v. FTC, 689 F.2d 346, 

352 (2d Cir. 1982) (emphasis added).  The Fifth Circuit adopted the “reasonable probability” 

standard, which it remarked “signifies that an event has a better than fifty percent chance of 

occurring [with a] ‘reasonable’ probability represent[ing] an even greater likelihood of the event’s 

occurrence.”  Mercantile Texas Corp. v. Bd. of Governors, 638 F.2d 1255, 1268–69 (5th Cir. 

1981).  The Eighth Circuit also appeared to adopt the “reasonable probability.”  Yamaha Motor, 

657 F.2d at 977 (defining the inquiry as “would [defendant], absent the joint venture, probably 

have entered the [relevant] market independently”) (emphasis added).  Finally, the FTC itself has 

unambiguously adopted a “clear proof” standard.  B.A.T. Industries, 1984 WL 565384, at *10.   

In the absence of guiding Ninth Circuit law, the Court begins with Brown Shoe’s teaching 

that Section 7 deals with neither certainties nor ephemeral possibilities but rather “probabilities.”  

Brown Shoe Co. v. U.S., 370 U.S. 294, 323 (1962).  In the context of an actual potential 

competition claim, however, the Court must not only consider the effects of future scenarios where 

the Acquisition occurs and where it is blocked, but it must also gauge the likelihood—in the 

second scenario—that the blocked would-be acquirer would enter the relevant market 

independently.  Furthermore, the harm to competition the doctrine aims to prevent is not the loss 

of present competition but rather the potential loss of a future competitor (the acquiring company).  

Given the many a priori inferences required by the doctrine, the Court is wary of any inquiry that 

strays too close to the specters of ephemeral possibilities, yet it must nonetheless ensure the 

standard does not require the FTC to operate on certainties.  The Court accordingly holds that the 

“reasonable probability” standard—as clarified by the Fifth Circuit to suggest a likelihood 

noticeably greater than fifty percent—is the standard of proof that the FTC must present.  
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To the extent Defendants’ motion to dismiss is based on the assertion that the correct 

standard of proof is “clear proof,” the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion.   

c. Objective vs. Subjective Evidence 

Finally, the Court reaches the parties’ disagreement as to the roles of objective and 

subjective evidence.  The FTC asserts that it may meet its burden using solely objective evidence 

regarding Meta’s “overall size, resources, capability, and motivation.”  Mot. 18–19; see also FTC 

Closing Hr’g Tr. 1494:12–18.  Defendants, meanwhile, strenuously emphasize subjective 

evidence that Meta never had any plan to enter the Relevant Market de novo and would not do so 

if the Acquisition is blocked.  Opp. 15.  

Courts have uniformly recognized the highly probative value of objective evidence in 

evaluating whether a potential entrant is reasonably probable to enter the market de novo; the 

disagreement only arises as to whether plaintiffs can satisfy their burden using only objective 

evidence and whether subjective evidence should warrant any consideration.  Compare Mercantile 

Texas, 638 F.2d at 1270 (“Not only is objective evidence undeniably probative, but subjective 

evidence is not required to establish a violation of the Clayton Act standard.  On remand, the 

Board may rely exclusively on objective evidence if that evidence is sufficient to support the 

findings we require.”) (internal citation omitted), with B.A.T. Industries, 1984 WL 565384, at *26 

(noting that “the inherent limitations of economic evidence mean that, standing alone,” purely 

objective evidence could not “establish liability under the actual potential entrant theory”) (Bailey, 

Comm’r, concurring).  Many courts have also consulted both objective and subjective evidence in 

reaching their conclusions.  See, e.g., Siemens, 621 F.2d at 507; Yamaha Motor, 657 F.2d at 979; 

Phillips Petroleum, 367 F. Supp. at 1239 (recognizing that subjective evidence is “relevant and 

entitled to consideration, [but] cannot be determinative”).   

Here, the Court will first consider whether the objective evidence presented by the FTC 

supports the findings and conclusions necessary to satisfy the actual potential competition 

doctrine.  If the objective evidence is weak, inconclusive, or conflicting, the Court will consult 

subjective evidence to illuminate the ambiguities left by the objective evidence, with the 
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understanding that the subjective evidence cannot overcome any directly conflicting objective 

evidence.  See Falstaff Brewing, 410 U.S. at 570 (“[T]he subjective evidence may serve as a 

counterweight to weak or inconclusive objective data.  But when the district court can point to no 

compelling reason why the subjective testimony should be believed or when the objective 

evidence strongly points to the feasibility of entry de novo . . . it is error for the court to rely in any 

way upon management’s subjective statements.”).  

2. Objective Evidence  

Having disposed of the threshold questions, the Court now proceeds to apply the doctrine.  

The inquiry can be stated as follows: “Is it reasonably probable that Meta would have entered the 

VR dedicated fitness app market de novo if it was not able to acquire Within?”9 

“In exploring the feasible means of entry alternative to the challenged acquisition, the court 

must analyze the incentive and capability of the acquiring firm to enter the relevant market.”  

Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 755.  The Court thus considers in turn the objective evidence on 

Meta’s capabilities and incentives to enter the VR dedicated fitness app market.    

a. Capabilities of Entry  

There can be no serious dispute that Meta possesses the financial resources to undertake a 

de novo entry.  Meta has spent over $12.4 billion in the most recent fiscal year on its VR business, 

and it anticipates investing more in the VR space.  See, e.g., DX1237, at 51, Dec. 31, 2021; ECF 

No. 514, Defs.’ Proposed Post-Hearing Findings of Fact (“Defs.’ Findings”) ¶¶ 44–47.  

Unsurprisingly, Meta also enjoys a deep and talented pool of engineers in its Reality Labs 

Division, who could provide the technical VR expertise to develop a VR dedicated fitness app 

should Meta so choose.  See ECF No. 516, FTC Proposed Post-Hearing Findings of Fact (“FTC’s 

Findings”) ¶¶ 32–33.  In fact, Meta maintains a team of “veteran engineers who are particular 

experts in [Meta’s] VR technology and hardware” and who work directly with third-party VR app 

developers to “improve the quality of their software or help them fix bugs or [] polish the 

 
9 As noted above, because the FTC has not argued that Meta could have entered the relevant 
market through a toehold acquisition, the Court considers only the question of de novo entry.   
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experience that the developer is building.”  Pruett Hr’g Tr. 286:4–12.  The Court finds that the 

objective evidence establishes that Meta has the financial resources and ready access to qualified 

VR engineers to enter the VR dedicated fitness app market de novo.  

But financial and engineering capabilities alone are insufficient to conclude it was 

“reasonably probable” that Meta would enter the VR dedicated fitness app market.  Indeed, Meta 

seems willing to concede—as is supported by the evidence—that it “does not take a large team or 

substantial resources to make a successful VR app.”  Defs.’ Findings ¶ 53.  Instead, courts often 

counterbalance undisputed financial capabilities with those capabilities unique to the relevant 

market, rarely relying solely on the potential entrant’s substantial wherewithal.  Siemens, 621 F.2d 

at 507 (finding no evidence that potential entrant could “transfer its acknowledged capability with 

respect to other types of equipment to nuclear medical equipment”) (emphasis added); Atl. 

Richfield, 549 F.2d at 295 (“[Potential entrant] has no technological skills readily transferrable to 

the copper markets; it has no channels of distribution which m ay be utilized to distribute 

copper.”) (emphasis added); cf. Yamaha Motor, 657 F.2d at 978 (noting that the potential entrant 

had “requisite experience in the production and marketing of outboard motors in areas of the 

world other than Japan.”) (emphasis added).  The Court here finds that Meta lacked certain 

capabilities that are unique and critical to the VR dedicated fitness app market.  See PX0127, at 7 

(noting that Meta “will need to build 4 new [fitness] functions that are not part of Facebook’s 

pipelines; Content development, instructors, studio production . . ., music rights & technology.”).  

First and foremost, although Meta has an abundance of VR personnel on hand, it lacks the 

capability to create fitness and workout content, a necessity for any fitness product or market.  See 

PX0111 (“The answer is content creation. . . . You need that content variety to serve different 

ability levels, musical tastes, instructor personalities, etc.”), Feb. 23, 2021.  As a comparison, 

Supernatural’s VR workouts are led by personal trainers and are optimized for VR activity 

through consultations with experts holding PhDs in kinesiology and biomechanics.  PX0712, at 

18, 27.  Certainly, this absence is not an insurmountable obstacle; Meta could conceivably 

circumvent it by partnering with an established fitness brand to provide the fitness content, as 
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Odders Lab did with Les Mills.10  FTC’s Findings ¶¶ 123, 148; see also Garcia Hr’g Tr. 1072:18–

1073:1.   

  

 

 

 

 see also Tenneco, 689 F.2d at 354 (rejecting as “unsupported 

speculation” the FTC’s suggestion that the potential entrant would have entered the market de 

novo “with the aid of a license” for necessary technology).  Regardless of any potential 

workarounds, the objective fact that Meta presently lacks the capability to create fitness content is, 

at the very least, probative as to the reasonable probability that Meta would enter the VR dedicated 

fitness app market de novo. 

In addition to fitness content, the evidence also indicates that Meta lacked the necessary 

studio production capabilities to create and film VR workouts.  Once again comparing to 

Supernatural, Within records daily workout classes in its Los Angeles studio, and its founders 

have directed several interactive music videos.  PX0712, at 3–4, 29.  When Meta employees were 

strategizing VR fitness investments, they recognized that “studio production (e.g. green screen 

ops, stereoscopic capture, post processing pipelines)” was a new function that was “not part of 

Facebook’s pipelines.”11  PX0127, at 7, Mar. 10, 2021.  Contrary to the FTC’s suggestion, the 

Court finds that Meta’s acquisition of Armature Studio—a third-party VR studio with expertise in 

co-developing VR apps—does not provide the necessary studio production capabilities to develop 

a VR dedicated fitness app.  See FTC’s Findings ¶¶ 125, 290.  The evidence indicates that 

 
10 The Court can imagine more scenarios, e.g., where Meta contracts independent fitness 
instructors or employs a team of regular fitness instructions, but they would require further 
speculation.  
11 To clarify, the Court cites this internal Meta strategy document for its identification of functions 
that are objectively absent from Meta’s capabilities, and not for any probative value in determining 
Meta’s subjective intention, such as whether those absences are sufficient to deter it from entering 
the VR dedicated fitness app market de novo.  
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Armature is very much a game studio, not a production studio  

  PX0527, at 6 (listing Armature’s 

  The FTC highlights an internal Meta 

presentation that presented Armature as an acquisition target who could “build a fitness-first 

product based on Beat Saber x their sports experience.”  Id.  However, the basis for this suggestion 

comes not from any prior production studio experience but rather Armature’s experience 

developing the rendered VR video game, Sports Scramble.  Id.  As with Meta’s fitness expertise, 

its lack of production studio capabilities to film a VR fitness workout is a relevant—though less 

compelling—factor for the Court’s “reasonably probable” consideration.  

b. Incentives to Enter 

In addition to the objective evidence presented of Meta’s capabilities of entering the VR 

dedicated fitness app market, the Court also considers the objective evidence of Meta’s incentives 

and motivations for entering this market.   

Users and Growth. The record is replete with evidence supporting Meta’s interest in the 

VR fitness space.  Defs.’ Findings ¶ 280 (“[E]mployees at Reality Labs were interested in fitness 

as a promising VR use case”).  First, fitness is a use for VR that appeals to a more diverse 

population, specifically consumers that are female and older.  Id. ¶ 280 (citing testimony).  This 

demographic is notably distinct from the typical VR demographic, which tends to skew younger 

and more male.  Id.; see also Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 756 (“[C]ommitment to 

diversification is an important factor to be considered in analyzing [] desire to enter a particular 

market.”).  Fitness is also “retentive,” meaning that users will tend to regularly use the product or 

app.  PX0386, at 12 (fitness apps had a “strong  retention”), Apr. 12, 2022; see 

Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 108:19–25.  Meta’s internal data also indicated that “deliberate fitness apps” 

were the “fastest growing segment” with  year-over-year growth.  PX0386, at 12.  These 

promising demographic, use, and growth metrics are especially important to Meta, because it has 

“bet[] on VR technology as a general computing platform to join today’s PCs, laptops, 

smartphones, and tablets.”  Defs.’ Findings ¶ 44.  
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Although they undergird Meta’s undisputed interest in VR fitness, the aforementioned 

factors provide limited probative value in assessing Meta’s likelihood to enter the VR dedicated 

fitness app market itself.  As the Court established earlier in this section, the relevant inquiry is 

whether it is “reasonably probable” that Meta would have entered the VR dedicated fitness app 

market de novo, not whether Meta was excited about or interested in more generally investing in 

VR fitness.  Meta’s interest in the promising VR fitness app metrics—diverse appeal, strong user 

retention, rapid growth—stems from the potential for broader VR adoption and market 

penetration.  See Carlton Report ¶¶ 33–35.  And Meta, as a competitor in the VR headset market, 

benefits from that growth so long as high-quality VR fitness apps exist in the VR ecosystem; Meta 

need not itself be a player in that ecosystem.  See Defs.’ Findings ¶ 49.  This mutually beneficial 

relationship between the VR platform and third-party VR apps distinguishes this case from other 

potential competition cases where potential entrants are typically incentivized to enter the relevant 

market because they are not capturing any of the neighboring market’s growth or profitability.  

See, e.g., Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 755 (electric saw manufacturer entering the gasoline-

powered chain saw market); Phillips Petroleum, 367 F. Supp. at 1245 (non-California oil 

company entering the California market for gasoline sales); Yamaha Motors, 657 F.2d at 974 

(Japanese motor company entering the U.S. outboard motor market).  The Court accordingly does 

not find that these specific features of the VR dedicated fitness app market increase the probability 

that Meta would enter the market de novo, because Meta would enjoy those incentives even if it 

remained outside the relevant market and provided funding or technical support for in-market VR 

fitness app developers, as it already does.12  See supra ¶ 7.   

Hardware Integration.  Apart from the incentives arising from the VR fitness market itself, 

the evidence also reflects one other incentive that arises from Meta’s direct participation in the 

relevant market.  Specifically, entering the VR dedicated fitness app market with its own app 

 
12 To be sure, there is incentive for any company to enter a market that has stable consumers and is 
experiencing high growth, and the Court considers these incentives in assessing reasonable 
probability of Meta’s entry.  However, those incentives are of a different type and on a different 
scale from Meta’s interest in VR dedicated fitness apps as a VR platform developer.  
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would facilitate Meta’s subsequent development of fitness-related VR hardware.  This is an 

incentive to “first-party” entry that is acknowledge across multiple instances of internal 

contemporaneous correspondence at Meta.  See, e.g., PX0127, at 7  

 

, Mar. 10, 2021; PX0146, at 10 (“[First-party] will allow us 

to test and iterate tools in our Fitness platform that we can then surface to other 3P”), June 18, 

2021; PX0487, at 5 (“We believe that increasing [headcount] for 1P investment (Option 3) is 

worth the tradeoffs in order to: 1. Develop a cohesive fitness ecosystem faster by enabling 

developers and building platform features.”), May 14, 2021.  That said, the evidence also suggests 

that de novo entry is not strictly necessary to develop fitness hardware, see FTC’s Findings ¶ 185 

(indicating that Meta has also already produced “wipeable interface, wrist straps, and adjustable 

knuckle straps”), though independent entry into the market could streamline that development.  

Profitability.  Finally, there is some evidence of the relevant market’s profitability and that 

it   PX0386, at 12.  The profitability of the relevant market is 

unsurprisingly a relevant incentive that many courts consider.  See, e.g., Phillips Petroleum, 367 F. 

Supp. at 1245; Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 755.  While this factor is often quite salient in 

other potential competition cases, it is somewhat muted here,  

.  PX0062 (“Milk Dep.”) 19:8–12.  Of course, a market’s current profitability does not 

reflect its future profitability, especially if that market is exhibiting rapid growth as the VR 

dedicated fitness app market does here.  Nonetheless, the fact that  

 would indicate that the profitability of the relevant market 

warrants less consideration than it otherwise would.13    

* * * 

 
13 As discussed in the “Users and Growth” analysis above, the record reflects that Meta’s interest 
in the VR dedicated fitness market stems from the market’s potential contribution to broader VR 
adoption and corresponding headset sales.  The Court recognizes that a thriving VR fitness market 
may contribute to Meta’s future profitability in headset sales.  But that potential profitability in a 
different market is both too divorced from the likelihood of Meta’s de novo entry in the relevant 
market, and too speculative to evaluate under this factor. 
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Having reviewed and considered the objective evidence of Meta’s capabilities and 

incentives, the Court is not persuaded that this evidence establishes that it was “reasonably 

probable” Meta would enter the relevant market.  Meta’s undisputed financial resources and 

engineering manpower are counterbalanced by its necessary reliance on external fitness companies 

or experts to provide the actual workout content and a production studio for filming and post-

production.  Furthermore, the record is inconclusive as to Meta’s incentives to enter the relevant 

market.  There are certainly some incentives for Meta to enter the market de novo, such as a 

deeper integration between the VR fitness hardware and software.  However, it is not clear that 

Meta’s readily apparent excitement about fitness as a core VR use case would necessarily translate 

to an intent to build its own dedicated fitness app market if it could enter by acquisition.   

On balance, the objective evidence does not so “strongly point to the feasibility of entry de 

novo” that the Court should decline to consider subjective evidence of intent.  Falstaff Brewing, 

410 U.S. at 570.  

3. Subjective Evidence  

The Court first notes that it will accord little weight to subjective evidence and statements 

provided by Meta employees during the course of this litigation.  Although they are relevant, 

entitled to some weight, and no doubt offered by persons of character, the bias affiliated with such 

ex post facto testimony is widely recognized and unavoidable.  See, e.g., Falstaff Brewing, 410 

U.S. at 565, 570 (Marshall, J., concurring).  In reviewing the subjective evidence in the record, the 

Court will refer primarily to contemporaneous statements made by Meta employees. 

The record reveals certain documents created contemporaneously by Meta employees that 

appear to set forth Meta’s overall third-party VR investment strategy, along with individualized 

analyses of various VR fitness investment options.  PX0492 (“Quick Fitness / M&A Thoughts”), 

Mar. 9, 2021; PX0127 (“VR Fitness Content investment thesis v2”), Mar. 10, 2021; PX0146 (“FB 

Inc Fitness Strategy Working Draft”), June 18, 2021.  The FTC has represented that these 

documents were sponsored by Meta employees: Rade Stojsavljevic, who oversaw all of Meta’s 

first-party VR gaming studios (Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 69:18–24); Anand Dass, Meta’s director of 
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non-gaming VR content (id. 138:11–18); and Jane Chiao, a business-side employee who reported 

directly to Mark Rabkin, the head of VR technology at Meta (id. 140:23–141:1, Rabkin Hr’g Tr. 

800:7–11).  Furthermore, exhibit PX0127 was a “pre-read” circulated in advance of a meeting 

with Mark Rabkin, see Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 149:16–151:12, who would have been one of the 

decisionmakers needed to sign off on any significant VR fitness investment.  Id. 189:24–190:12.  

These are not “memoranda of lower echelon [] employees.”  Siemens, 621 F.2d at 508; see also 

Atl. Richfield, 549 F.2d at 297 n.9.  Accordingly, the Court finds that the statements in these 

documents reflect the thoughts and impressions of relatively significant stakeholders, as the 

authors were generally one or two people away from the final decisionmaker.  

The evidence contained in these strategy documents is consistent—Meta’s subjective 

motivations to enter the relevant market were primarily to (1) better develop VR fitness hardware 

or (2) ensure the continued existence of a high-quality VR fitness app in the market.  The Court 

notes that these incentives would apply to both entry by acquisition and entry de novo, though 

perhaps not with equal force.   

First, this subjective evidence corroborates the objective evidence that Meta primarily 

wanted to be a first-party firm in the VR dedicated fitness market so it could improve its VR 

fitness hardware (e.g., headsets, heart monitor, wrist straps).  See PX0492, at 2 (“Deep integration 

with hardware and software to create best in class experience that other devs can follow”); 

PX0127, at 7  

 

); PX0146 (“1P content is not a goal in itself – it is only in the service of 

broader platform objectives (e.g., help accelerate progress of market phases).”) (emphasis added).  

The importance of this incentive is supported by internal Meta communications.  See PX0179, at 2 

(noting that “strategic rationale already exists” to pursue VR fitness, which was to “[c]reate option 

value for [Meta’s device], software platform and hand tracking”), Mar. 11, 2021.  

Second, the evidence also indicates that Meta would want to enter the VR dedicated fitness 

app market if the availability of VR fitness apps was at risk of becoming constrained and, 
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therefore, Meta could ensure that at least one high-quality VR fitness app remained in the market.  

Specifically, as early as March 2021, Meta employees were expecting Apple to “lock in” VR 

fitness content to be exclusive with Apple’s VR hardware.  See PX0492, at 2  

 Mar. 9, 2021; 

PX0127, at 6  

 

, Mar. 10, 2021.  

This incentive was also corroborated by contemporaneous communications.  DX1012 , at 1  

 

 

 

, May 26, 2021.  The 

evidence also suggests that this incentive was the primary animating factor that ultimately 

compelled Meta to pursue Within as an acquisition.  See, e.g., PX0117  

.   

Meta’s prior ventures into other VR app markets also do not support a subjective intention 

or proclivity to build its own apps as opposed to an acquisition.  Courts have considered a 

potential entrant’s history of acquisitions and expansions in determining its likelihood of de novo 

entry.  See Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 756 (potential entrant had previously “diversified 

almost exclusively through internal expansion [and] had a definite, if unwritten, policy known to 

its employees of discouraging growth by acquisition”); Phillips Petroleum, 367 F. Supp. at 1240 

(“At no time prior to the [] acquisition did [the potential entrant] ever enter a new marketing area 

by acquiring a major company in that market.”).  The evidence indicates that Meta has tended to 

build its own VR app where the experience did not call for specialized or substantive content, e.g., 

Horizon Worlds (a world-building app where other users can create worlds in VR), Horizon 

Workrooms (a productivity app), Horizon Venues (a live-events app), Horizon Home (social 

networking app).  Meta’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses ¶ 35; see also PX0056 (“Carmack 
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Dep.”) 101:15–23 (indicating Meta does not have “anything internally developed that was a hit 

outside of our browser application”).  Meanwhile, Meta has acquired other VR developers where 

the experience requires content creation from the developer, such as VR video games, as opposed 

to an app that hosts content created by others.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 87:5–88:2.  With respect to 

fitness, the Court finds that VR dedicated fitness is more akin to a gaming app—where the 

emphasis is on the content created or provided by the developer—than a browser or world-

building app, where the value is derived from the users’ own creativity rather than the developers’.  

Accordingly, based on Meta’s past entries into VR app markets, the evidence would suggest an 

interest in entry by acquisition instead of entry de novo.   

But even more pertinent than the record of Meta’s past entries into VR app markets is the 

evidence that Meta had consciously considered and appeared doubtful of the proposition to build 

its own independent VR fitness app.  The pre-read strategy document prepared for Mark Rabkin’s 

attention contains a separate section that “[i]t will be hard to build Fitness from scratch.”  PX0127, 

at 7.  Specifically, a VR fitness app would require Meta to  

 

  Id.  The 

document also recognized that Meta would have to “build new kinds of expertise at the 

intersection of software, instructor-led fitness, music, media.”  Id.  The decision not to build 

Meta’s own VR fitness app is corroborated by the lack of any other contemporaneous discussion 

on the topic.  The record does, however, indicate that Meta attempted to gauge whether it could 

expand Beat Saber together with a fitness partner, a prospect the Court delves into further below.  

In sum, the subjective evidence indicates that Meta was subjectively interested in entering 

the VR dedicated fitness app market itself, either for hardware development or defensive market 

purposes.  However, the Court again notes that these incentives would support both market entry 

by acquisition and de novo, but the Court’s inquiry is only concerned with the feasibility of de 

novo entry.  For instance, even though Meta’s concern about  

 was an incentive to acquire Within, that incentive does not apply with equal force 
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  PX0127, at 1.  And, as the Court elaborates below, the evidence shows that all 

these factors—Meta’s capabilities and incentives, both objective and subjective—did not result in 

Meta ever seriously contemplating a de novo entry, i.e., building its own VR fitness app.   

4. Identified Means of Entry 

Up to this point, the Court has only addressed Meta’s capabilities, incentives, and intent to 

enter the VR dedicated fitness app market in the abstract.  However, an assessment of the 

probability and feasibility of a hypothetical de novo entry would not be complete without 

addressing the actual means of entry that Meta considered.  See Black & Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 

757 (“Three avenues of entry into the gas lawn mower field were explored. . . . ”); Siemens, 621 

F.2d at 502–03 (summarizing multiple possibilities that other acquiring company had considered); 

Phillips Petroleum, 367 F. Supp. at 1243–44 (same).  

Nevertheless, the FTC has implied that the Court may infer that Meta would have entered 

the market de novo—irrespective of its actual plans for entry—using “available feasible means” 

unbeknownst to the parties or the Court.  See FTC Closing Hr’g Tr. 1494:16–18 (“We don’t have 

to show that Meta actually had a subjective intention to enter the market.”).  To the extent the FTC 

implies that—based solely on the objective evidence of Meta’s resources and its excitement for 

VR fitness—it would have inevitably found and implemented some unspecified means to enter the 

market, the Court finds such a theory to be impermissibly speculative.   

The FTC made a similar argument in BOC International, where it argued that “[s]imply 

because no entry had been effectuated at the time the [acquisition] presented itself did not mean 

that BOC would not have eventually realized its ‘long-term objectives’ of entering the [relevant] 

market by growth rather than by this major acquisition.”  BOC Int’l, Ltd. v. FTC, 557 F.2d 24, 29 

(2d Cir. 1977) (emphasis added).  The Second Circuit rejected this “eventual entry” theory as 

“uncabined speculation,” holding that “it seems necessary under Section 7 that the finding of 

probable entry at least contain some reasonable temporal estimate related to the near future.”  Id.  

The FTC recently reaffirmed this holding in Altria Group, Inc., 2022 WL 622476, at *70 
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(“Complaint Counsel is arguing that due to Altria’s resources as a large company, and economic 

incentives to participate in the e-cigarette market, Altria would have eventually had a product 

competing in that market.  This is precisely the position rejected by the court in BOC.”) (emphasis 

added).  Additionally, insofar as the FTC implies Meta could overcome its lack of fitness 

experience and content creation by hiring experts or partnering with a fitness brand, the suggestion 

reflects “the kind of unsupported speculation” rejected in Tenneco.  689 F.2d at 354 (rejecting the 

FTC’s “conclusion that [potential entrant] would have entered the market de novo with the aid of a 

license” for the necessary technology).  

The Court here does not hold that every case of actual potential competition will require 

consideration of a potential entrant’s actual and subjective plans for entry.  See Falstaff Brewing, 

410 U.S. at 565 (“We have certainly never suggested that subjective evidence of likely future 

entry is required to make out a § 7 case.”) (Marshall, J., concurring).  Nor does the Court suggest 

that a particular entry strategy can only be “reasonably probable” and “feasible” if it has reached a 

certain inflection point in the firm’s decision-making process.  Such a conclusion would 

incentivize corporate gamesmanship and reward decisionmakers for reaching merger decisions 

hastily without exploring non-merger alternatives.  See generally id. at 563–71 (Marshall, J., 

concurring).  However, where the objective evidence is “weak or inconclusive” and does not 

“strongly point[] to the feasibility of entry de novo,” id. at 570, it is incumbent on the Court to 

consider the potential entrant’s actual plans of entry for the purposes of ensuring that Section 7 

enforcement does not veer into the realm of ephemeral possibilities.  As applied here, the Court 

holds that the FTC may not rest solely on evidence of Meta’s considerable resources and the 

company’s clear zeal for the VR dedicated fitness app market as a whole; the evidence must show 

that Meta had some feasible and reasonably probable path to de novo entry.    

Turning then to the evidence, the record indicates that Meta would only have entered by 

acquisition or a Beat Saber collaboration with a fitness content creator; the Court is unaware of 

any evidence that Meta considered building a VR fitness app on its own.  In the strategy document 

that was prepared for the meeting with Mark Rabkin, Meta personnel had outlined and analyzed 
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five options for investing in VR fitness: (1) acquire Within and Supernatural; (2) acquire ; 

(3) expand Beat Saber into deliberate fitness, likely by partnering with Peloton; (4) increase 

funding for development of third-party VR fitness apps; and (5) do nothing and maintain the status 

quo.  PX0127, at 2–4.  The record reflects that, although Meta initially pursued the first three 

options in parallel, the frontrunner was the  acquisition until approximately June 2021 when 

Meta pivoted to acquire Within.  See, e.g., PX0179, at 1–2 (indicating that action items included 

pursuing due diligence for both Supernatural and  and having Stojsavljevic “present a 

proposal to Rabkin on expanding Beat Saber to deliberate fitness”), Mar. 11, 2021; PX0284, at 1 

(drafting email to Michael Verdu summarizing the “pros/cons of  vs. Supernatural”), Mar. 

18, 2021; DX1012, at 1, 3 (“[Zuckerberg] asked if we were engaged with [Within]. . . . [Bosworth] 

responded that our focus has been on .”), May 26, 2021.  Notably, even though Meta 

personnel had considered the option to increase third-party funding without entering the market 

and an option to do nothing as comparison, there was never an option for Meta to build its own 

VR dedicated fitness app to enter the market de novo.  

Given the degree of analysis evident from these strategy documents, the Court finds that 

Meta had only considered the acquisition of Within, the acquisition of , and the partnership 

of Beat Saber with Peloton as feasible means to enter the relevant market.  These three options, 

therefore, comprise the universe of “available feasible means” that the Court will consider for the 

purposes of the FTC’s actual potential competition claim.  

a. Entry by Acquisition  

Meta’s first two means of entry into the relevant market were both entries by acquisitions, 

either .  The evidentiary record indicates that these two options were both 

among the earliest proposals presented to Mark Zuckerberg, as well as the last two considered 

before Meta decided to acquire Within.  See, e.g., supra Section I.D.  

The evidence supports a finding that, but for its pursuit of Within as an acquisition, there 

was a reasonably probability that  

  However, the inquiry before the Court is not whether it was reasonably probable that Meta 
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  The FTC has argued almost exclusively that Meta’s “available feasible 

means” of entering the relevant market is by de novo entry, not acquisition.  The FTC also does 

not take the position  that could have also 

conceivably had procompetitive effects.  See, e.g., Mot. 21 (noting that Meta’s entry into the 

market would have “introduce[ed] a strong, well-established new rival to Supernatural and 

FitXR”); see also Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. at 625 (defining a toehold acquisition as a 

“small existing entrant”).   

Accordingly, the Court does not consider the “reasonable probability” that Meta could 

have entered the VR dedicated fitness market  as an 

“available feasible means” for the purposes of the actual potential competition analysis.  

b. Entry by Beat Saber–Peloton Partnership 

This brings us to the final means—and the FTC’s main theory—by which Meta could have 

entered the VR dedicated fitness market: expanding its existing rhythm game app Beat Saber into 

dedicated fitness and partnering with a fitness brand.  The FTC claims that Meta scrapped this 

Beat Saber proposal once it learned that Within was at risk of being acquired by Apple.  Mot. 10, 

20–21.  However, this theory is neither supported by the contemporaneous remarks regarding the 

Beat Saber proposal nor the timing of the subsequent investigation into this proposal.  

First, the evidentiary record is unclear as to what exactly the widely referenced Beat 

Saber–Peloton proposal would even look like.  On some occasions, Stojsavljevic—the proposal’s 

primary advocate—refers to it as a “brand licensing w/ Peloton” or a “co-branding . . . Peloton 

mode inside Beat Saber.”  PX0144, at 1, Mar. 8, 2021; PX0407, at 1, Mar. 15, 2021.  On other 

occasions, Stojsavljevic considers whether the proposal would be a separate Quest Store app.  

PX0407, at 2.  Michael Verdu—another proponent of expanding Beat Saber into fitness—also 

recalled that the proposal never reached a point of “understanding what that partnership would 

look like.”  Verdu Dep. 201:14–23 (“[I]s it a Peloton-branded headset?  Is it Peloton-branded 

content inside of our headset?  Like we didn’t even get to the point where we were exploring at 

that level of detail.”).  This uncertainty is consistent with the March 2021 “Beat Saber x Peloton 
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Opportunity Identification” presentation that  prepared at Stojsavljevic’s request, 

which indicated that part of  task would be to define the partnership opportunity and 

determine how to present the proposal to Peloton.  PX0121, at 5–6, Mar. 25, 2021.  Ultimately, 

Stojsavljevic did not even engage  to proceed with her proposed research into the Beat 

Saber proposal.  PX0052 (“Stojsavljevic Dep.”) 219:23–220:1. 

Second, the Beat Saber–Peloton proposal did not enjoy uniform or even widespread 

support among the Meta personnel who were researching VR fitness opportunities.  See PX341, at 

2 (“Jane and Anand were arguing with me [Stojsavljevic] when I was proposing Beat Saber x 

Peloton and thought we should buy  or Supernatural instead.”), June 11, 2021.  Particularly, 

Jane Chiao had consistently and contemporaneously expressed doubts regarding the feasibility of 

repositioning Beat Saber to fitness.  See PX0492, at 1, 7 (“Jane’s quick thoughts” included a 

section titled “Why not Beat Saber?” setting forth reasons against pivoting Beat Saber to fitness), 

Mar. 9, 2021.  In one exchange, Chiao commented that  

 

.”  PX0251, at 2, 

Mar. 4, 2021.  Chiao’s opinion was informed by the previous difficulties she had in attempting to 

reposition Meta’s social functions for other uses.  Id. at 2–3 (  

). 

Third, the timeline and dearth of contemporaneous internal discussions on the Beat 

Games–Peloton proposal is inconsistent with the FTC’s narrative that the Within acquisition 

derailed an otherwise full-speed effort to explore the Beat Games proposal.  See generally DDX07 

(Defendants’ timeline demonstrative), at 31.  In short, the idea was raised and endorsed by 

Stojsavljevic on March 11, 2021 (PX0179); he solicited feedback from his peers a few days later 

(PX0407); and on March 25, 2021, he received a quote for a contractor to look into the proposal, 

but did not proceed with it (PX0121).  After this initial scramble, the record reflects no further 

discussion about expanding Beat Saber into fitness before June 2021, when Meta began pursuing 

Within as an acquisition.  Although the FTC argues that there is no direct evidence that Meta had 
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deliberately dropped the Beat Saber proposal, the absence of active discussions could just as 

reasonably—and the Court finds that it does—support Meta’s explanation that the Beat Saber 

proposal had lost momentum after March 2021.  The proposal’s main driver, Stojsavljevic, 

testified that he had already “slowed down before [Meta’s decision to pursue Within],” because he 

was busy with another Meta acquisition.  Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 165:12–17.  Although subjective 

corporate testimony is generally deemed self-serving and entitled to low weight, Stojsavljevic’s 

lack of bandwidth is corroborated by his contemporaneous decision to outsource the research for 

the Beat Games proposal.  See PX0121, at 1; see also Stojsavljevic Hr’g Tr. 163:25–165:11.   

Moreover, when viewed alongside Meta’s history with Beat Saber, these two months of 

inactivity between March and June 2021 appear to have been the norm rather than the exception.  

Although Meta employees like Verdu were excited about Beat Saber’s potential as a vector into 

fitness, Meta has never been able to execute on that excitement in any of the years since they 

acquired Beat Saber.  Verdu Dep. 178:12–20 (“[I]t was the perpetual white whale quest to get . . . 

Beat Games to build a fitness version of Beat Saber, which was like pushing on a string.  We tried 

and tried and tried, and they never picked it up.”); see PX0123 (“[ ] was on the goal 

list for the [beat] saber acquisition. . . . But that goal was never followed up on.”), Sept. 15, 2021.   

Finally, the FTC cites two instances of contemporaneous Meta communications that 

suggest the Beat Saber proposal had not died on the vine when Meta pivoted to acquiring Within.  

See FTC Closing Hr’g Tr. 1495:10–24.  The first is Verdu’s comment on June 20, 2021, that Meta 

was “in the midst of a strategy exercise to decide between our alternatives when Supernatural 

became in play (supposedly pursued by Apple), which accelerated everything.”  PX0117, June 10, 

2021 (emphasis added).  The FTC asserts that the referenced “alternatives” included the Beat 

Saber–Peloton proposal; however, this theory is inconsistent with the fact that there had been no 

internal discussion of the proposal in the preceding two months.  The more likely interpretation is 

that “alternatives” referred to  

  See PX0253, at 1.   

The second communication arose in the context of  
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requested a sale price of .  PX0123, at 2, Sept. 15, 2021.  In discussing alternatives to 

the Within acquisition, Jason Rubin suggested that another  

  Id.  He 

also suggested, “We might be able to buy , rebrand and redesign to Beat aesthetics.”  Id.  In 

assessing the weight of these statements, the Court makes a few contextual observations.  At the 

time Rubin made his comments, he had only been in his role for about six weeks; Verdu (an 

employee with extensive knowledge of Meta’s history with VR fitness) previously held the role.  

PX0066 (“Rubin Dep.”) 28:8–15 (“On August 1st, I took or was handed the role that I have right 

now . . . and inherited [the Meta–Within] acquisition in full swing.”).  Rubin also testified that, 

before switching roles, he “was not aware of anything having to do with fitness at all in the VR 

world” and had no knowledge of “how the company had come to its decision making to acquire 

[Within].”  Id. 126:9–127:11.  Perhaps on a record with more corroborating evidence, Rubin’s 

remarks may warrant more substantial weight towards the FTC’s theory that the Beat Saber fitness 

proposal remained a live proposition.  However, given that Ruben’s remarks appeared to have 

been made off the cuff, are inconsistent with the overall weight of the evidence, and were made at 

a time when he was likely still unfamiliar with VR fitness and Meta’s history, the Court is 

disinclined to accord any significant weight to Rubin’s comments.   

For all these reasons, the Court finds that it was not “reasonably probable” that Meta 

would have repositioned their top-selling VR app, Beat Saber, into a dedicated fitness app, even 

assuming that it could have identified a partner willing to provide VR fitness content.  

* * * 

After reviewing the evidentiary record and the parties’ arguments, the Court concludes that 

it is not “reasonably probable” that Meta would enter the market for VR dedicated fitness apps if it 

could not consummate the Acquisition.  Though Meta boasts considerable financial and VR 

engineering resources, it did not possess the capabilities unique to VR dedicated fitness apps, 

specifically fitness content creation and studio production facilities.  As a VR platform developer, 

Meta can enjoy many of the promising benefits of VR fitness growth without itself intervening in 
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the VR fitness app market.  Finally, the proposal for Meta to expand Beat Saber into fitness was 

not “reasonably probable” for a whole host of reasons, in addition to the aforementioned obstacles 

to Meta’s de novo entry.   

Accordingly, the Court finds that Meta did not have the “available feasible means” to enter 

the relevant market other than by acquisition.  Because the FTC has not met its burden on this 

element, the Court does not proceed to the issue of whether Meta’s de novo entry was substantially 

likely to deconcentrate or result in other procompetitive effects in the relevant market.  

In so finding, the Court concludes that the FTC has failed to establish a likelihood that it 

would ultimately succeed on the merits as to its Section 7 claim based on the actual potential 

competition theory.  

E. Perceived Potential Competition  

In addition to its claim that the Acquisition would lessen competition pursuant to the actual 

potential competition theory, the FTC also claims that the Acquisition violates Section 7 under the 

perceived potential competition theory.  FAC ¶¶ 97–102.  Under this theory, the FTC argues that 

the Acquisition would eliminate the competitive influence that Meta exerts on firms within the 

relevant market by virtue of its presence on the fringes of the market.  See, e.g., United States v. 

Falstaff Brewing Corp., 410 U.S. 526, 559–60 (1973). 

To prevail on a claim that the Acquisition would have eliminate perceived potential 

competition, the FTC must establish—in addition to showing a highly concentrated market, see 

Section III.C—the following: (1) Meta possessed the “characteristics, capabilities, and economic 

incentive to render it a perceived potential de novo entrant”; and (2) Meta’s “premerger presence 

on the fringe of the target market in fact tempered oligopolistic behavior on the part of existing 

participants in that market.”  United States v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc., 418 U.S. 602, 625 

(1974).  The same objective facts regarding Meta’s capability of entering the market under an 

actual potential competition theory are also “probative of violation of § 7 through loss of a 

procompetitive on-the-fringe influence.”  Falstaff Brewing, 410 U.S. at 534 n.13; see also Black & 

Decker, 430 F. Supp. at 770.  However, whereas a claim for actual potential competition may 
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consider the potential entrant’s intent to enter the market, a perceived potential competition claim 

ignores the potential entrant’s subjective intent to enter the market and instead focuses on the 

subjective perceptions of the in-market firms.  See Falstaff Brewing, 410 U.S. at 533–36.   

1. Potential Entrant Characteristics 

In evaluating the FTC’s perceived potential competition claim, the Court considers the 

same objective evidence regarding Meta’s capabilities and incentives to enter the relevant market.  

Unsurprisingly, and for the same reasons explained above, the objective evidence in the record is 

insufficient to support a finding that it was “reasonably probable” Meta would enter the relevant 

market for purposes of the perceived potential competition doctrine.  See supra, Section III.D.2.  

Nor does the subjective evidence of the in-market firms’ perceptions move the needle on 

this point.  Although the FTC produced some evidence that Within co-founders and employees 

had expressed concern that Beat Saber or its fans could create a fitness version to compete with 

Supernatural, these statements are mostly stale with some significantly preceding the relevant time 

period.  The FTC’s strongest evidence that  

were statements made  

before Supernatural even entered the VR market in April 2020.  See, e.g., PX0627, at 2 

 

 

 

 

The FTC has only produced one document that 

post-dates Supernatural’s launch, which is a June 2020 “Supernatural Product Strategy” 

presentation that noted  

  PX0615, at 8.  However, even this document’s weight is undercut by the fact that it 

was created nearly a year before Meta began pursuing Within as an acquisition target.14  

 
14 The FTC also produces an April 2021 internal communication from Meta, where a Meta 
employee remarked that Within “very much worry that [Meta] will create a fitness first app 
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Furthermore, subsequent but still contemporaneous evidence indicated that Within 

eventually came to ”  DX1083, at 

10, Sept. 22, 2020.  In a September 2020 text conversation with a Within investor, Within’s co-

founder Chris Milk explained that  

  Id. at 7.  In the same 

conversation, Milk  

 

  Id. at 67–68.   

In summary, the evidentiary record indicates that  

 

 

  This finding, in addition to the overall absence of testimony from 

other in-market firms, would suggest that the FTC has failed to demonstrate that it was 

“reasonably probable” that Meta was perceived as a potential competitor into the relevant market.  

However, even if the FTC had prevailed on this element, the Court is convinced that it did not 

satisfy the second required showing for a perceived potential competition claim.  

2. Tempering Effect  

Under the second element of the perceived potential competition claim, the FTC must 

establish that Meta’s “premerger presence on the fringe of the target market in fact tempered 

oligopolistic behavior on the part of existing participants in that market.”  Marine Bancorporation, 

418 U.S. at 624–25 (emphasis added).  In other words, the FTC must present evidence that it was 

“reasonably probable” that Meta’s presence as a potential competitor had a direct effect on the 

firms in the VR Dedicated Fitness market.   

 

internally that takes their market share.”  PX0514, at 2, Apr. 23, 2021.  The Court is doubtful of 
the probative value of this hearsay statement, and the FTC has not produced any evidence to 
corroborate this statement.  FTC Closing Hr’g Tr. 1498:2–9 (“[W]e heard from Ms. Brown, and 
you may recall that she did not remember much, if anything at all, about this document. . . . It’s up 
to this court to judge her credibility on that store.  But she did say that she was being truthful when 
she wrote this.”).  
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In setting forth this standard, the Court rejects the FTC’s suggestion that it need only 

provide “[p]robabilistic proof of ‘likely influence’ on existing competitors.”  Mot. 21.  This 

interpretation arises from the language used by the Supreme Court in a footnote from Falstaff 

Brewing, specifically “[t]he Government did not produce direct evidence of how members of the 

[relevant] market reacted to potential competition from [the potential entrant], but circumstantial 

evidence is the lifeblood of antitrust law.”  410 U.S. at 534 n.13 (emphasis added).  The Court 

reads this language to mean the FTC need not provide direct evidence of Within adopting its 

conduct to account for Meta’s presence (e.g., a hypothetical internal email at Within expressly 

communicating fear of Meta’s imminent entry and taking actions in anticipation).  Direct 

evidence, however, is distinguishable from evidence of a direct effect experienced within the 

relevant market (e.g., circumstantial evidence that Within reduced prices shortly after Meta’s 

hypothetical public announcement that it was looking into the VR Dedicated Fitness market).  

This interpretation is supported by the Supreme Court’s statement of the law in Marine 

Bancorporation, 418 U.S. at 624–25 (requiring “presence . . . in fact tempered oligopolistic 

behavior”) and the Second Circuit’s interpretation in Tenneco, Inc. v. FTC, 689 F.2d 346, at 358 

(“The Commission is correct that it need not produce direct evidence that [acquired company] 

altered its actions in response to a perception of [potential entrant] ‘in the wings.’  However, it 

must produce at least circumstantial evidence that [potential entrant’s] presence probably directly 

affected competitive activity in the market.”) (emphasis added).  Accordingly, the FTC must 

produce some evidence—direct or circumstantial—that Meta’s presence had a direct effect on the 

firms in the relevant market.  

Under this standard, the FTC’s evidence on this element is insufficient.  The only evidence 

that suggests any kind of effect in the relevant market is that Within cited, as reasons not to reduce 

headcount at Within shortly before launching Supernatural,  

 

  PX0620, at 36, Mar. 8, 2020.  As noted 

above, Within and Supernatural had not even entered the relevant market at the time of this 
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presentation.  Consequently, this cannot be evidence of a direct effect within the VR dedicated 

fitness app market; rather, they are the preemptive considerations of a firm contemplating entry 

into the market.  Moreover, the evidence indicates that Within had 

.  See supra 

Section III.E.1.  Other than this presentation, the FTC suggests that 

”  PX0621, at 2, Dec. 8, 2020.  Although 

this is circumstantial evidence that Within was concerned about hypothetical potential entrants, 

absent further evidence, this email is no basis to infer the critical nexus, i.e., that Meta was one 

such potential entrant.  

The Court recognizes that its interpretation of the “effect” requirement sides with 

Defendants’ position set forth in their Motion to Dismiss.  ECF No. 108, at 15–16; ECF No. 162, 

at 10–12.  Although the Court ultimately determines that the FTC’s evidence has not established 

that Meta’s presence had a direct effect on Within’s behavior, it finds that the FTC’s pleadings are 

sufficient.  The FTC had alleged that Within was “concerned about making any moves that would 

hurt its ability to compete against Meta as a potential entrant” and provided an example.  FAC ¶ 

101. At the pleadings stage, this satisfies their burden.  Accordingly, the Court DENIES

Defendants’ motion to dismiss the perceived potential competition claim.  

In summary, the Court finds that the objective evidence does not support a reasonable 

probability that firms in the relevant market perceived Meta as a potential entrant.  Even if it did, 

the Court finds that there is no direct or circumstantial evidence to suggest that Meta’s presence 

did in fact temper oligopolistic behavior or result in any other procompetitive benefits.  

Accordingly, the FTC has not demonstrated a likelihood of ultimate success as to its Section 7 

claim arising from perceived potential competition. 

F. Balancing of Equities

Because the FTC has not demonstrated a likelihood of ultimate success on the merits per 

the first § 13(b) element, the Court need not proceed to the balance the equities in the second 
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portion of the § 13(b) inquiry. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Court ORDERS as follows:  

1. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is DENIED; 

2. Defendants’ Motion to Strike is DENIED AS MOOT; and  

3. Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction is DENIED.  

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: January 31, 2023 

 

  

EDWARD J. DAVILA 
United States District Judge 
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COMPLAINT 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), and by 
virtue of the authority vested in it by the FTC Act, the Federal Trade Commission 
(“Commission”), having reason to believe that Respondents Microsoft Corp. (“Microsoft”), and 
Activision Blizzard, Inc. (“Activision”) have executed a merger agreement in violation of 
Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, which if consummated would violate Section 7 of the 
Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, and it appearing to the 
Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be in the public interest, hereby 
issues its complaint pursuant to Section 5(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(b), and Section 
11(b) of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 21(b), stating its charges as follows: 
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NATURE OF THE CASE 

1. Microsoft and Sony control the market for high-performance video game 
consoles. The number of independent companies capable of developing standout video games for 
those consoles has contracted, with only a small group of firms commanding that space today. 
Microsoft now proposes to acquire Activision, one of the most valuable of those developers, in a 
vertical merger valued at nearly $70 billion (the “Proposed Acquisition”) that will increase 
Microsoft’s already considerable power in video games. If consummated, the Proposed 
Acquisition would be the largest in the history of the video game industry and the largest in 
Microsoft’s history. The Proposed Acquisition would continue Microsoft’s pattern of taking 
control of valuable gaming content. With control of Activision’s content, Microsoft would have 
the ability and increased incentive to withhold or degrade Activision’s content in ways that 
substantially lessen competition—including competition on product quality, price, and 
innovation. This loss of competition would likely result in significant harm to consumers in 
multiple markets at a pivotal time for the industry.  

2. Microsoft, one of only two manufacturers of high-performance video game 
consoles, develops and sells Xbox gaming consoles. Microsoft is vertically integrated: through 
its in-house game studios, it develops and publishes popular video game titles such as Halo. 
Such in-house games are known as “first-party” titles in the industry. Microsoft also offers a 
leading video game subscription service, Xbox Game Pass, for which customers pay a monthly 
fee to access a library of hundreds of first- and third-party video games for console or personal 
computer (“PC”). The top tier of Xbox Game Pass, called Xbox Game Pass Ultimate, includes 
“cloud gaming” functionality that enables subscribers to stream certain games, as opposed to 
downloading games locally, and then to play those games across a variety of devices including 
consoles, PCs, tablets, and mobile phones. 

3. Activision develops and publishes high-quality video games for multiple devices, 
including video game consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s games include high-
quality games that are commonly referred to in the industry as “AAA” titles. AAA games are 
costly to produce because of the creative talent, budgets, and time required for development. 
Gamers highly anticipate the release of AAA games.  

4. Activision produces some of the most iconic video game titles, including several 
leading AAA franchises. For example, Activision develops the popular franchises Diablo and 
Overwatch and the marquee franchise Call of Duty.  

5. The Diablo and Overwatch AAA franchises are among several Activision 
franchises that have individually earned more than in lifetime revenues. Overwatch 
just released a successful new title, Overwatch 2, available for play on multiple gaming consoles 
and PCs. Diablo, a long-running franchise first introduced in the 1990s, has a highly anticipated 
new title, Diablo IV, slated for release in early 2023. 
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6. Activision and industry participants recognize Call of Duty as Activision’s “key 
product franchise.” Call of Duty was originally launched in 2003, and Activision releases new 
titles for the franchise on an annual basis. Activision allocates substantial resources to the 
franchise. As many as  primary development studios are devoted to it at any one time and its 
budget is significantly larger than other AAA titles. 

7. By any measure, Call of Duty is a leading AAA franchise. It is one of the most 
successful console-game franchises ever. From its launch in 2003 up through 2020, it generated 
$27 billion in revenues. Call of Duty also has a massive following, with million monthly 
active users (“MAU”) in 2020, according to an Activision strategy document. Its loyal fanbase 
and enduring appeal have made it particularly valuable, influencing gamer engagement and 
gaming product adoption. The franchise has achieved sustained dominance over the past decade, 
with Call of Duty titles comprising 10 of the top 15 console games sold between 2010–2019. No 
other franchise had more than one title in the top 15. Call of Duty has continued to top the charts 
in 2020 and 2021, and its latest installment, Modern Warfare II, amassed more than $1 billion in 
sales within just ten days of its release and is on track to outsell all other games this year despite 
not having been released until late October 2022. The previous franchise record was held by Call 
of Duty: Black Ops II, which took 15 days to hit the $1 billion mark. 

8. Activision’s content is extremely important for, and drives adoption of, video 
game consoles. Given their immense popularity, Activision’s titles are of particular importance 
to console makers, including Microsoft’s competition. 

9. Microsoft produces its own first-party video game titles. Microsoft has acquired 
over ten third-party studios and their titles in recent years to expand its offerings. Microsoft has 
frequently made those acquired titles exclusive to its own consoles and/or subscription services, 
eliminating the opportunity for consumers to play those titles on rival products or services. By 
taking games exclusive, Microsoft strengthens the position of its console and subscription 
service products relative to competitors.  

10. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition 
or tend to create a monopoly in multiple markets because it will create a combined firm with the 
ability and increased incentive to use its control of Activision titles to disadvantage Microsoft’s 
competitors. The Proposed Acquisition also may accelerate an ongoing trend towards vertical 
integration and consolidation in, and raise barriers to entering, the relevant markets.  

11. Microsoft’s ownership of Activision would provide Microsoft with the ability to 
withhold or degrade Activision content through various means, including manipulating 
Activision’s pricing, degrading game quality or player experience on rival offerings, changing 
the terms and timing of access to Activision’s content, or withholding content from competitors 
entirely. 
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12. Microsoft’s past conduct provides a preview of the combined firm’s likely plans if 
it consummates the Proposed Acquisition, despite any assurances the company may offer 
regarding its plans. In March 2021, Microsoft acquired ZeniMax Media Inc. (“ZeniMax”), the 
parent company of the well-known game developer and publisher Bethesda Softworks LLC 
(“Bethesda”). Microsoft assured the European Commission (“EC”) during its antitrust review of 
the ZeniMax purchase that Microsoft would not have the incentive to withhold ZeniMax titles 
from rival consoles. But, shortly after the EC cleared the transaction, Microsoft made public its 
decision to make several of the newly acquired ZeniMax titles, including Starfield, Redfall, and 
Elder Scrolls VI, Microsoft exclusives. 

13. Today, Activision touts that it is  and seeks to offer its games 
wherever gamers want to be playing them. It has an incentive to offer its titles broadly. 
Microsoft’s ownership of Activision’s content would alter that dynamic. As Microsoft seeks to 
increase its profits from the lucrative video game industry, the Proposed Acquisition will 
increase Microsoft’s incentive to withhold Activision content from, or degrade Activision 
content on, consoles and subscription services that compete with Xbox consoles and Xbox Game 
Pass. Such conduct would be reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition and harm 
gamers in the United States.   

14. These effects are likely to be felt throughout the video gaming industry. The 
Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition and/or tend to 
create a monopoly in both well-developed and new, burgeoning markets, including high-
performance consoles, multi-game content library subscription services, and cloud gaming 
subscription services. 

JURISDICTION 

15. Respondents Microsoft and Activision are each “corporations” as defined in 
Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and in Section 1 of the Clayton 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12.  

16. Respondents are engaged in activities in or affecting “commerce” as defined in 
Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and in Section 1 of the Clayton 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12.  

17. The Proposed Acquisition constitutes a merger subject to Section 7 of the Clayton 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18. 

RESPONDENTS AND THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION 

18.  Respondent Microsoft is a publicly traded technology company incorporated in 
the State of Washington with headquarters in Redmond, Washington. Microsoft sells software, 
services, and devices across the technology industry and is among the most valuable companies 
in the world. Microsoft’s gaming division produces Xbox hardware and Xbox content and 
services. Its total gaming revenues in FY2022 were over $16 billion. Microsoft’s total revenues 
in FY2022 were over $198 billion.  
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19. Respondent Activision is a publicly traded company, incorporated in the State of 
Delaware with headquarters in Santa Monica, California. Activision develops and publishes 
video games for consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s revenues in FY2021, its most 
recently reported fiscal year, were $8.8 billion.  

20. Microsoft entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Activision on 
January 18, 2022, for an all-cash purchase price of $95 per Activision share and a total estimated 
value of $68.7 billion.  

BACKGROUND 

21. Activision’s gaming content is extremely important in a gaming industry where 
content availability shapes gamers’ decisions about which video game consoles and services to 
purchase. If the Proposed Acquisition is allowed to proceed, Microsoft would gain control of 
Activision’s content and have the ability and increased incentive to withhold or degrade 
Activision’s content, which is reasonably likely to reduce competition and cause a number of 
harmful outcomes, including dampened innovation, diminished consumer choice, higher prices 
and/or lower quality products, and harm to the millions of Americans who benefit from 
competition in video game consoles and subscription services. 

22. Today, gaming is the largest category in the entertainment industry, with revenues 
that far exceed those of both the film and music industries. This year, the gaming industry is 
expected to be worth more than $170 billion in global revenues, five times greater than global 
movie box office revenues. 

23. Gaming’s unrivaled popularity among consumers is expected to continue. 
Microsoft projects global gaming revenues to grow to  billion in annual sales by . 
Microsoft also expects the number of gamers worldwide to increase significantly, expanding by 
another  billion players and reaching  of the global population over the next  years.  

24. Video game content and services are generally available on a variety of devices, 
including video game consoles that are predominantly used for playing video games; PCs, 
including general purpose PCs as well as high-performance gaming PCs configured to play 
computationally demanding games; and mobile devices.   

25. Consumers purchase consoles based on the technological capability of the 
console, the price, and the games available for that specific console, among other factors.  

I. Consoles 

26. For gamers who play games on gaming consoles today, the most popular options, 
Microsoft’s Xbox, Sony’s PlayStation, and Nintendo’s Switch, come from the same trio of 
companies that have been manufacturing consoles for decades with no meaningful new 
competition.  
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27. Since the 1970s, competing video game console makers have periodically 
released consoles featuring the latest technological advances, with a new generation of consoles 
released approximately every five to ten years. Within the video game industry, competition for 
sales and technological supremacy is commonly referred to as “the console wars.” 

28. Of these three console makers, PlayStation and Xbox compete in a high-
performance segment that includes only the most technologically advanced and capable 
consoles. In November 2020, both Microsoft and Sony launched their current generation of 
consoles, the Xbox Series X and Series S consoles (collectively, “Xbox Series X|S”) and the 
PlayStation 5 and PlayStation 5 Digital Edition consoles (collectively, “PS5”), respectively. 
Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are the only high-performance consoles available today, and 
are considered to be in the ninth generation of gaming consoles. In contrast, Nintendo’s most 
recent console—the Nintendo Switch—is not a ninth-generation gaming console. The Nintendo 
Switch was released in 2017, in the latter half of the eighth generation of gaming consoles, which 
had begun in approximately 2013. The Nintendo Switch (“Switch”) also has lower 
computational performance, more in line with Microsoft’s and Sony’s eighth generation 
consoles.  

29. The Xbox Series X|S are two ninth-generation Xbox consoles offered by 
Microsoft. The Series X is a more powerful console while the Series S is more affordable. 
Together, these consoles provide Microsoft’s   

30. Microsoft closely tracks the performance of its Xbox consoles relative to Sony’s 
PlayStation consoles. For example, in FY2022, the first full year that Xbox Series X|S consoles 
were available, one of Microsoft’s key metrics for evaluating success was  

 In internal communications, Microsoft executives 
regularly discuss . 

31. Xbox Series X|S consoles have been a commercial success. In a July 26, 2022 
earnings call, Microsoft CEO Satya Nadella announced that the company “ha[d] been the market 
leader in North America for three quarters in a row among next gen consoles.”  

32. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are  from a broad 
consumer perspective, in a number of technical specifications, including offering similar 
graphics, user experiences, and hardware features. In addition, the Xbox Series X and 
PlayStation 5 are sold at the same price, while the Series S offers lower performance and is sold 
at a lower price. 

33. Other consoles lack the high performance of the Xbox Series X|S and PS5 
consoles. For example, the Nintendo Switch, which is designed to allow portable, handheld use, 
necessarily sacrifices computing power, which leaves it unable to play certain games that require 
more advanced graphic processing. Retailing at $299.99, the Nintendo Switch is also less 
expensive than the Xbox Series X and PlayStation 5 consoles, both priced at $499.99. While the 
Xbox Series S had the same retail price at launch as the Nintendo Switch, the graphical and 
processing capabilities of the Series S are much more aligned with the Xbox Series X and PS5 
consoles. The Xbox Series S enables gamers to play the same video games as the Xbox Series X, 
both of which offer more graphically advanced gameplay than on the Nintendo Switch.  
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II. Gaming Content 

A. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services  

34. For the last several decades, gamers have purchased games through a “buy-to-
play” model: either purchasing physical copies of games or, more prevalent today, purchasing 
digital copies of individual games that gamers download to their gaming console, PC, or other 
device.  

35. Recent years, however, have seen the expansion of a subscription model. Multi-
game content library subscription services allow gamers to access a library of games for a fixed 
monthly or yearly fee. Microsoft’s multi-game content library subscription service, Xbox Game 
Pass, launched in 2017, rapidly grew to 10 million subscribers by 2020 and in 2022 announced it 
had grown to 25 million subscribers.  

36. Xbox Game Pass provides subscribers with unlimited access to a library of over 
300 first- and third-party games at no additional cost. The service is priced at $9.99 per month 
for gamers who seek to download games to play solely on an Xbox console or solely on a PC. 
The higher tiered service, Xbox Game Pass Ultimate, priced at $14.99 per month, allows gamers 
to download games for play on either an Xbox console or a PC, and additionally enables gamers 
to stream games from an off-site server to any web-enabled local device that can access Game 
Pass (e.g., an Xbox console, PC, mobile device, or smart TV).   

37. Sony also offers a multi-game content library subscription service, PlayStation 
Plus, which at certain tiers is comparable to Xbox Game Pass. The lower comparable tier, 
PlayStation Plus Extra, priced at $14.99 per month, provides access to a library of hundreds of 
games that can be played on PlayStation consoles as well as online multiplayer access, discounts 
on other games, and cloud storage. The higher comparable tier, PlayStation Plus Premium, 
priced at $17.99 per month, provides access to an even larger library of games that can be played 
on PlayStation, along with cloud streaming.   

38. In addition to Sony’s PlayStation Plus Extra and Premium, other multi-game 
content library subscription services include EA Play and Ubisoft+. EA Play, starting at $4.99 
per month, and Ubisoft+, starting at $14.99 per month, each offer access only to content from the 
respective publishers, Electronic Arts Inc. (“EA”) and Ubisoft Entertainment SA (“Ubisoft”).  

B. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services  

39. Today, video game software typically runs locally on the player’s gaming device. 
Recently, however, cloud gaming subscription services have been introduced that allow players 
to stream games that run on remote hardware without downloading the game locally. The 
primary processing for the game occurs in off-site datacenters and a live feed of the game is 
streamed to the player’s device. 
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40. Microsoft touts numerous benefits of cloud gaming to customers. Cloud gaming 
enables gamers to begin playing a game in seconds, rather than waiting for games to download 
or update, and streaming rather than downloading avoids burdening the storage limits on a 
gaming device. Cloud gaming also broadens access to gaming by expanding the universe of 
devices that can play games. Today, cloud gaming subscription services are available on 
consoles, Windows PC, Mac PC, Chromebook PC, tablet, mobile phones, and some smart TVs, 
with device compatibility varying by service. This permits gamers to play computationally 
demanding games on less powerful devices that otherwise lack the computing power or storage 
to support the games.  

41. In September 2020, Microsoft added cloud gaming to its top-tier multi-game 
content library subscription service offering, Xbox Game Pass Ultimate. To date, more than 20 
million gamers have used the service to stream games from the cloud. Microsoft has stated that 
cloud gaming subscription services are integral to its goal of expanding gaming to 3 billion 
gamers worldwide and enabling gamers “to play the games you want, with the people you want, 
anywhere you want.”  

42. Other cloud gaming subscription services include Amazon Luna, Nvidia GeForce 
NOW, and Google Stadia, although Alphabet Inc. has announced that it is discontinuing Stadia 
in January 2023. Amazon’s Luna+ (a tier of Amazon Luna), priced at $9.99 per month with 
additional options available for further purchases, provides streaming access to a library of over 
100 third-party games. Nvidia GeForce NOW, priced at $49.99 for six months for the Priority 
tier or $99.99 for six months for the RTX 3080 tier, allows gamers to stream game titles that they 
already own, with the streaming hosted on Nvidia Corporation (“Nvidia”) datacenters. Although 
it will soon be discontinued, Stadia Pro, priced at $9.99 per month with additional options for 
further purchases, allows gamers to stream games from a library of hundreds of third-party 
games. 

C. Importance of AAA Games 

43. AAA games are particularly important within the gaming industry. The term 
“AAA” is frequently used by industry participants to refer to highly anticipated games bearing 
similar characteristics: high development costs, superior graphical quality, and expectations of 
high unit sales and revenue, typically from a studio with large development and publishing 
teams, supported by extensive marketing and promotion. AAA content can act as  
content, where, as a consultant to Microsoft explained, it  

44. In the words of one Microsoft executive, AAA games are  They 
are also not numerous. Phil Spencer, CEO of Microsoft Gaming, estimates there are  

 

45. Production budgets for AAA games frequently exceed  million, if not  
million, and development teams can include thousands of developers working over several years. 
The high cost of AAA game development is driven by many factors such as long development 
cycles and the scarcity of AAA-capable studios and talent.  
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46. The gaming industry recognizes a limited top tier of independent game publishers,
sometimes referred to as the “Big 4” or simply the AAA publishers: Activision, Electronic Arts, 
Take-Two, and Ubisoft. These publishers reliably produce AAA games for high-performance 
consoles and collectively own a significant portion of the most valuable IP in the gaming 
industry. These high-profile franchises include, for example, Call of Duty (Activision), FIFA 
(EA), Grand Theft Auto (Take-Two), and Assassin’s Creed (Ubisoft).  

47. Only a few other studios are typically credited with releasing AAA games. Epic
Games, maker of Fortnite, a free-to-play game that is currently one of the most popular games in 
the United States, is sometimes viewed within the industry as a AAA-level publisher, such that 
industry participants will sometimes refer to the “Big 4 + Epic.”  

48. Internally, Microsoft recognizes that
Despite significant 

growth in the gaming industry, the head of Xbox Game Studios has noted
 Creating a studio 

with the capability to produce AAA games requires scarce talent and is a capital-intensive 
endeavor.  

49. Microsoft and Sony also produce AAA games. The Elder Scrolls, Halo, and
Forza franchises are AAA games from Microsoft, while the God of War, MLB The Show, and 
Spider-Man franchises are AAA games from Sony.  

50. Microsoft’s own experience with releasing AAA games reflects the cost and time
to develop such content. Halo Infinite, a recent title from the Microsoft’s first-party Halo 
franchise, was in production for  years, and cost almost $  million. Other AAA 
games may take even longer to develop. For instance, according to one Microsoft executive, 

 a forthcoming title from the  franchise, may take a  to 
develop. 

51. Access to AAA content is crucial for Microsoft, and the company strives to 
ensure that new AAA content is available on its console and subscription services on a regular 
basis. In May 2022, Mr. Spencer of Microsoft
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52. AAA content has particularly important downstream effects because it generates 
player interest, develops a base of users, and drives monetization opportunities. As Microsoft’s 
CEO has explained,  

 As an internal Microsoft 
document explained,  

 
 An internal strategy 

document on scaling Xbox Game Pass  

 

53. To differentiate their products from rivals, console manufacturers and 
subscription service providers may seek to make certain titles exclusive to their products and 
unavailable on rivals’ products, including by obtaining exclusive licenses from third-party game 
publishers. An internal Microsoft analysis estimates  

 Typically, exclusivity in this context does 
not prevent a game from being available for PC or other non-console devices. 

54. A diverse array of AAA content that increases adoption and engagement gives a 
console or subscription service greater leverage in attracting additional content. The console or 
subscription service can tout the size of its player base in negotiations with publishers and 
developers seeking to increase the discoverability and engagement of their content. As an 
internal Microsoft strategy document notes,  

 The result of these dynamics is to generate competition among console 
manufacturers and subscription service providers for AAA content.  

55. Microsoft Xbox’s Chief Marketing Officer has emphasized the importance of 
such content, noting:  

   

56. Microsoft expects that Activision’s AAA content 
 

. As Mr. Spencer explained to Microsoft investors, “[a]s our platform 
becomes more attractive, the flywheel of content creators and players accelerates. As the creative 
range on our platform continues to expand, more players are attracted to the service, and the 
growing scale of the customer base makes the platform more attractive for additional publishers, 
and so on.” 

57. Activision content is especially valuable to any gaming console or subscription 
service due to the ability of Activision games to drive sales and engagement. Activision’s CEO 
Bobby Kotick testified that Activision’s games are “ ” and “ ” Microsoft, in 
presentations to its Board of Directors regarding this Proposed Acquisition, called Activision’s 
content   
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58. Activision currently has a combined  million MAU globally across its console 
and PC games and the company expects this number to grow to over  million MAU by 2024. 
Activision’s statements reflect its ability to influence video game product purchase decisions. 

 
 

   

59. Even among AAA games, Activision’s most well-known franchise, Call of Duty, 
is particularly strong. First released nearly twenty years ago in 2003, Call of Duty is, in 
Activision’s own words, “one of the most successful entertainment franchises of all time.” In 
2021, Call of Duty: Vanguard topped the revenue charts as the best-selling game in the United 
States, with Call of Duty: Black Ops Cold War coming in second. And in 2022, Call of Duty: 
Modern Warfare II took in $1 billion globally in the first ten days following its launch. By 
comparison, the highest grossing film of the year so far, Top Gun: Maverick, took one month to 
reach the $1 billion threshold.  

RELEVANT MARKETS  

60. The Proposed Acquisition will result in a combined firm with the ability and 
increased incentive to withhold or degrade Activision’s valuable gaming content to undermine its 
competitors in multiple Relevant Markets. This anticompetitive behavior is reasonably likely to 
lead to reduced consumer choice, higher prices and/or lower quality products, and less 
innovation, and the Proposed Acquisition will not produce cognizable procompetitive effects 
sufficient to offset such harms.  

61. The Proposed Acquisition is likely to harm innovation, for instance, by decreasing 
the combined firm’s incentive to optimize Activision’s content for gameplay on rival hardware, 
thereby reducing the quality of consumer gaming experiences on competing products.  

62. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition 
or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets for High-Performance Consoles, Multi-
Game Content Library Subscription Services, and Cloud Gaming Subscription Services. The 
Proposed Acquisition is therefore reasonably likely to result in harm to both competition and 
consumers.  

I. High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Product Market 

63. High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Market for evaluating the likely 
competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition. 

64. The only High-Performance Consoles offered for sale today are the most recent 
generation of Microsoft Xbox and Sony PlayStation consoles—the Xbox Series X|S and the PS5. 
The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 are therefore included within the Relevant Market.  

65. The third major gaming console available today, the Nintendo Switch, is highly 
differentiated from the Xbox and PlayStation consoles in significant ways. The Nintendo Switch, 
therefore, is not included in the Relevant Market.   
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66. Microsoft’s Xbox Series X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles are characterized by 
greater computational power, different content portfolios, different form factors and technical 
specifications, generally higher prices, and different release cadences than the Nintendo Switch 
and other handheld consoles.   

a. Superior computational power enables faster processing that shapes the kind of 
content that can run on High-Performance Consoles, enabling higher resolution, more 
realistic graphics, and cutting-edge performance. Both Xbox Series X|S and PS5 
consoles have similar hardware, and Microsoft and Sony compete closely on 
hardware innovation, including over graphics and performance. Conversely, Nintendo 
pursues a different strategy of integrating its lower performance, portable hardware 
with its own distinctive first-party games to appeal to player nostalgia for Nintendo’s 
unique gaming experience over high resolution, life-like graphics, and performance 
speed. While Microsoft’s Xbox Series X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles incorporate 
semi-custom systems-on-a-chip (“SoC”) designed by AMD, Nintendo’s Switch runs 
on a non-AMD SoC that is more closely related to a mobile device processor found in 
higher-end mobile phones and tablets. 

b. Microsoft and Sony compete closely for high-quality, resource-intensive AAA 
console games. They compete over genre coverage, portfolio size and quality, and 
multiplayer game availability, and they routinely benchmark their  
against each other. A substantial share of High-Performance Console content is 
available on both Xbox and PlayStation consoles. By contrast, although Nintendo 
offers third-party content on the Switch, Nintendo’s main strategy centers on  

  

c. Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles provide a technologically advanced gaming 
experience from a stationary endpoint. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are 
plug-in devices that draw electrical power to support advanced computations and are 
connected to an external display like a television. In contrast, the Nintendo Switch is 
a portable battery-operated device with a built-in display screen, and it can optionally 
be connected to an external display. Nintendo’s Switch also has detachable 
controllers that can be used for motion-based game play that is not available on the 
Xbox or PlayStation consoles. Microsoft and Sony commonly benchmark against 
each other on   

d. The PlayStation 5 and the Xbox Series X, the companies’ latest flagship consoles, 
retail for $499.99. By contrast, the Nintendo Switch retails for $200 less at $299.99. 

e. Since the 2000s, Microsoft and Sony have released new console generations largely 
contemporaneously—most recently in 2020. The prior generation (Generation 8) 
Xbox One and PlayStation 4 were released in 2013, and the current generation 
(Generation 9) Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles were released in November 2020. 
By contrast, the Nintendo Switch launched in March 2017, nearly five years after the 
beginning of the eighth generation. 
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67. Microsoft’s own ordinary course documents regularly
 

Respondents conceded in a regulatory filing that  
.  

68. Due to their distinct offerings, Microsoft and Sony consoles appeal to different 
gaming audiences than the Nintendo Switch. While Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles offer 
more mature content for more serious gaming, Nintendo’s hardware and content tends to be used 
more for casual and family gaming. 

69. Indeed, “dual console owners” are more likely to own one High-Performance 
Console and a Nintendo Switch than two High-Performance Consoles. NPD Group, a trusted 
source for video game industry data, shows that as of 2020, nearly 40 percent of PlayStation and 
Xbox owners also owned a Switch, while only  percent of PlayStation console owners owned 
an Xbox and only  percent of Xbox console owners own a PlayStation.  

70. Other video gaming devices available today are not commercially reasonable 
alternatives to High-Performance Consoles and are therefore not included in the Relevant 
Market. These include gaming PCs, and mobile devices. 

71. Gaming PCs are distinct from High-Performance Consoles due to differences in 
price, hardware, performance, and functionality (i.e., where and when a game can be played), 
among other factors. Gaming PCs are therefore not included in the Relevant Market. Mobile 
devices are distinct from High-Performance Consoles due to differences in complexity and 
quality of game performance, content offerings, monetization approach, gameplay and interface, 
and audience, among other factors. Microsoft recently confirmed this factual distinction in 
testimony during the trial of Epic Games, Inc. v. Apple Inc., 559 F.Supp.3d 898, 981 (N.D. Cal. 
2021). Mobile gaming devices are therefore not included in the Relevant Market. 

72. High-Performance Consoles are a relevant antitrust market. However, although 
the Nintendo Switch is highly differentiated from the Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles, it 
shares many of the same characteristics that make High-Performance Consoles distinct from 
PCs, and mobile devices. Accordingly, the anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition 
alleged in this Complaint are also reasonably likely to occur in a broader market for gaming 
consoles that includes High-Performance Consoles and the highly differentiated Nintendo 
Switch.  

II. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a Relevant Product Market 

73. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a relevant product market 
for evaluating the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.  

74. The Relevant Market for Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services 
includes services that offer unlimited access to a library of video games that are predominantly 
played on non-mobile devices and are available to play at zero additional cost beyond the 
subscription fee, either via download or cloud streaming.  



14 
 

75. Microsoft is already a significant player in this market through its Xbox Game 
Pass offerings and continues to expand rapidly in this market. Microsoft offers three tiers of 
Game Pass, each of which provide unlimited access to hundreds of games, with Game Pass 
Ultimate also providing access to Xbox Cloud Gaming. Microsoft is already the market leader 
with an announced 25 million Game Pass subscribers. 

76. Each service competes aggressively to offer the best, most exciting titles to attract 
users to its service, with each attempting to provide access to a compelling library of high-end, 
AAA games. Services offer a range of incentives to developers and publishers including 
attractive revenue splits or co-marketing arrangements in order to ensure games are available on 
their services.  

77. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services rely on distinct pricing 
compared to the traditional “buy to play” model, where gamers purchase individual games for up 
to $70 per title, or more. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services seek to offer a new 
method of accessing games by offering access to an entire library of games for a periodic fee, 
rather than a single title for a fixed cost.  

78. Subscription services in the Relevant Market  
 Microsoft’s ordinary course documents show that 

 
For example, Xbox CFO Tim Stuart sent an email 

 
 Mr. Stuart went on to report:  

79. Buy-to-play games are not commercially reasonable alternatives and therefore are 
not included in the Relevant Market. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services provide 
immediate access to hundreds of game titles for a monthly fee, facilitating content discovery. 
The pricing of individual games does not dictate Microsoft’s pricing decisions for its Xbox 
Game Pass subscriptions. Additionally, when speaking with third-party game developers, 
Microsoft’s executives tout Game Pass as  

 Microsoft further showcases the additive nature of Game Pass through public 
statements that report Game Pass subscribers invest more time and money in gaming than their 
fellow gamers without a subscription.  

80. Subscription services that focus on enabling online multiplayer gaming, such as 
Xbox Live Gold and PlayStation Plus Essential, are not commercially reasonable alternatives 
and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Xbox Live Gold and PlayStation Plus 
Essential, as currently structured, award a limited number of free games as “bonus content.” 
These services do not provide access to the same breadth and diversity of content as Multi-Game 
Content Library Subscription Services and do not facilitate the same level of game 
discoverability.  
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81. Subscription services that do not offer a library of video games that are 
predominantly played on non-mobile devices are also not commercially reasonable alternatives 
and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Mobile-native games are distinct from 
games accessed natively on a console and from the most performant games accessed natively on 
a PC, due to differences in complexity and quality of game performance, monetization approach, 
gameplay and interface, and audience, among other factors.   

82. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services comprise a Relevant Market. 
The anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition also are reasonably likely to occur in 
any relevant antitrust market that contains Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services, 
including a combined Multi-Game Content Library and Cloud Gaming Subscription Services 
market.  

III.  Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a Relevant Market 

83. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a relevant product market for evaluating 
the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.  

84. The Relevant Market for Cloud Gaming Subscription Services includes services 
that offer the ability to play predominantly non-mobile video games via cloud streaming.  

85. The Relevant Market includes Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services 
that offer access to games via cloud streaming as well as any services that offer streaming via a 
“Bring Your Own Game” (“BYOG”) approach where users play games they own in their own 
personal library by streaming those games through their Cloud Gaming Subscription Service. In 
all cases, users pay a periodic fee, either monthly or yearly, to access the Cloud Gaming 
Subscription Service. 

86. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services provide a way to play games that is distinct 
from running them locally on the player’s gaming device. Such subscription services make 
predominantly non-mobile video games available instantly on a wide variety of devices, 
reducing the need for gamers to make large investments in expensive hardware, such as a High-
Performance Console or a gaming PC, and eliminating download time.  

87. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are designed to reach a different set of 
consumers than other forms of game distribution. These subscription services enable gaming on 
devices that do not meet the minimum specifications for large and technologically complex 
games, such as older and less expensive PCs, MacBooks, Chromebooks, tablets, mobile devices, 
and smart TVs. They also enable gamers to play games that were developed for other devices 
and/or operating systems. Microsoft has estimated that the total addressable market for cloud 
gaming is approximately 3 billion users, compared to  console users. 

88. Microsoft’s executives recognize the expanded opportunity Cloud Gaming 
Subscription Services offer. For example, Microsoft executives have explained that xCloud (now 
referred to as Xbox Cloud Gaming) offers  

and that  
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89. Microsoft’s documents show that  
. In a recap of insights and learnings from 

FY2022, the Xbox Cloud Gaming team reported that “  
 

 
  

90. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services also require specialized inputs. Cloud 
Gaming Subscription Services operate on cloud infrastructure, either by deploying their own 
dedicated infrastructure or by contracting with a third party. For example, Microsoft built Xbox 
Cloud Gaming by deploying racks of dedicated Xbox console hardware in Microsoft data 
centers, investing . Microsoft has plans to support  

 on its  in the future and expects to spend over  on Xbox 
Cloud Gaming infrastructure in the next several years. 

91. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a Relevant Market. The anticompetitive 
effects of the Proposed Acquisition alleged in this complaint are also likely to occur in any 
relevant antitrust market that contains Cloud Gaming Subscription Services, including a 
combined Multi-Game Content Library and Cloud Gaming Subscription Services market.  

IV. The Relevant Geographic Market is the United States 

92. The relevant geographic market in which to assess the Proposed Acquisition’s 
effects is the United States.  

93.  In each of the Relevant Markets, consumer preferences and gaming behavior 
differ across countries. Internal research from both Microsoft and Activision also finds 
significant variation among countries on metrics like  For 
its most recent Generation 9 consoles, Microsoft differentiated its  

 Given its large installed base 
of Generation 8 consoles, Microsoft placed the United States into a  

 along with only  other 
countries. Microsoft has identified the United States as a , 

.  

94. Microsoft is a leader in the United States in the Multi-Game Content Library 
Subscription Services market. As of the  

Microsoft offers Game Pass at different price 
points outside the United States.   

95. Microsoft and other Cloud Gaming Subscription Service providers have similarly 
focused on the United States . Microsoft launched 
Game Pass Ultimate first in the United States and Canada, with Nvidia’s GeForce NOW and 
Amazon Luna undertaking a similar strategy. Cloud Gaming Subscription Service providers also 
note that the proximity of cloud servers to gamers is important in light of the technological 
demands of cloud gaming.  
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ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS 

96. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition 
or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets by creating a combined firm with the 
ability and increased incentive to withhold Activision’s valuable gaming content from, or 
degrade Activision’s content for, Microsoft’s rivals. The combined firm would have the ability to 
exclude Microsoft’s rivals from access to some or all of Activision’s content in the Relevant 
Markets. Microsoft would have the power to decide if, when, and to what extent Activision 
content will be available on competing products. The Proposed Acquisition is likely to increase 
entry barriers, thereby dampening beneficial rivalry and innovation. If permitted to make 
Activision a captive supplier, Microsoft would have a substantially increased incentive to engage 
in strategies to that would likely lead to reduced consumer choice, higher prices or lower quality 
products, and less innovation. 

I. As the Owner of Activision’s Gaming Content, Microsoft Would Have the Ability to 
Disadvantage Rivals by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content in the Relevant 
Markets  

97. AAA gaming content is a substantially important input for High-Performance 
Consoles, Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services and Cloud Gaming Subscription 
Services, as these products use AAA content to attract and retain users and drive adoption. AAA 
content is difficult to produce given the intense resources and specialized competency required to 
develop these valuable games.   

98. Activision is a leader amongst an already limited number of developers able to 
produce such content through its cherished gaming franchises, including Call of Duty, Diablo, 
and Overwatch. As the owner of Activision’s gaming content, Microsoft would have the ability 
to disadvantage rivals by withholding or degrading Activision content in the Relevant Markets.  

A. AAA Content is a Substantially Important Input for Products in the Relevant 
Markets 

99. As discussed above, AAA gaming content is an important input for consoles and 
gaming subscription services. AAA games typically represent an outsized portion of revenue on 
these products and drive greater engagement and adoption.  

100. Microsoft’s own executives repeatedly emphasize . 
In a 2019 internal email, Xbox’s then-Chief Marketing Officer told Microsoft’s Mr. Nadella that 

 
 In a June 2020 conversation between other Microsoft 

executives about Game Pass growth drivers, one aptly points out, “ .”  
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101. Similarly, Microsoft echoes the importance of AAA content on its High-
Performance Consoles. As one direct report to Mr. Spencer relayed to him, the  

 
”  During negotiations with top third-party publishers for inclusion of their games on Xbox 

Series X|S, Microsoft internally noted that Activision “  
” entitled to “ .” 

102. Activision’s powerful influence on gaming product adoption is also borne out by 
its revenue share negotiations with

 
 In one Microsoft executive’s words, Activision’s share on Call of Duty 

is “ ” and is the  
 

B. As the Owner of the Activision Content, Microsoft Would Have the Ability to 
Withhold Activision’s Content from, or Degrade Activision Content on, Rival 
Consoles and Subscription Services  

103. The Proposed Acquisition would give Microsoft total control over Activision’s 
content, thereby giving Microsoft the ability to fully withhold Activision content from rivals, 
raise rivals’ costs, change the terms and timing of access to Activision content, or degrade the 
quality of Activision content available for rival consoles and subscription services.  

104. The Proposed Acquisition would give Microsoft the ability to engage in several 
strategies to degrade access to Activision content on rival consoles and subscription services, 
including timed exclusivity, exclusive downloadable content available only on Microsoft’s 
products, and a variety of other means across the Relevant Markets.  

105. Microsoft also would gain the ability to engage in tactics to degrade the quality of 
Activision content on competing consoles and subscription services and create a less desirable 
player experience for users choosing to play anywhere other than on Microsoft’s products.  

106. The Proposed Acquisition also would give Microsoft the ability to reduce efforts 
to optimize Activision content for rival products. Currently, Activision collaborates closely with 
gaming hardware manufacturers to ensure an optimal experience for gamers. For example, 
Activision collaborated with  

 
 Should the Proposed 

Acquisition close, the combined firm will have the ability to reduce such collaboration in the 
High-Performance Console Market. 
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107. Activision also works to optimize its games, including Call of Duty, to work on 
. A GPU (or Graphics Processing Unit) is a hardware component that renders 

graphics for video games.  

 
 The Proposed 

Acquisition would give Microsoft the ability to reduce efforts to optimize Activision content for 
hardware used by rival Cloud Gaming Subscription Services.  

II. The Proposed Acquisition Would Increase Microsoft’s Incentive to Disadvantage Rivals 
by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content in the Relevant Markets.  

108. If permitted to take control of Activision, Microsoft would have an incentive to 
disadvantage rivals by withholding or degrading Activision content. Gaming is a growing and 
lucrative market opportunity and one in which Microsoft is already well-positioned. Microsoft 
already has a built-in incentive to promote its own products wherever possible, and it fully 
understands the competitive power that owning Activision’s leading gaming content would yield.  

109. Prior to the Proposed Acquisition, Activision sought to maximize its profits from 
sales of its video game titles. The Proposed Acquisition would change Activision’s incentives, 
because Microsoft stands to gain significant profits from additional gamers purchasing Xbox 
consoles or Xbox Game Pass. Hence, the combined firm will be incentivized to disadvantage 
Microsoft rivals by withholding Activision content from, or degrading Activision content on, 
rival consoles and subscription services to promote sales of Microsoft’s products. 

110. While AAA content in general is important to competitors in the Relevant 
Markets, Activision content is especially important because of its ability to drive gaming product 
adoption and engagement by users. 

111. Activision’s own documents point out the significant role Activision content plays 
in consumers’ choice of gaming products. In a 2019 presentation to , Activision 
highlighted consumer survey data showing that

 

 

112. The Proposed Acquisition would reduce Microsoft’s incentive to optimize 
Activision content for rival products, including via collaboration with Microsoft’s rivals. Given 
the competition between Microsoft and Sony, the combined firm will have less incentive to 
collaborate with Sony to . In addition, because 
Microsoft’s Game Pass Ultimate competes  
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III.  Microsoft’s Statements and Past Actions Indicate that It Will Likely Act on Its 
Incentives to Disadvantage Rivals by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content.  

113. Microsoft stated earlier this year that it  
. Microsoft subsequently has wavered in its representations as to  

  

114. Moreover, Microsoft’s past conduct is telling. Despite statements by Microsoft to 
European regulators disavowing the incentive to make ZeniMax content exclusive post-close, 
after the EC cleared the transaction, Microsoft plans for three of the newly acquired titles to 
become exclusive to Microsoft’s Xbox consoles and Xbox Game Pass subscription services. For 
example, although previous titles in ZeniMax’s  franchise were released on 
PlayStation, Microsoft has confirmed that the upcoming  will be available only 
on Xbox consoles, Windows PCs, and Xbox Game Pass subscription services. Microsoft has also 
stated that Starfield and Redfall, two of the highly anticipated new games in development at the 
time of Microsoft’s purchase of ZeniMax, will also become Xbox console and Xbox Game Pass 
exclusives upon release. 

115. Microsoft’s previous representations to the EC about its incentives after its 
purchase of ZeniMax were not borne out by Microsoft’s own post-merger behavior. Instead, 
Microsoft put its true post-merger incentives on full display when it decided to deny rivals its 
newly acquired future releases and thwart consumers who would choose to play them on a 
competing product. Microsoft’s past behavior should also cast more suspicion on its non-binding 
public commitments to keep Call of Duty available on PlayStation consoles through the end of 
Activision’s existing agreement with Sony (i.e., through ). 

116. Microsoft is eager to further build upon its already significant strength in gaming, 
with Mr. Nadella declaring publicly, “Microsoft’s all-in on gaming.” Looking to reap the 
financial opportunity available in the gaming industry, Microsoft would be incentivized to 
withhold Activision content from, or degrade content on, rival products in order to disadvantage 
its rivals, thereby weakening competition and increasing its profits. 

117. Moreover, as Microsoft internally recognizes, acquisitions in this industry  
. This Proposed Acquisition—the largest 

ever announced in the gaming industry—poses a reasonable probability of further accelerating 
this trend.   

IV. Withholding Activision Content From, or Degrading Activision Content On, 
Microsoft’s Rival Products Will Harm Competition and Consumers in the Relevant 
Markets  

118. Withholding Activision content from, or degrading Activision content on, 
Microsoft’s rivals’ products is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition in the 
Relevant Markets.  

119. This lessening of competition will result in harm to consumers, including reduced 
consumer choice, reduced product quality, higher prices, and less innovation.  
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ABSENCE OF COUNTERVAILING FACTORS 

120. Respondents cannot demonstrate that entry or expansion in the Relevant Markets 
would be timely, likely, or sufficient to reverse the anticompetitive effects of the Proposed 
Acquisition.   

121. Respondents cannot demonstrate that the Proposed Acquisition would likely 
generate verifiable, cognizable, merger-specific efficiencies that would reverse the likely 
competitive harm from the Proposed Acquisition.  

VIOLATION 

COUNT I – ILLEGAL ACQUISITION 

122. The allegations above in paragraphs 1 to 121 are incorporated by reference as 
though fully set forth. 

123. The Proposed Acquisition, if consummated, may lessen competition substantially 
or tend to create a monopoly in interstate trade and commerce in the Relevant Markets 
throughout the country, including as a result of the combined firm’s ability and incentive to 
withhold or degrade content from downstream rivals in the Relevant Markets  

124. The Proposed Acquisition violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 
U.S.C. § 18 and is an unfair method of competition that violates Section 5 of the FTC Act, as 
amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45.  
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NOTICE 

 
Notice is hereby given to the Respondents that the second day of August, 2023, at 10:00 
a.m., is hereby fixed as the time, and the Federal Trade Commission offices at 600 
Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington, D.C. 20580, as the place, when and 
where an evidentiary hearing will be had before an Administrative Law Judge of the Federal 
Trade Commission, on the charges set forth in this complaint, at which time and place you 
will have the right under the Federal Trade Commission Act and the Clayton Act to appear 
and show cause why an order should not be entered requiring you to cease and desist from 
the violations of law charged in the complaint. 
 
You are notified that the opportunity is afforded you to file with the Commission an answer 
to this complaint on or before the fourteenth (14th) day after service of it upon you. An 
answer in which the allegations of the complaint are contested shall contain a concise 
statement of the facts constituting each ground of defense; and specific admission, denial, or 
explanation of each fact alleged in the complaint or, if you are without knowledge thereof, a 
statement to that effect. Allegations of the complaint not thus answered shall be deemed to 
have been admitted.  
 
If you elect not to contest the allegations of fact set forth in the complaint, the answer shall 
consist of a statement that you admit all of the material facts to be true. Such an answer shall 
constitute a waiver of hearings as to the facts alleged in the complaint and, together with the 
complaint, will provide a record basis on which the Commission shall issue a final decision 
containing appropriate findings and conclusions and a final order disposing of the 
proceeding. In such answer, you may, however, reserve the right to submit proposed findings 
and conclusions under Rule 3.46 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice for Adjudicative 
Proceedings. 
 
Failure to file an answer within the time above provided shall be deemed to constitute a 
waiver of your right to appear and to contest the allegations of the complaint and shall 
authorize the Commission, without further notice to you, to find the facts to be as alleged in 
the complaint and to enter a final decision containing appropriate findings and conclusions, 
and a final order disposing of the proceeding.  
 
The Administrative Law Judge shall hold a prehearing scheduling conference not later than 
ten (10) days after the Respondents file their answers. Unless otherwise directed by the 
Administrative Law Judge, the scheduling conference and further proceedings will take place 
at the Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington, 
D.C. 20580. Rule 3.21(a) requires a meeting of the parties’ counsel as early as practicable 
before the pre-hearing scheduling conference (but in any event no later than five (5) days 
after the Respondents file their answers). Rule 3.31(b) obligates counsel for each party, 
within five (5) days of receiving the Respondents’ answers, to make certain initial disclosures 
without awaiting a discovery request. 
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NOTICE OF CONTEMPLATED RELIEF 

Should the Commission conclude from the record developed in any adjudicative 
proceedings in this matter that the Acquisition challenged in this proceeding violates Section 5 of 
the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and/or Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as 
amended, the Commission may order such relief against Respondents as is supported by the 
record and is necessary and appropriate, including, but not limited to: 
 

1. A prohibition against any transaction between Microsoft and Activision that 
combines their businesses, except as may be approved by the Commission. 

2. If the Acquisition is consummated, divestiture or reconstitution of all associated and 
necessary assets, in a manner that restores two or more distinct and separate, 
businesses, with the ability to offer such products and services as Microsoft and 
Activision were offering and planning to offer prior to the Acquisition. 

3. A requirement that, for a period of time, Microsoft and Activision shall not, without 
giving provide prior notice to and obtaining the prior approval of the Commission, 
acquire, merge with, consolidate, or combine their businesses with any other 
company engaged in business activity in the relevant markets and, if necessary, in 
related business activity and markets. 

4. A requirement to file periodic compliance reports with the Commission. 

5. Requiring that Respondents’ compliance with the order may be monitored at 
Respondents’ expense by an independent monitor, for a term to be determined by the 
Commission. 

6. Any other relief appropriate to correct or remedy the anticompetitive effects of the 
Acquisition or to restore Arm as an independent business.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Federal Trade Commission has caused this complaint to 
be signed by its Secretary and its official seal to be hereto affixed, at Washington, D.C., this 
eighth day of December, 2022. 

 
By the Commission, Commissioner Wilson dissenting. 

 
 
      April J. Tabor 

Secretary 
 
SEAL: 
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Apple Inc. v. Pepper 
139 S.Ct. 1514 (U.S. 2019) 
Justice KAVANAUGH delivered the opinion of the Court: In 2007, Apple started selling iPhones. 
The next year, Apple launched the retail App Store, an electronic store where iPhone owners can 
purchase iPhone applications from Apple. Those “apps” enable iPhone owners to send messages, 
take photos, watch videos, buy clothes, order food, arrange transportation, purchase concert tick-
ets, donate to charities, and the list goes on. “There’s an app for that” has become part of the 21st-
century American lexicon. 

In this case, however, several consumers contend that Apple charges too much for apps. The 
consumers argue, in particular, that Apple has monopolized the retail market for the sale of apps 
and has unlawfully used its monopolistic power to charge consumers higher-than-competitive 
prices. 

A claim that a monopolistic retailer (here, Apple) has used its monopoly to overcharge consumers 
is a classic antitrust claim. But Apple asserts that the consumer-plaintiffs in this case may not sue 
Apple because they supposedly were not “direct purchasers” from Apple under our decision in 
Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois,431 U.S. 720, 745-746 (1977). We disagree. The plaintiffs purchased apps 
directly from Apple and therefore are direct purchasers under Illinois Brick. At this early pleadings 
stage of the litigation, we do not assess the merits of the plaintiffs’ antitrust claims against Apple, 
nor do we consider any other defenses Apple might have. We merely hold that the Illinois Brick 
direct-purchaser rule does not bar these plaintiffs from suing Apple under the antitrust laws. We 
affirm the judgment of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. 

I 
In 2007, Apple began selling iPhones. In July 2008, Apple started the App Store. The App Store 
now contains about 2 million apps that iPhone owners can download. By contract and through 
technological limitations, the App Store is the only place where iPhone owners may lawfully buy 
apps. 

For the most part, Apple does not itself create apps. Rather, independent app developers create 
apps. Those independent app developers then contract with Apple to make the apps available to 
iPhone owners in the App Store. 

Through the App Store, Apple sells the apps directly to iPhone owners. To sell an app in the App 
Store, app developers must pay Apple a $ 99 annual membership fee. Apple requires that the retail 
sales price end in $ 0.99, but otherwise allows the app developers to set the retail price. Apple keeps 
30 percent of the sales price, no matter what the sales price might be. In other words, Apple pockets 
a 30 percent commission on every app sale. 

In 2011, four iPhone owners sued Apple. They allege that Apple has unlawfully monopolized 
“the iPhone apps aftermarket.” App. to Pet. for Cert. 53a. The plaintiffs allege that, via the App 
Store, Apple locks iPhone owners “into buying apps only from Apple and paying Apple’s 30% fee, 
even if” the iPhone owners wish “to buy apps elsewhere or pay less.” Id., at 45a. According to the 
complaint, that 30 percent commission is “pure profit” for Apple and, in a competitive environ-
ment with other retailers, “Apple would be under considerable pressure to substantially lower its 
30% profit margin.” Id., at 54a-55a. The plaintiffs allege that in a competitive market, they would 
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be able to “choose between Apple’s high-priced App Store and less costly alternatives.” Id., at 55a. 
And they allege that they have “paid more for their iPhone apps than they would have paid in a 
competitive market.” Id., at 53a. 

Apple moved to dismiss the complaint, arguing that the iPhone owners were not direct purchas-
ers from Apple and therefore may not sue. In Illinois Brick, this Court held that direct purchasers 
may sue antitrust violators, but also ruled that indirect purchasers may not sue. The District Court 
agreed with Apple and dismissed the complaint. According to the District Court, the iPhone own-
ers were not direct purchasers from Apple because the app developers, not Apple, set the consum-
ers’ purchase price. 

The Ninth Circuit reversed. The Ninth Circuit concluded that the iPhone owners were direct 
purchasers under Illinois Brick because the iPhone owners purchased apps directly from Apple. 
According to the Ninth Circuit, Illinois Brick means that a consumer may not sue an alleged mo-
nopolist who is two or more steps removed from the consumer in a vertical distribution chain. See 
In re Apple iPhone Antitrust Litig., 846 F. 3d 313, 323 (2017). Here, however, the consumers pur-
chased directly from Apple, the alleged monopolist. Therefore, the Ninth Circuit held that the 
iPhone owners could sue Apple for allegedly monopolizing the sale of iPhone apps and charging 
higher-than-competitive prices. Id., at 324. We granted certiorari. 585 U.S. ___ (2018). 

II 

A 
The plaintiffs’ allegations boil down to one straightforward claim: that Apple exercises monopoly 
power in the retail market for the sale of apps and has unlawfully used its monopoly power to force 
iPhone owners to pay Apple higher-than-competitive prices for apps. According to the plaintiffs, 
when iPhone owners want to purchase an app, they have only two options: (1) buy the app from 
Apple’s App Store at a higher-than-competitive price or (2) do not buy the app at all. Any iPhone 
owners who are dissatisfied with the selection of apps available in the App Store or with the price 
of the apps available in the App Store are out of luck, or so the plaintiffs allege. 

The sole question presented at this early stage of the case is whether these consumers are proper 
plaintiffs for this kind of antitrust suit—in particular, our precedents ask, whether the consumers 
were “direct purchasers” from Apple. Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 745-746. It is undisputed that the 
iPhone owners bought the apps directly from Apple. Therefore, under Illinois Brick, the iPhone 
owners were direct purchasers who may sue Apple for alleged monopolization. 

That straightforward conclusion follows from the text of the antitrust laws and from our prece-
dents. 

First is text: Section 2 of the Sherman Act makes it unlawful for any person to “monopolize, or 
attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize 
any part of the trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations.” 26 Stat. 209, 
15 U.S.C. § 2. Section 4 of the Clayton Act in turn provides that “any person who shall be injured in 
his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue ... the de-
fendant ... and shall recover threefold the damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, including 
a reasonable attorney’s fee.” 38 Stat. 731, 15 U.S.C. § 15(a) (emphasis added). The broad text of § 
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4—“any person” who has been “injured” by an antitrust violator may sue—readily covers consum-
ers who purchase goods or services at higher-than-competitive prices from an allegedly monopo-
listic retailer. 

Second is precedent: Applying § 4, we have consistently stated that “the immediate buyers from 
the alleged antitrust violators” may maintain a suit against the antitrust violators. Kansas v. UtiliCorp 
United Inc., 497 U.S. 199, 207 (1990); see also Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 745-746. At the same time, 
incorporating principles of proximate cause into § 4, we have ruled that indirect purchasers who are 
two or more steps removed from the violator in a distribution chain may not sue. Our decision in 
Illinois Brick established a bright-line rule that authorizes suits by direct purchasers but bars suits by 
indirect purchasers. Id., at 746. 

The facts of Illinois Brick illustrate the rule. Illinois Brick Company manufactured and distributed 
concrete blocks. Illinois Brick sold the blocks primarily to masonry contractors, and those contrac-
tors in turn sold masonry structures to general contractors. Those general contractors in turn sold 
their services for larger construction projects to the State of Illinois, the ultimate consumer of the 
blocks. 

The consumer State of Illinois sued the manufacturer Illinois Brick. The State alleged that Illinois 
Brick had engaged in a conspiracy to fix the price of concrete blocks. According to the complaint, 
the State paid more for the concrete blocks than it would have paid absent the pricefixing conspir-
acy. The monopoly overcharge allegedly flowed all the way down the distribution chain to the 
ultimate consumer, who was the State of Illinois. 

This Court ruled that the State could not bring an antitrust action against Illinois Brick, the alleged 
violator, because the State had not purchased concrete blocks directly from Illinois Brick. The 
proper plaintiff to bring that claim against Illinois Brick, the Court stated, would be an entity that 
had purchased directly from Illinois Brick. Ibid. 

The bright-line rule of Illinois Brick, as articulated in that case and as we reiterated in UtiliCorp, 
means that indirect purchasers who are two or more steps removed from the antitrust violator in 
a distribution chain may not sue. By contrast, direct purchasers—that is, those who are “the imme-
diate buyers from the alleged antitrust violators”—may sue. UtiliCorp, 497 U.S. at 207. 

For example, if manufacturer A sells to retailer B, and retailer B sells to consumer C, then C may 
not sue A. But B may sue A if A is an antitrust violator. And C may sue B if B is an antitrust 
violator. That is the straightforward rule of Illinois Brick. See Loeb Industries, Inc. v. Sumitomo Corp., 
306 F.3d 469, 481-482 (C.A.7 2002) (Wood, J.). 

In this case, unlike in Illinois Brick, the iPhone owners are not consumers at the bottom of a 
vertical distribution chain who are attempting to sue manufacturers at the top of the chain. There 
is no intermediary in the distribution chain between Apple and the consumer. The iPhone owners 
purchase apps directly from the retailer Apple, who is the alleged antitrust violator. The iPhone 
owners pay the alleged overcharge directly to Apple. The absence of an intermediary is dispositive. 
Under Illinois Brick, the iPhone owners are direct purchasers from Apple and are proper plaintiffs 
to maintain this antitrust suit. 
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B 
All of that seems simple enough. But Apple argues strenuously against that seemingly simple con-
clusion, and we address its arguments carefully. For this kind of retailer case, Apple’s theory is that 
Illinois Brick allows consumers to sue only the party who sets the retail price, whether or not that 
party sells the good or service directly to the complaining party. Apple says that its theory accords 
with the economics of the transaction. Here, Apple argues that the app developers, not Apple, set 
the retail price charged to consumers, which according to Apple means that the consumers may 
not sue Apple. 

We see three main problems with Apple’s “who sets the price” theory. 
First, Apple’s theory contradicts statutory text and precedent. As we explained above, the text of 

§ 4 broadly affords injured parties a right to sue under the antitrust laws. And our precedent in 
Illinois Brick established a bright-line rule where direct purchasers such as the consumers here may 
sue antitrust violators from whom they purchased a good or service. Illinois Brick, as we read the 
opinion, was not based on an economic theory about who set the price. Rather, Illinois Brick sought 
to ensure an effective and efficient litigation scheme in antitrust cases. To do so, the Court drew a 
bright line that allowed direct purchasers to sue but barred indirect purchasers from suing. When 
there is no intermediary between the purchaser and the antitrust violator, the purchaser may sue. 
*** Apple’s theory would require us to rewrite the rationale of Illinois Brick and to gut the longstand-
ing bright-line rule. 

To the extent that Illinois Brick leaves any ambiguity about whether a direct purchaser may sue an 
antitrust violator, we should resolve that ambiguity in the direction of the statutory text. And under 
the text, direct purchasers from monopolistic retailers are proper plaintiffs to sue those retailers. 

Second, in addition to deviating from statutory text and precedent, Apple’s proposed rule is not 
persuasive economically or legally. Apple’s effort to transform Illinois Brick from a direct-purchaser 
rule to a “who sets the price” rule would draw an arbitrary and unprincipled line among retailers 
based on retailers’ financial arrangements with their manufacturers or suppliers. 

In the retail context, the price charged by a retailer to a consumer is often a result (at least in part) 
of the price charged by the manufacturer or supplier to the retailer, or of negotiations between the 
manufacturer or supplier and the retailer. Those agreements between manufacturer or supplier and 
retailer may take myriad forms, including for example a markup pricing model or a commission 
pricing model. In a traditional markup pricing model, a hypothetical monopolistic retailer might 
pay $ 6 to the manufacturer and then sell the product for $ 10, keeping $ 4 for itself. In a commis-
sion pricing model, the retailer might pay nothing to the manufacturer; agree with the manufacturer 
that the retailer will sell the product for $ 10 and keep 40 percent of the sales price; and then sell 
the product for $ 10, send $ 6 back to the manufacturer, and keep $ 4. In those two different pricing 
scenarios, everything turns out to be economically the same for the manufacturer, retailer, and 
consumer. 

Yet Apple’s proposed rule would allow a consumer to sue the monopolistic retailer in the former 
situation but not the latter. In other words, under Apple’s rule a consumer could sue a monopolistic 
retailer when the retailer set the retail price by marking up the price it had paid the manufacturer 
or supplier for the good or service. But a consumer could not sue a monopolistic retailer when the 
manufacturer or supplier set the retail price and the retailer took a commission on each sale. 
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Apple’s line-drawing does not make a lot of sense, other than as a way to gerrymander Apple out 
of this and similar lawsuits. In particular, we fail to see why the form of the upstream arrangement 
between the manufacturer or supplier and the retailer should determine whether a monopolistic 
retailer can be sued by a downstream consumer who has purchased a good or service directly from 
the retailer and has paid a higher-than-competitive price because of the retailer’s unlawful monop-
olistic conduct. As the Court of Appeals aptly stated, “the distinction between a markup and a 
commission is immaterial.” 846 F.3d at 324. *** If a retailer has engaged in unlawful monopolistic 
conduct that has caused consumers to pay higher-than-competitive prices, it does not matter how 
the retailer structured its relationship with an upstream manufacturer or supplier—whether, for 
example, the retailer employed a markup or kept a commission. 

To be sure, if the monopolistic retailer’s conduct has not caused the consumer to pay a higher-
than-competitive price, then the plaintiff’s damages will be zero. Here, for example, if the compet-
itive commission rate were 10 percent rather than 30 percent but Apple could prove that app de-
velopers in a 10 percent commission system would always set a higher price such that consumers 
would pay the same retail price regardless of whether Apple’s commission was 10 percent or 30 
percent, then the consumers’ damages would presumably be zero. But we cannot assume in all 
cases—as Apple would necessarily have us do—that a monopolistic retailer who keeps a commis-
sion does not ever cause the consumer to pay a higher-than-competitive price. We find no persua-
sive legal or economic basis for such a blanket assertion. 

In short, we do not understand the relevance of the upstream market structure in deciding 
whether a downstream consumer may sue a monopolistic retailer. Apple’s rule would elevate form 
(what is the precise arrangement between manufacturers or suppliers and retailers?) over substance 
(is the consumer paying a higher price because of the monopolistic retailer’s actions?). If the re-
tailer’s unlawful monopolistic conduct caused a consumer to pay the retailer a higher-than-com-
petitive price, the consumer is entitled to sue the retailer under the antitrust laws. 

Third, if accepted, Apple’s theory would provide a roadmap for monopolistic retailers to structure 
transactions with manufacturers or suppliers so as to evade antitrust claims by consumers and 
thereby thwart effective antitrust enforcement. 

Consider a traditional supplier-retailer relationship, in which the retailer purchases a product from 
the supplier and sells the product with a markup to consumers. Under Apple’s proposed rule, a 
retailer, instead of buying the product from the supplier, could arrange to sell the product for the 
supplier without purchasing it from the supplier. In other words, rather than paying the supplier a 
certain price for the product and then marking up the price to sell the product to consumers, the 
retailer could collect the price of the product from consumers and remit only a fraction of that 
price to the supplier. 

That restructuring would allow a monopolistic retailer to insulate itself from antitrust suits by 
consumers, even in situations where a monopolistic retailer is using its monopoly to charge higher-
than-competitive prices to consumers. We decline to green-light monopolistic retailers to exploit 
their market position in that way. We refuse to rubber-stamp such a blatant evasion of statutory 
text and judicial precedent. 
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In sum, Apple’s theory would disregard statutory text and precedent, create an unprincipled and 
economically senseless distinction among monopolistic retailers, and furnish monopolistic retailers 
with a how-to guide for evasion of the antitrust laws. 

C 
In arguing that the Court should transform the direct-purchaser rule into a “who sets the price” 
rule, Apple insists that the three reasons that the Court identified in Illinois Brick for adopting the 
direct-purchaser rule apply to this case—even though the consumers here (unlike in Illinois Brick) 
were direct purchasers from the alleged monopolist. The Illinois Brick Court listed three reasons for 
barring indirect-purchaser suits: (1) facilitating more effective enforcement of antitrust laws; (2) 
avoiding complicated damages calculations; and (3) eliminating duplicative damages against anti-
trust defendants. 

As we said in UtiliCorp, however, the bright-line rule of Illinois Brick means that there is no reason 
to ask whether the rationales of Illinois Brick “apply with equal force” in every individual case. 497 
U.S. at 216. We should not engage in “an unwarranted and counterproductive exercise to litigate a 
series of exceptions.” Id., at 217. 

But even if we engage with this argument, we conclude that the three Illinois Brick rationales—
whether considered individually or together—cut strongly in the plaintiffs’ favor here, not Apple’s. 

First, Apple argues that barring the iPhone owners from suing Apple will better promote effective 
enforcement of the antitrust laws. Apple posits that allowing only the upstream app developers—
and not the downstream consumers—to sue Apple would mean more effective enforcement of the 
antitrust laws. We do not agree. Leaving consumers at the mercy of monopolistic retailers simply 
because upstream suppliers could also sue the retailers makes little sense and would directly contra-
dict the longstanding goal of effective private enforcement and consumer protection in antitrust 
cases. 

Second, Apple warns that calculating the damages in successful consumer antitrust suits against 
monopolistic retailers might be complicated. It is true that it may be hard to determine what the 
retailer would have charged in a competitive market. Expert testimony will often be necessary. But 
that is hardly unusual in antitrust cases. Illinois Brick is not a get-out-of-court-free card for monop-
olistic retailers to play any time that a damages calculation might be complicated. Illinois Brick surely 
did not wipe out consumer antitrust suits against monopolistic retailers from whom the consumers 
purchased goods or services at higher-than-competitive prices. Moreover, the damages calculation 
may be just as complicated in a retailer markup case as it is in a retailer commission case. Yet Apple 
apparently accepts consumers suing monopolistic retailers in a retailer markup case. If Apple ac-
cepts that kind of suit, then Apple should also accept consumers suing monopolistic retailers in a 
retailer commission case. 

Third, Apple claims that allowing consumers to sue will result in “conflicting claims to a common 
fund—the amount of the alleged overcharge.” Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 737. Apple is incorrect. This 
is not a case where multiple parties at different levels of a distribution chain are trying to all recover 
the same passed-through overcharge initially levied by the manufacturer at the top of the chain. If 
the iPhone owners prevail, they will be entitled to the full amount of the unlawful overcharge that 
they paid to Apple. The overcharge has not been passed on by anyone to anyone. Unlike in Illinois 
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Brick, there will be no need to “trace the effect of the overcharge through each step in the distri-
bution chain.” 431 U.S. at 741. 

It is true that Apple’s alleged anticompetitive conduct may leave Apple subject to multiple suits 
by different plaintiffs. But Illinois Brick did not purport to bar multiple liability that is unrelated to 
passing an overcharge down a chain of distribution. *** Multiple suits are not atypical when the 
intermediary in a distribution chain is a bottleneck monopolist or monopsonist (or both) between 
the manufacturer on the one end and the consumer on the other end. A retailer who is both a 
monopolist and a monopsonist may be liable to different classes of plaintiffs—both to downstream 
consumers and to upstream suppliers—when the retailer’s unlawful conduct affects both the down-
stream and upstream markets. 

Here, some downstream iPhone consumers have sued Apple on a monopoly theory. And it could 
be that some upstream app developers will also sue Apple on a monopsony theory. In this instance, 
the two suits would rely on fundamentally different theories of harm and would not assert dueling 
claims to a “common fund,” as that term was used in Illinois Brick. The consumers seek damages 
based on the difference between the price they paid and the competitive price. The app developers 
would seek lost profits that they could have earned in a competitive retail market. Illinois Brick does 
not bar either category of suit. 

In short, the three Illinois Brick rationales do not persuade us to remake Illinois Brick and to bar 
direct-purchaser suits against monopolistic retailers who employ commissions rather than markups. 
The plaintiffs seek to hold retailers to account if the retailers engage in unlawful anticompetitive 
conduct that harms consumers who purchase from those retailers. That is why we have antitrust 
law. 

* * * 
*** The consumers here purchased apps directly from Apple, and they allege that Apple used its 

monopoly power over the retail apps market to charge higher-than-competitive prices. Our deci-
sion in Illinois Brick does not bar the consumers from suing Apple for Apple’s allegedly monopo-
listic conduct. We affirm the judgment of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. 

It is so ordered. 
Justice GORSUCH, with whom THE CHIEF JUSTICE, Justice THOMAS, and Justice ALITO 
join, dissenting: More than 40 years ago, in Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois, 431 U.S. 720 (1977), this Court 
held that an antitrust plaintiff can’t sue a defendant for overcharging someone else who might (or 
might not) have passed on all (or some) of the overcharge to him. Illinois Brick held that these 
convoluted “pass on” theories of damages violate traditional principles of proximate causation and 
that the right plaintiff to bring suit is the one on whom the overcharge immediately and surely fell. 
Yet today the Court lets a pass-on case proceed. It does so by recasting Illinois Brick as a rule for-
bidding only suits where the plaintiff does not contract directly with the defendant. This replaces a 
rule of proximate cause and economic reality with an easily manipulated and formalistic rule of 
contractual privity. That’s not how antitrust law is supposed to work, and it’s an uncharitable way 
of treating a precedent which—whatever its flaws—is far more sensible than the rule the Court 
installs in its place. 
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II 
*** The lawsuit before us depends on just the sort of pass-on theory that Illinois Brick forbids. The 
plaintiffs bought apps from third-party app developers (or manufacturers) in Apple’s retail Internet 
App Store, at prices set by the developers. The lawsuit alleges that Apple is a monopolist retailer 
and that the 30% commission it charges developers for the right to sell through its platform repre-
sents an anticompetitive price. The problem is that the 30% commission falls initially on the devel-
opers. So if the commission is in fact a monopolistic overcharge, the developers are the parties who 
are directly injured by it. Plaintiffs can be injured only if the developers are able and choose to pass 
on the overcharge to them in the form of higher app prices that the developers alone control. 
Plaintiffs admitted as much in the district court, where they described their theory of injury this 
way: “[I]f Apple tells the developer ... we’re going to take this 30 percent commission ... what’s the 
developer going to do? The developer is going to increase its price to cover Apple’s... demanded 
profit.” App. 143. 

Because this is exactly the kind of “pass-on theory” Illinois Brick rejected, it should come as no 
surprise that the concerns animating that decision are also implicated. Like other pass-on theories, 
plaintiffs’ theory will necessitate a complex inquiry into how Apple’s conduct affected third-party 
pricing decisions. And it will raise difficult questions about apportionment of damages between 
app developers and their customers, along with the risk of duplicative damages awards. If anything, 
plaintiffs’ claims present these difficulties even more starkly than did the claims at issue in Illinois 
Brick. 

Consider first the question of causation. To determine if Apple’s conduct damaged plaintiffs at 
all (and if so, the magnitude of their damages), a court will first have to explore whether and to 
what extent each individual app developer was able—and then opted—to pass on the 30% com-
mission to its consumers in the form of higher app prices. Sorting this out, if it can be done at all, 
will entail wrestling with “‘complicated theories’” about “how the relevant market variables would 
have behaved had there been no overcharge.” Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 741-743. Will the court hear 
testimony to determine the market power of each app developer, how each set its prices, and what 
it might have charged consumers for apps if Apple’s commission had been lower? Will the court 
also consider expert testimony analyzing how market factors might have influenced developers’ 
capacity and willingness to pass on Apple’s alleged monopoly overcharge? And will the court then 
somehow extrapolate its findings to all of the tens of thousands of developers who sold apps 
through the App Store at different prices and times over the course of years? 

This causation inquiry will be complicated further by Apple’s requirement that all app prices end 
in $ 0.99. As plaintiffs acknowledge, this rule has caused prices for the “vast majority” of apps to 
“cluster” at exactly $ 0.99. Brief for Respondents 44. And a developer charging $ 0.99 for its app 
can’t raise its price by just enough to recover the 30-cent commission. Instead, if the developer 
wants to pass on the commission to consumers, it has to more than double its price to $ 1.99 
(doubling the commission in the process), which could significantly affect its sales. In short, be-
cause Apple’s 99-cent rule creates a strong disincentive for developers to raise their prices, it makes 
plaintiffs’ pass-on theory of injury even harder to prove. Yet the court will have to consider all of 
this when determining what damages, if any, plaintiffs suffered as a result of Apple’s allegedly ex-
cessive 30% commission. 
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Plaintiffs’ claims will also necessitate “massive efforts to apportion the recovery among all po-
tential plaintiffs that could have absorbed part of the overcharge,” including both consumers and 
app developers. Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 737. If, as plaintiffs contend, Apple’s 30% commission is 
a monopolistic overcharge, then the app developers have a claim against Apple to recover whatever 
portion of the commission they did not pass on to consumers. *** So courts will have to divvy up 
the commissions Apple collected between the developers and the consumers. To do that, they’ll 
have to figure out which party bore what portion of the overcharge in every purchase. And if the 
developers bring suit separately from the consumers, Apple might be at risk of duplicative damages 
awards totaling more than the full amount it collected in commissions. To avoid that possibility, it 
may turn out that the developers are necessary parties who will have to be joined in the plaintiffs’ 
lawsuit. See Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 19(a)(1)(B). 

III 
The United States and its antitrust regulators agree with all of this, so how does the Court reach 
such a different conclusion? Seizing on Illinois Brick’s use of the shorthand phrase “direct purchas-
ers” to describe the parties immediately injured by the monopoly overcharge in that case, the Court 
(re)characterizes Illinois Brick as a rule that anyone who purchases goods directly from an alleged 
antitrust violator can sue, while anyone who doesn’t, can’t. Under this revisionist version of Illinois 
Brick, the dispositive question becomes whether an “intermediary in the distribution chain” stands 
between the plaintiff and the defendant. And because the plaintiff app purchasers in this case hap-
pen to have purchased apps directly from Apple, the Court reasons, they may sue. 

This exalts form over substance. Instead of focusing on the traditional proximate cause question 
where the alleged overcharge is first (and thus surely) felt, the Court’s test turns on who happens 
to be in privity of contract with whom. *** To evade the Court’s test, all Apple must do is amend 
its contracts. Instead of collecting payments for apps sold in the App Store and remitting the bal-
ance (less its commission) to developers, Apple can simply specify that consumers’ payments will 
flow the other way: directly to the developers, who will then remit commissions to Apple. No 
antitrust reason exists to treat these contractual arrangements differently, and doing so will only 
induce firms to abandon their preferred—and presumably more efficient—distribution arrange-
ments in favor of less efficient ones, all so they might avoid an arbitrary legal rule. 

Nor does Illinois Brick come close to endorsing such a blind formalism. Yes, as the Court notes, 
the plaintiff in Illinois Brick did contract directly with an intermediary rather than with the putative 
antitrust violator. But Illinois Brick’s rejection of pass-on claims, and its explanation of the difficul-
ties those claims present, had nothing to do with privity of contract. Instead and as we have seen, 
its rule and reasoning grew from the “general tendency of the law ... not to go beyond” the party 
that first felt the sting of the alleged overcharge, and from the complications that can arise when 
courts attempt to discern whether and to what degree damages were passed on to others. The Court 
today risks replacing a cogent rule about proximate cause with a pointless and easily evaded im-
poster. We do not usually read our own precedents so uncharitably. 

Maybe the Court proceeds as it does today because it just disagrees with Illinois Brick. After all, 
the Court not only displaces a sensible rule in favor of a senseless one; it also proceeds to question 
each of Illinois Brick’s rationales—doubting that those directly injured are always the best plaintiffs 
to bring suit, that calculating damages for pass-on plaintiffs will often be unduly complicated, and 
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that conflicting claims to a common fund justify limiting who may sue. Court even tells us that any 
“ambiguity” about the permissibility of pass-on damages should be resolved “in the direction of 
the statutory text,” ignoring that Illinois Brick followed the well-trodden path of construing the 
statutory text in light of background common law principles of proximate cause. Last but not least, 
the Court suggests that the traditional understanding of Illinois Brick leads to “arbitrary and unprin-
cipled” results. It asks us to consider two hypothetical scenarios that, it says, prove the point. The 
first is a “markup” scenario in which a monopolistic retailer buys a product from a manufacturer 
for $ 6 and then decides to sell the product to a consumer for $ 10, applying a supracompetitive $ 
4 markup. The second is a “commission” scenario in which a manufacturer directs a monopolistic 
retailer to sell the manufacturer’s product to a consumer for $ 10 and the retailer keeps a su-
pracompetitive 40% commission, sending $ 6 back to the manufacturer. The two scenarios are 
economically the same, the Court asserts, and forbidding recovery in the second for lack of proxi-
mate cause makes no sense. 

But there is nothing arbitrary or unprincipled about Illinois Brick’s rule or results. The notion that 
the causal chain must stop somewhere is an ancient and venerable one. As with most any rule of 
proximate cause, reasonable people can debate whether Illinois Brick drew exactly the right line in 
cutting off claims where it did. But the line it drew is intelligible, principled, administrable, and far 
more reasonable than the Court’s artificial rule of contractual privity. Nor do the Court’s hypothet-
icals come close to proving otherwise. In the first scenario, the markup falls initially on the con-
sumer, so there’s no doubt that the retailer’s anticompetitive conduct proximately caused the con-
sumer’s injury. Meanwhile, in the second scenario the commission falls initially on the manufac-
turer, and the consumer won’t feel the pain unless the manufacturer can and does recoup some or 
all of the elevated commission by raising its own prices. In that situation, the manufacturer is the 
directly injured party, and the difficulty of disaggregating damages between those directly and indi-
rectly harmed means that the consumer can’t establish proximate cause under traditional principles. 

*** Without any invitation or reason to revisit our precedent, and with so many grounds for 
caution, I would have thought the proper course today would have been to afford Illinois Brick full 
effect, not to begin whittling it away to a bare formalism. I respectfully dissent. 
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United States v. New York Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co. 
173 F.2d 79 (7th Cir. 1949) 
MINTON, Circuit Judge: This case comes to us on appeal from the Eastern District of Illinois. 
The defendant The New York Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company, Inc., herein called A&P, 
several of its subsidiary and affiliated companies, and certain officers of the A&P chain were found 
guilty by the District Court of a conspiracy to restrain and to monopolize trade, in violation of 
Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C.A. §§ 1, 2. The defendants Carl Byoir, the public 
relations counsel of A&P, and Business Organization, Inc., a corporation through which Byoir 
conducted such public relations, were also found guilty.  

*** This is a charge of a conspiracy to restrain trade and to monopolize. Some of the things done 
by the defendants, when examined and considered separately may be perfectly legal, but when used 
to promote or further a conspiracy to do an unlawful thing, that which when considered alone is 
lawful, when used to further the conspiracy becomes unlawful. 

The issue is whether there is substantial evidence to show a conspiracy by the defendants to 
restrain and monopolize trade in commerce in food and food products by controlling the terms 
and conditions upon which the defendants and their competitors might do business and by op-
pressing competitors through the abuse of the defendants’ mass buying and selling power. The 
Government insists that this case is not an attack upon A&P because of its size or integration and 
the power that may rightly go with such size and integration, but it is an attack upon the abuse of 
that power. 

There is substantial evidence in this voluminous record to show the following. The A&P system 
is comprised of fourteen corporations, twelve of which were named defendants and three of which 
defendants were ultimately acquitted. The system is completely integrated, both horizontally and 
vertically. A&P is engaged in the food industry as buyer, manufacturer, processor, broker, and 
retailer. It operates 5,800 retail stores in forty states and the District of Columbia, and thirty-seven 
warehouses serve these stores. 

The top holding company is the defendant A&P, a New York corporation. The George H. Hart-
ford Trust, of which John A. and George L. Hartford are trustees, owns approximately ninety-nine 
per cent of A&P. This top holding company owns and controls the whole hierarchy, with very tight 
control in the hands of the Hartfords. The wholesale warehouses and retail operation of the A&P 
system are divided up into divisions, units, and stores. The division presidents control the policy 
of the system, but the Hartfords control the appointment of the division presidents. The Hartfords 
sit with them in the quarterly division policy making meetings and are a dominating influence at 
these meetings. On the whole, it is a well disciplined organization, from top to bottom. Ultimate 
control of buying, with unimportant exceptions, is centralized in headquarters of A&P. In this way, 
A&P controls the buying policy for the entire system and hence the purchase price of its merchan-
dise. This centralized control also gives A&P control of such things as advertising allowances and 
label and bag allowances, which are related to the buying. 

The buying policy of A&P was to so use its power as to get a lower price on its merchandise than 
that obtained by its competitors. This policy, as implemented by “direct buying,” was referred to 
by the top officers of A&P as a two-price level, the lower for A&P and the higher for its competi-
tors. It used its large buying power to coerce suppliers to sell to it at a lower price than to its 
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competitors on the threat that it would place such suppliers on its private blacklist if they did not 
conform, or that A&P would go into the manufacturing business in competition with the recalci-
trant suppliers. 

The following are some of the techniques used by A&P to get a lower price than its competitors. 
As early as about 1925, A&P sent its buyers into the field to buy merchandise for it under strict 
control of headquarters. These buyers were on A&P’s payroll and were operating out of its estab-
lishments, in offices mostly under their individual names. Their primary object was to get the mer-
chandise for A&P as cheaply as they could, and for this the supplier was compelled, if he obtained 
the business, to pay A&P a seller’s brokerage of from one to five per cent. These so-called broker-
age fees went into the coffers of A&P as a further reduction in price. Except on brokerage received 
from meat packers, which was outlawed in 1934, this system continued until 1936, when it was 
made illegal by the Robinson-Patman Act, 15 U.S.C.A. §§ 13, 13a, 13b, 21a. In 1935, gross revenues 
from this source amounted to $2,500,000. 

After 1936, the buyers, instead of getting credit for alleged brokerage, induced their suppliers to 
reduce their price further to A&P by the amount of the brokerage fee. Thus the allowance became 
a markdown of the price on the invoice. This was called net buying. When this was outlawed by a 
decision of the Third Circuit upholding a cease and desist order of the Federal Trade Commission 
directed at this practice, A&P adopted a policy of direct buying. It thereafter would buy from no 
one who sold through a broker. Not only would it not buy from suppliers who offered to sell to it 
through brokers; it would not buy from a supplier who sold to anyone else through brokers. This 
clearly affected the business of brokers, who resisted as best they could, and as one of the defendant 
officers said, “these brokers are dieing (sic) hard.” This policy also affected the trade that was unable 
to buy directly. Suppliers were in effect told that if they did not sell direct to all customers, A&P 
would withdraw its patronage. This policy of direct buying was broadcast to all the trade in a na-
tional press release by A&P, and A&P continued to get its usual lower price, which was supposed 
to be justified by cost savings in such direct buying and because A&P bought in large quantities. 
This system continued until the trial. 

A substantial amount of the discounts A&P received rarely bore a relationship to cost savings. 
A&P got the largest discount on the basis of “large quantities” purchased, but as pointed out by 
A&P’s attorney, the use of the expression “large quantities” was “definitely misleading.” The large 
discounts A&P got were not for taking large quantities at one time but were based on a large volume 
purchased over a period of time and delivered in many small shipments. The defendants’ attorneys 
pointed out to them that, “A large volume ordered out in many small shipments rarely involves any 
savings in and of itself * * *.” Whatever the system used or by whatever name designated, A&P 
always wound up with a buying price advantage. This price advantage given A&P by the suppliers 
was, it is fairly inferable, not “twice blessed” like the quality of mercy that “droppeth as the gentle 
rain from heaven.” It did not bless “him that gives and him that takes.” Only A&P was blessed, 
and the supplier had to make his profit out of his other customers at higher prices, which were 
passed on to the competition A&P met in the retail field. 

One cannot escape the conclusion on the very substantial evidence here, as one follows the de-
vious manipulations of A&P to get price advantages, that it succeeded in obtaining preferential 
discounts not by force of its large purchasing power and the buying advantage which goes there-
with, but through its abuse of that power by the threats to boycott suppliers and place them on its 
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individual blacklist, and by threats to go into the manufacturing and processing business itself, since 
it already possessed a considerable establishment and experience that would enable it to get quickly 
and successfully into such business if a recalcitrant supplier, processor, or manufacturer did not 
yield. The A&P organization was urged to keep secret whatever preferences it received. These 
predatory discounts and other preferences amounted to 22.15% of A&P’s total profits in 1939; 
22.47% in 1940; and 24.59% in 1941. 

The influence of this ruthless force in the food buying field was also used to compel suppliers to 
discontinue practices in their business which might be detrimental to A&P. For instance, some 
A&P suppliers were making store door deliveries to A&P competitors. Since A&P had to deliver 
to its own store doors from the warehouses it maintained, it was unable to get the full benefit of 
its warehousing policy if the suppliers continued the store door deliveries. A&P forced some man-
ufacturers to “widen the spread” between store door deliveries and warehouse deliveries and thus 
perpetuated its purchasing advantage. Also, it forced other suppliers to discontinue merchandising 
by aid of premiums given the customers. A&P did not want to be bothered with the premium 
details, and it did not want its competitors to have the advantage thereof, so it forced many suppli-
ers to give up the premium aid to merchandising. 

To do their buying of fruits, vegetables, and produce, A&P set up a wholly-owned subsidiary, the 
Atlantic Commission Company, herein referred to as ACCO. It acted as buyer for A&P and selling 
and buying broker for the rest of the trade, and for this latter service, ACCO received the usual 
broker’s fees which went into the pocket of A&P since the latter was the sole owner of ACCO. 
ACCO was the largest single operator in its field. For a time it took brokerage from the seller for 
the merchandise it sold to A&P. These funds went, of course, to A&P. That system was abandoned. 
But the technique used by A&P in the purchase of merchandise other than fresh fruits, vegetables, 
and produce, in order to receive preferential treatment as to price, was used by ACCO in its field 
and with like success. 

*** ACCO’s aggressiveness and insistence upon its prerogative to fix prices unilaterally are evi-
denced by a statement of the defendant Baum, an executive officer and director of ACCO: 

“* * * it will be necessary for your shippers to accept the price we place on this merchandise at 
the time of arrival and discontinue this bartering over 5¢ differential and if the shippers find 
that this procedure is not in accordance with their ideas or they are not given a fair deal on the 
average over a period of time then of course it is their privilege to discontinue these arrival sales 
or price arrivals.” 

*** From this evidence, we see that ACCO collected brokerage from the trade, which increased 
the price to A&P’s competitors, and the brokerage went into A&P’s coffers to increase its compet-
itive advantage. Secondly, ACCO got the best quality for A&P and passed on the inferior to A&P’s 
competitors and, of course, ACCO got preferential treatment as to prices under one scheme or 
another. ACCO’s profits constituted 5.08% of A&P’s total profit in 1939; 5.62% in 1940; and 
7.16% in 1941. 

Closely related to the policy and the purpose to establish a two-price level by the abuse of its 
power and position, A&P by the same methods forced its suppliers to give it advertising and space 
allowances that bore no relation to the cost of the service rendered in the matter of advertising or 
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display of merchandise in A&P’s stores. *** The profits from these allowances were substantial 
and amounted in 1939 to 5.93% of A&P’s total profit; in 1940 to 6.23%; and in 1941 to 5.46%. 

Another but smaller item was the bag and label allowances. A&P furnished bags and labels to 
processors and manufacturers, for which it received an allowance. For instance, in the canning 
industry, the standard allowance for labels was $1.50 per thousand, but A&P insisted upon and 
received $2 per thousand. It was claimed that A&P’s labels were more attractive and expensive. 
However that may be, the fact remains that A&P was not in the label business any more than it 
was in the advertising business, but it managed in both to realize a substantial difference between 
the cost to it and what it realized out of the transaction from other suppliers. Everything was grist 
to the mill that was grinding down prices to A&P to enable it to maintain the two-price level to its 
advantage. The bag and label allowances amounted in 1939 to .83% of the total profit of A&P; in 
1940 to .75%; and in 1941 to .38%. 

As we have indicated, A&P owned and controlled, through the vertical integration of its system, 
certain corporations that were engaged in the manufacturing and processing of merchandise for 
sale by A&P in its stores. For instance, the defendant The Quaker Maid Company, Inc., made many 
items sold in A&P retail stores. The defendant White House Milk Company, Inc., manufactured 
canned milk. The defendant Nakat Packing Corporation canned fish. These companies were satel-
lites of the A&P system. Their products were sold only to A&P stores and were invoiced at a 
markup above the cost of production. These corporations were tools in the hands of A&P, used 
and useful in maintaining the two-price level to enable it to maintain its position of dominance in 
the retail food business. Whatever the spread between cost to these defendants in processing and 
manufacturing and what they invoiced the goods to A&P for, was credited on the books to A&P. 
This, of course, was a bookkeeping transaction between A&P and its satellites and was a paper 
profit which eventually went to reduce the cost of the products to the retail stores when allocated 
to their credit on a fair method of allocation based upon use employed by the retail stores. In fact, 
all the paper profits of these manufacturing and processing satellites, together with the real profits 
of ACCO, the preferential discounts and buying allowances, the advertising allowances, the bag 
and label allowances, and certain other profits and gains throughout the system, were all kept track 
of by a system of what the defendants designate statistical accounting, for their own guidance to 
enable them to determine what the satellites, departments within the system as well as the retail 
stores, were doing. These accumulated profits and allowances at headquarters amounted in 1939 
to 93.69% of A&P’s total profits; in 1940 to 90.63%; and in 1941 to 89.02%. The difference be-
tween these accumulated profits and allowances and the total profits left the profits shown by the 
retail stores to be 6.31% in 1939; 9.37% in 1940; and 10.98% in 1941. 

No question is raised about the fairness of the method of allocation of the accumulated profits 
and allowances. When made, they have the effect of reducing to the retail stores the cost of mer-
chandise sold. It is the predatory method through which this accumulation of profits and allow-
ances is obtained and not the method of allocation or statistical handling of them that is challenged 
by the Government. With this large fund accumulated at the buying and supplying level and allo-
cated to the advantage of low cost of merchandise to the retail or selling level, A&P’s enormous 
power or advantage over competitors emerges more clearly when we consider the evidence on the 
retail level. Here the price advantage A&P has enjoyed through the coercive use of its power ena-
bles it to undersell its competitors and to pick and choose the locations in which the price advantage 
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shall be used. For instance, if a division, unit, or store is selected for attention, whether on the basis 
of its experience historically in that community or some other basis sufficient to the policy makers 
of A&P, these policy makers have only to give their attention to gross profit percentages. If Area 
X is having a tough experience competitionwise, or the area looks prospective in which to increase 
the volume of business, the gross profit percentage in this area is lowered. This lowers the price at 
which goods may be sold and the volume increases at the expense of somebody. Sometimes the 
gross profit rate is fixed so low that the store runs below the cost of operation, even with all the 
advantage derived by the store in reduction of the cost of its merchandise occasioned by the head-
quarters’ allocation of its predatory profits and accumulations. When the gross profit rate is reduced 
in Area X, it is an almost irresistible conclusion that A&P had the power to compensate for any 
possible decline in net profits by raising the gross profit rate and retail prices in Area Y, where it 
was in a competitive position to do so. The record is replete with instances of deliberate reductions 
of gross profit rates in selected areas. Thus Area Y, at the desire of the policy makers of A&P, can 
be brought to aid in the struggle in Area X, which in numerous instances, as the record shows, 
sustained heavy net losses for periods extending over a substantial number of consecutive years. 
There must inevitably be a compensation somewhere in the system for a loss somewhere else, as 
the overall policy of the company is to earn $7 per share per annum on its stock. 

On this record it seems apparent that the goal of the conspiracy to establish a two-price level at 
the buying level, which enables A&P to meet its competitors with an enormous advantage at the 
retail level, has been realized. 

When Congress enacted the Sherman Act it did not undertake to regulate business in commerce, 
which so often leads to price or rate fixing. Just a few years before the Sherman Act was enacted, 
Congress passed the Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U.S.C.A. § 1 et seq., whereby it did fix rates 
through an instrumentality of its own creation and within limits which Congress prescribed. The 
Sherman Act sought to avoid, not only for reasons of policy but for considerations of power, any 
regulation of business not in the category with railroads, which were supposed to be affected with 
the public interest, and to establish a punitive or corrective system for other business in commerce. 
Congress evidently believed that if competition were preserved in this field, free enterprise would 
regulate itself. The purpose of Congress was to see to it that competition was not destroyed. To 
this end, in the most comprehensive and sensitive terms, Congress provided among other things 
that a conspiracy to restrain trade in commerce and to monopolize it in part should be a criminal 
offense. That is the offense of which these defendants stand convicted. 

No court has yet said that the accumulation and use of great power is unlawful per se. Bigness is 
no crime, although “size is itself an earmark of monopoly power. For size carries with it an oppor-
tunity for abuse.” United States v. Paramount Pictures, 334 U.S. 131, 174. That there was an accumula-
tion of great power by A&P cannot be denied. How it used that power is the question. When A&P 
did not get the preferential discount or allowance it demanded, it did not simply exercise its right 
to refuse to contract with the supplier. It went further and served notice on the supplier that if that 
supplier did not meet the price dictated by A&P, not only would the supplier lose the business at 
the moment under negotiation, but it would be put upon the unsatisfactory list or private blacklist 
of A&P and could expect no more business from the latter. This was a boycott and in and of itself 
is a violation of the Sherman Act. Fashion Originators Guild v. Federal Trade Comm., 312 U.S. 457. 
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While it is not necessary to constitute a violation of Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act that a 
showing be made that competitors were excluded by the use of monopoly power, there is evidence 
in this record of how some local grocers were quickly eliminated under the lethal competition put 
upon them by A&P when armed with its monopoly power. As the evidence showed in this case, 
A&P received quantity discounts that bore no relation to any cost savings to the supplier. While 
A&P tried to rig up various contracts with its suppliers that would give the suppliers a semblance 
of compliance with the Robinson-Patman Act, by colorably relating the discriminatory preferences 
allowed to cost savings, the primary consideration with A&P seemed to be to get the discounts, 
lawfully, if possible, but to get them at all events. The conclusion is inescapable on this record that 
A&P was encouraging its suppliers to violate the Robinson-Patman Act. The unlawful discounts 
were to be received by A&P as its due, regardless. Whether or not A&P in inducing and knowingly 
receiving these price discriminations was in violation of the Robinson-Patman Act, as its suppliers 
certainly were, the advantage which A&P thereby obtained from its competitors is an unlawful 
restraint in itself. The purpose of these unlawful preferences and advantages was to carry out the 
avowed policy of A&P to maintain this two-price level which could not help but restrain trade and 
tend toward monopoly. Furthermore, to obtain these preferences, pressure was put on suppliers 
not by the use but by the abuse of A&P’s tremendous buying power. The means as well as the end 
were unlawful. With the concessions on the buying level acquired by the predatory application of 
its massed purchasing power, A&P was enabled to pressure its competitors on the selling level even 
to the extent of selling below cost and making up the loss in areas where competitive conditions 
were more favorable. The inevitable consequence of this whole business pattern is to create a chain 
reaction of ever-increasing selling volume and ever-increasing requirements and hence purchasing 
power for A&P, and for its competitors hardships not produced by competitive forces, and, con-
ceivably, ultimate extinction. Under all the cases, this is a result which Sections 1 and 2 of the 
Sherman Act were designed to circumvent. 

*** On the whole record, we think that there is substantial evidence to support the finding as to 
the guilt of all the defendants. The other errors complained of have all been considered and found 
unsubstantial, and the judgment is affirmed. 
 

Feesers, Inc. v. Michael Foods, Inc. 
591 F.3d 191 (3rd Cir. 2010) 
SMITH, Circuit Judge: This appeal by Feesers, Inc. (“Feesers”), a food distributor, arises out of a 
Robinson-Patman Act claim for unlawful price discrimination, 15 U.S.C. § 13 (the “RPA”), against 
Michael Foods, Inc. (“Michaels”), a food manufacturer, and Sodexo, Inc. (“Sodexo”), a food ser-
vice management company. Feesers claims that Sodexo was able to purchase egg and potato prod-
ucts from Michaels at a discounted price that was unavailable to Feesers. Following a bench trial, 
the District Court entered judgment for Feesers. We will vacate that judgment and instruct the 
District Court to enter judgment as a matter of law for Michaels and Sodexo. Feesers and Sodexo 
were not competing purchasers, and, therefore, Feesers cannot satisfy the competitive injury re-
quirement of a prima facie case of price discrimination under § 2(a) of the RPA. In doing so, we 
hold that, in a secondary-line price discrimination case, parties competing in a bid market cannot 
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be competing purchasers where the competition for sales to prospective customers occurs be-
fore the sale of the product for which the RPA violation is alleged. 

*** Michaels and Sodexo raise a host of issues in this appeal, but in light of this Court’s decision 
in Toledo Mack Sales & Service, Inc. v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 530 F.3d 204 (3d Cir. 2008), and the Supreme 
Court’s decision in Volvo Trucks North America, Inc. v. Reeder-Simco GMC, Inc., 546 U.S. 164 (2006), 
we need address only the issue of whether Sodexo and Feesers were “competing purchasers” for 
purposes of the RPA. Feesers, Inc. v. Michael Foods, Inc., 498 F.3d 206, 213 (3d Cir. 2007) (quoting 
Falls City Indus. v. Vanco Beverage, 460 U.S. 428, 435 (1983)).3 

I 
The following facts were found by the District Court after a bench trial. Feesers, Inc. v. Michael Foods, 
Inc., 632 F.Supp.2d 414, 418 (M.D. Pa. 2009). 

Structure of the Food Service Industry 
The food service industry consists of a three-tier distribution system: manufacturers sell products 
to distributors, who resell those products to operators, including self-operators (“self-ops”) and 
food service management companies. Self-ops are institutions that perform all dining services in-
ternally. Food service management companies perform institutions’ dining services for a fee, and 
primarily target schools, hospitals, and nursing homes. Sometimes operators negotiate with manu-
facturers for discounted prices, known as “deviated prices.” In those instances, the distributor pur-
chases the product at list price from the manufacturer, sells the product to the operator at the 
deviated price, and receives the difference between the list price and the deviated price from the 
manufacturer. An operator may also seek discounts from manufacturers by joining a Group Pur-
chasing Organization (“GPO”). A GPO is a collection of operators who negotiate food prices 
collectively to achieve greater bargaining power against manufacturers and distributors. “GPOs 
generally bargain for a lower price, but do not actually purchase the food for resale to institutions.” 
Id. 

The Parties in this Appeal 
Michaels is a manufacturer of egg and potato products that sells in bulk, nationwide. It is the largest 
producer of liquid eggs in the United States. Feesers is a regional distributor that distributes 
Michaels’s products, and others, to operators within a 200-mile radius of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. 
Sodexo is a multinational food service management company that serves institutions around the 
world. Its services include planning menus, ordering food, preparing and serving meals, and over-
seeing labor issues. It is the largest private purchaser of food in the world. Sodexo owns Entegra, 
a GPO.  

 
3 Three of the four requirements of a § 2(a) Robinson-Patman claim have already been established by Feesers and are not 

contested in this appeal. Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 208. Feesers has shown “that sales were made to two different purchasers[, 
Feesers and Sodexo,] in interstate commerce; that the product sold was of the same grade and quality; and that [Michaels] 
discriminated in price as between the two purchasers.” Id. at 211. What remains for resolution by this Court is the fourth 
requirement, a showing “that the discrimination had a prohibited effect on competition.” Id. at 212. 
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Michaels’s Pricing of Food Products 
Michaels sells sixty percent of its products at deviated prices. It has offered deviated pricing to self-
ops since the mid-1990s and to food service management companies, like Sodexo, since at least 
1999. “[O]n average from 2000 until 2004, Feesers paid $9.56, or 59% more than [Sodexo] for 
[Michaels’s] eleven top selling products.” Id. at 434. This pricing difference was described as “stun-
ning” by Feesers’s expert witness. The deviated pricing Sodexo received from Michaels was not 
institution-specific, so Sodexo could “use its low deviated price ... to win new accounts and to keep 
current customers.” Id. at 432. 

Competition between Feesers and Sodexo 
Feesers sells food to self-op institutions and food service management companies. Sodexo sells 
food in conjunction with its food service management services. Institutional customers “regularly 
switch [between] self-op [and] management,” and at least three institutions have switched between 
Feesers and Sodexo. Id. at 422. Both companies regularly seek self-op business. Feesers tries to 
distribute for self-ops while Sodexo tries to convert self-ops to food service management. 

When a self-op switches to Sodexo, it relies on Sodexo to handle all dining services functions, 
such as procurement and distribution of food. Sodexo itself is not a distributor, but it decides which 
distributors its customers will use. Thus, when an institution switches from self-op to Sodexo, the 
incumbent distributor who distributed for the self-op may be replaced. Because Feesers could be 
displaced by Sodexo’s chosen distributor if Sodexo wins a self-op’s business, the two companies 
compete “when a customer considers switching from self-op to food service management, or vice 
versa.” Id. at 430.6 Accordingly, Feesers and Sodexo “compete[d] for the same portion of an insti-
tution’s food service budget.” Id. at 420. 

Competition between Feesers and Sodexo occurred informally prior to the request for proposal 
(“RFP”) process ordinarily required by large institutions. To grow its client base, Sodexo identifies 
institutions that meet its client profile and then builds relationships with those institutions. During 
informal contacts with a prospective institutional customer, Sodexo “gauges the institution’s inter-
est in management and determines whether there are any particular problems to be solved.” Id. at 
428. If the institution is interested in management, it will then put out a RFP and Sodexo will follow 
through in that process. Aside from seeking new clients, Sodexo also touts its access to discounted 
foods to its existing customers that utilize it for preparation and ordering of food, but not for 
distribution. This is done, in part, to encourage those customers to switch to Sodexo’s chosen 
distributor. 

Procedural History 
On March 17, 2004, Feesers sought a declaratory judgment stating that (1) Michaels unlawfully 
discriminated in price under § 2(a) of the RPA by selling egg and potato products to Sodexo at 
significantly lower prices than it did to Feesers and (2) Sodexo violated § 2(f) of the RPA by know-
ingly inducing those discriminatory sales. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) and (f). Feesers also sought permanent 
injunctive relief under § 16 of the Clayton Act. 15 U.S.C. § 26. On May 4, 2006, the District Court 

 
6 We regard this inferred fact as highly questionable, but the finding does not rise to the level of clear error. In our view, 

assuming that Sodexo replaced Feesers with another distributor, Feesers’s competitor would be the other distributor, not Sodexo. 
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granted summary judgment for the defendants, concluding that Feesers had satisfied the first three 
elements of a prima facie case of price discrimination, but not the fourth element, competitive 
injury. “The District Court was concerned that [Sodexo] and Feesers [we]re not at the same ‘func-
tional level’ and [we]re therefore not in ‘actual competition’ in the same market.” Feesers, Inc., 498 
F.3d at 214. 

Feesers appealed and this Court reversed.9 We held that the District Court had applied the wrong 
standard in concluding that Feesers and Sodexo were not in competition. The panel explained the 
proper standard and remanded the case to the District Court for further proceedings. 

On remand, after a bench trial, the District Court entered judgment for Feesers and enjoined 
Michaels from engaging in unlawful price discrimination. Michaels then suspended all sales to 
Feesers. In response, Feesers sought an order of contempt and a permanent injunction forbidding 
Michaels from refusing to deal with Feesers. On May 26, 2009, the District Court held Michaels in 
contempt and enjoined it from refusing to “sell its products to Feesers on the same terms as they 
are sold to [Sodexo], so long as Feesers otherwise meets its standards as a customer.” Michaels and 
Sodexo now appeal the District Court’s judgment and the permanent injunction. 

II. 
“‘Competitive injury’ [under § 2(a) of the RPA] is established ... by proof of ‘a substantial price 
discrimination between competing purchasers over time.’” Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 213 (quoting Falls City 
Indus., 460 U.S. at 435) (footnote omitted) (emphasis in original). “Feesers does not need to prove 
that [Michaels’s] price discrimination actually harmed competition, i.e., that the discriminatory pric-
ing caused Feesers to lose customers to Sodex[o]. Rather, Feesers need prove only that (a) it com-
peted with Sodex[o] to sell food and (b) [that] there was price discrimination over time by 
[Michaels].” Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 213 (footnote omitted) (emphasis in original). 

To determine whether Feesers competed with Sodexo to sell food, “the relevant question is 
whether [the] two companies ‘[we]re in economic reality acting on the same distribution level.’” Id. 
at 214 (quoting Stelwagon Mfg. Co. v. Tarmac Roofing Sys., Inc., 63 F.3d 1267, 1272 (3d Cir. 1995)). 
Recognizing that the phrase “economic reality” provides little guidance in how to approach the 
competition inquiry, this Court, in the prior appeal in this case, explained that two parties are in 
competition only where, after a “careful analysis of each party’s customers,” we determine that the 
parties are “each directly after the same dollar.” Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 214 (quoting M.C. Mfg. Co. 
v. Tex. Foundries, Inc., 517 F.2d 1059, 1068 n. 20 (5th Cir. 1975)). We refer to this dollar-for-dollar 
analysis as the competing purchaser requirement. The Supreme Court’s guidance in Volvo Trucks, 
546 U.S. at 179-80 and this Court’s precedent in Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 226-29, compel us to 
conclude that Feesers and Sodexo were not competing purchasers. Thus, Feesers cannot satisfy the 
first element required to show competitive injury, and its RPA claims must fail as a matter of law. 

 
9 We reversed in a 2-1 decision. The dissent concluded that Sodexo and Feesers were not in actual competition because they 

“d[id] not sell the same products.” Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 220 (Jordan, J., dissenting). In reaching that conclusion, the dissent 
explained that Feesers “res[old] ... unprepared foods to its institutional clients,” whereas Sodexo “prepare[d] meals, and s[old] 
the prepared meals to individual customers.” Id. at 218. (Jordan, J., dissenting). The majority disagreed, noting that “a factfinder 
could conclude that Sodex[o] s[old] unprepared food to its customers” because some of Sodexo’s agreements with institutional 
clients did not charge for “‘prepared meals,’ but rather for the cost of unprepared food and supplies, the cost of labor, and a 
management fee.” Id. at 215. 
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A. 
In application, the competing purchaser requirement will vary based on the nature of the market 
and the timing of the competition. In a bid market, if the competition between the favored and 
disfavored purchaser occurs before the purchase of the goods from the seller, then the disfavored 
purchaser cannot show that it and the favored purchaser were competing purchasers. Volvo Trucks, 
546 U.S. at 178-79. This rule prevents the application of the RPA to markets where the “allegedly 
favored purchasers [bear] little resemblance to [the] large independent department stores or chain 
operations” that the RPA was intended to target, id. at 181, and helps “construe the [RPA] ‘con-
sistently with the broader policies of the antitrust laws,’” id. (quoting Brooke Group v. Brown & Wil-
liamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 220 (1993)). 

In practice, the rule, like other restrictions on the reach of the RPA, prevents the unprincipled 
application of the statute. Indeed, because the RPA often has “anticompetitive” effects that “pro-
mote rather than ... prevent monopolistic pricing practices,” Small Business and the Robinson-
Patman Act: Hearings before the Special Subcommittee on Small Business and the Robinson-Pat-
man Act of the House Select Committee on Small Business, 91st Cong. 146-47 (1969) (testimony 
of Richard A. Posner), the Supreme Court, in seeking to construe the statute consistently with the 
broader policies of the antitrust laws, has repeatedly limited its reach by: 

• Expanding the means through which RPA defendants can attack the “competition” element 
of a prima facie case of price discrimination, Texaco v. Hasbrouck, 496 U.S. 543, 561 (1990) (“A 
supplier need not satisfy the rigorous requirements of the cost justification defense in order to 
prove that a particular functional discount is reasonable and accordingly did not cause any sub-
stantial lessening of competition between a wholesaler’s customers and the supplier’s direct cus-
tomers.”) (footnote omitted); 

• Focusing the competition inquiry on “interbrand competition,” Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 180; 
• Explaining that the RPA does not “ban all price differences charged to different purchasers 

of commodities of like grade and quality,” id. at 176 (quoting Brooke Group Ltd., 509 U.S. at 220); 
• “[R]esist[ing] interpretation[s] [of the RPA] geared more to the protection of existing com-

petitors than to the stimulation of competition,” Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 181 (emphasis omitted); 
and, 

• “[R]ecogni[zing] [that] the right of a seller to meet a lower competitive price in good faith may 
be the primary means of reconciling the [RPA] with the more general purposes of the antitrust 
laws,” Great Atl. & Pac. Tea Co. v. FTC, 440 U.S. 69, 82 n. 16 (1979) (interpreting RPA to provide 
robust meeting competition defense). 
This Court has dutifully followed the Supreme Court’s lead by narrowly construing the RPA. In 

Toledo Mack, we explained that we will “narrowly interpret” the RPA, even if doing so will result in 
“elevat[ing] form over substance.” Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 228 n. 17. 

While the competing purchaser requirement has its roots in FTC v. Morton Salt, 334 U.S. 37, 46-
51 (1948), the most recent decisions discussing that requirement are Volvo Trucks and Toledo Mack. 
Both decisions emphasized that proving “substantial price discrimination between competing pur-
chasers over time,” Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 179 (quoting Falls City Indus., 460 U.S. at 435) (em-
phasis omitted), requires accounting for the timing of the alleged competition and the nature of the 
market. Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 178-79. 



Picker, Antitrust Winter 2023 Page 203 

 

 

In Volvo Trucks, the Supreme Court rejected an inference of competitive injury where the plaintiff, 
Reeder-Simco (“Reeder”), could not show that it was a competing purchaser. Reeder was a Volvo 
dealer who competed with other dealers (both Volvo brand and others) through a customer-spe-
cific bidding process for sales to individuals seeking custom-built trucks. Reeder alleged that Volvo 
sold trucks to other Volvo dealers at unlawfully discriminatory prices, giving those other dealers an 
unfair advantage in selling to prospective customers. The customer-specific bidding process began 
with the customer stating its specifications and inviting bids from dealers it had selected. The se-
lected dealers would submit bids to the customer and the dealer that won the bid would arrange 
for the manufacturer, in this case, Volvo, to build the truck for the customer. Like the deviated 
pricing system of food manufacturers, it was common for truck manufacturers to offer “customer-
specific discounts to their dealers.” Prior to submitting a bid to a customer, a Volvo dealer would 
ask Volvo if it could get a discount for the customer. Volvo would then decide on a case-by-case 
basis what discount it would grant a particular customer based on factors like industry-wide demand 
and whether the customer had previously purchased from Volvo. While the discount varied based 
on many factors, the dealers always knew what discounts they could offer a customer before sub-
mitting their bids to the customer. 

The specific question presented in the case was whether “a manufacturer offering its dealers 
different wholesale prices may be held liable for price discriminations proscribed by Robinson-
Patman, absent a showing that the manufacturer discriminated between dealers contemporaneously 
competing to resell to the same retail customer.” Id. at 169. In deciding that question in the negative, 
the Supreme Court concluded that Reeder could not establish an inference of competitive injury 
based on the timing of the competition between the dealers and the nature of the market, Reeder’s 
evidence of competitive injury, and the goals of the RPA. 

The timing of the competition between the dealers and the nature of the market were critical to 
the Supreme Court’s reasoning. At the initial stage of competition in the bid market, where dealers 
were competing to win the right to submit a bid to a customer, “competition [wa]s not affected by 
differential pricing [because] a dealer in the competitive bidding process approach[ed] Volvo for a 
price concession... only after it ha[d] been selected by a retail customer to submit a bid.” Id. at 178-
79. Prospective customers chose which dealers could submit bids based on a variety of factors 
“including the existence vel non of a relationship between the potential bidder and the [prospective] 
customer, geography, and reputation.” Id. at 179. After the prospective customer chose who could 
submit bids, the relevant market narrowed to the few dealers who were chosen: “Once a retail 
customer has chosen the particular dealers from which it will solicit bids, ‘the relevant market be-
comes limited to the needs and demands of a particular end user, with only a handful of dealers 
competing for the ultimate sale.’” Id. (quoting Reeder-Simco GMC, Inc. v. Volvo GM Heavy Truck Corp., 
374 F.3d 701, 719 (8th Cir. 2004) (Hansen, J., dissenting)). 

The Supreme Court was also unimpressed with Reeder’s evidence purporting to show competi-
tive injury. Reeder produced three types of evidence to support its allegations. The two types of 
evidence relevant to the instant case were Reeder’s “comparisons of [discounts] [it] received for 
four successful bids against non-Volvo dealers, with larger [discounts] other successful Volvo dealers 
received for different sales on which [it] did not bid (purchase-to-purchase comparisons),” Volvo 
Trucks, 546 U.S. at 177 (emphasis in original), and “comparisons of [discounts] offered to [it] in 
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connection with several unsuccessful bids against non-Volvo dealers, with greater concessions ac-
corded other Volvo dealers who competed successfully for different sales on which [it] did not bid 
(offer-to-purchase comparisons),” id. at 177-78 (emphasis in original). These two types of evidence 
did not create an inference of competitive injury because (1) the alleged price discrimination did 
not occur for the same customer and (2) Reeder did not attempt to show that other Volvo dealers 
were consistently favored. Id. at 178. 

The Supreme Court also signaled that it was uninterested in permitting innovative applications 
of the RPA and would resist “interpretation[s] geared more to the protection of existing competitors 
than to the stimulation of competition.” Id. at 181 (emphasis in original). It also noted that the custom 
truck market bore “little resemblance to [the] large independent department stores or chain opera-
tions” that the RPA originally intended to target. Id. 

This Court used similar reasoning in Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 226-29. That case had facts similar 
to Volvo Trucks—Toledo, a Mack truck dealer, would submit bids to prospective customers who 
wished to purchase customized Mack trucks. Id. at 209. In creating a bid, Toledo would seek out a 
“transaction-specific discount [from Mack] known as ‘sales assistance.’” Id. “The amount of sales 
assistance [Mack offered] varie[d] according to the nature of the relationship between the dealer 
and the customer, the number of trucks ordered, potential competition, and other factors.” Id. 
Toledo sued Mack under the RPA, claiming that it consistently received less sales assistance than 
other Mack dealers. 

In affirming the district court’s grant of summary judgment for the defendant, Mack, on the RPA 
claim, this Court explained that the timing of competition and the nature of the market are critical 
factors to consider when determining whether the plaintiff can show that it was a competing pur-
chaser of a favored purchaser. We concluded that because the competition between Mack dealers 
occurred during the bidding process, and not at the time of the actual sale, Toledo could not satisfy 
the competing purchaser requirement or the two purchaser requirement: 

Because no sale takes place until a customer accepts a dealer’s bid, the amount of sales 
assistance Mack is willing to provide to a particular dealer is part of an offer by Mack to sell, 
not a sale. Regardless of any competition between the dealers during the bidding process, 
only a dealer whose bid is accepted by a customer will actually buy a truck from Mack. 
Therefore, only one sale, not two, actually results. 

Id. at 228. 
Toledo, unlike the plaintiff in Volvo Trucks, did not offer evidence of head-to-head competition 

between it and other Mack dealers. Id. at 215. But it did provide expert testimony regarding “the 
average amounts of sales assistance Mack offered to Toledo as compared with the average amount 
of sales assistance Mack offered to other [Mack] dealers,” i.e., evidence showing that Mack consist-
ently favored other dealers as compared to Toledo. Id. That evidence was rejected by this Court as 
irrelevant because even if the “amount of sales assistance Mack offer[ed] to each dealer ... deter-
mine[d] whether a customer cho[se] to accept a bid from one Mack dealer or another, Mack does 
not sell a truck to the dealer until the customer actually selects a dealer’s bid.” Id. at 228. Thus, only 
one sale, not two, resulted from the competition. Id. This was true in part because the sale was 
divorced from the competition and Toledo could not show that it was a competing purchaser vis-
à-vis other Mack dealers. See id. 
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Finally, the Toledo Mack Court noted that, like Volvo Trucks, “the alleged price discrimination d[id] 
not implicate the original purpose of the RPA because ‘the allegedly favored purchasers [we]re 
dealers with little resemblance to large independent department stores or chain operations.’” Id. at 
227 (quoting Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 181). 

B. 
While this Court’s conclusion in Toledo Mack undoubtedly turned on the fact that “one sale, not 
two, actually result[ed],” Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 228, it was not reached by a simple application of 
the RPA’s two purchaser requirement. It was reached through the combined effect of the RPA’s 
two purchaser and competitive injury requirements—i.e., the competing purchaser requirement. 

In Toledo Mack we held that because the competition among dealers for prospective customer 
business occurred before the purchase of the truck to be sold to the customer by the winning 
dealer, the relevant market for the sale to the customer was already limited to one at the time the 
manufacturer sold the dealer the truck. Because the relevant market was only one dealer making 
one purchase from the manufacturer for resale to one customer, the two purchaser requirement 
could not be satisfied. Thus, this Court rejected Toledo’s RPA claim for lack of two purchasers, 
which was based on the lack of a competitive market, i.e. the lack of a competing purchaser. *** In 
addition, the Supreme Court’s reasoning in Volvo Trucks further confirms our understanding of the 
competing purchaser requirement. 

Similar reasoning was also invoked in Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 178. There, the Supreme Court 
discounted the purchase-to-purchase and offer-to-purchase evidence offered by Reeder in part be-
cause that evidence did not show that Reeder competed “with beneficiaries of the alleged discrim-
ination for the same customer.” Id. (emphasis in original). “That Volvo dealers may bid for sales in the 
same geographic area” was of no import to the Supreme Court because that fact was not relevant 
to whether two dealers “compet[ed] for the same customer-tailored sales.” Id. at 179. “Once a retail 
customer has chosen the particular dealers from which it will solicit bids, ‘the relevant market be-
comes limited to the needs and demands of a particular end user, with only a handful of dealers 
competing for the ultimate sale.’” Id. (quoting Reeder-Simco GMC, Inc., 374 F.3d at 719 (Hansen, J., 
dissenting)). 

Accordingly, we reject the argument that Toledo Mack was a simple application of the two pur-
chaser requirement. Implicit in the Toledo Mack Court’s holding was the conclusion that Toledo 
could not show it was a competing purchaser of other Mack truck dealers. In other words, the two 
purchaser requirement could not be satisfied because the relevant market of competition was lim-
ited to one dealer, one customer, and one truck manufacturer at the time of the sale of the truck, 
i.e., there were no competing purchasers. 

C. 
Applying the teachings of Volvo Trucks and Toledo Mack to the instant case, it is clear that Feesers 
never experienced a competitive injury from Sodexo’s purchases and sales of Michaels’s products 
because Feesers and Sodexo were not competing purchasers. The competition between Feesers 
and Sodexo for institutions’ business occurred prior to Michaels’s sales of food products to Feesers 
and Sodexo, “when a customer consider[ed] switching from self-op to food service management, 
or vice versa.” Feesers, Inc., 632 F.Supp.2d at 430. At that time, Sodexo would not yet have secured 
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any products from Michaels for resale to the prospective customer because the customer would 
only be deciding whether it wished to begin the RFP process or, if it had already chosen to engage 
in the RFP process, whether to invite Sodexo to participate in that process. Once the customer has 
chosen whether to self-operate or contract with a food service management company, “the relevant 
market becomes limited to the needs and demands of a particular end user, with only a handful of 
[distributors or food service management companies] competing for the ultimate sale.” Volvo 
Trucks, 546 U.S. at 179. Thus, Feesers and Sodexo’s competition at that early stage was irrelevant 
to the sales made by Michaels after that competition was complete. If an institution chose to self-
operate, Sodexo would be eliminated from the competition, and if an institution chose to contract 
with a food service management company, Feesers would be eliminated from the competition. 
After making that initial decision, the customer then has to choose which distributor or food service 
management company it will hire. Only after that process is complete would the customer then 
actually purchase food from Michaels through the winning distributor or food service management 
company. 

At all events, assuming Feesers and Sodexo engaged in head-to-head competition, and the dis-
counts granted by Michaels to the two companies determined from which company an institution 
would purchase Michaels’s products, the competing purchaser requirement would still not be sat-
isfied because Michaels does not make a sale until the institution chooses a particular distributor or 
food service management company and then begins purchasing Michaels’s products through that 
company. The relevant market at the time of the sale of Michaels’s products will have already been 
narrowed to one—the company that won the institution’s business. 

While the timing of the competition and the nature of the market compel us to conclude that 
Feesers and Sodexo were not competing purchasers, it is also relevant that the evidence produced 
by Feesers was the same type of average discount evidence produced in Toledo Mack. The Toledo 
Mack Court rejected such evidence as insufficient to prove injury to competition in part because 
“merely offering lower prices to a customer does not give rise to a price discrimination claim.” 
Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 227-28 (citing Crossroads Cogeneration Corp. v. Orange & Rockland Utils., Inc., 
159 F.3d 129, 142 (3d Cir. 1998)). A plaintiff must also show that the effect of the lower prices was 
to injure competition. Yet that showing is impossible where, as here, the case involves sales via a 
bidding process and the competition occurs before the bidding process even begins. 

In addition, the Supreme Court’s directive to narrowly construe the RPA to address the basic 
purposes of the statute further informs our conclusion that Feesers was not a competing purchaser 
of Sodexo. The price discrimination identified by Feesers bears “little resemblance to [the] large 
independent department stores and chain operations” the statute was originally intended to target. 
Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 227 (quoting Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. at 181). Here, like in Volvo Trucks, 
there is a myriad of differences between retail stores and food service management companies and 
food distributors. 

First, in many respects, Sodexo and Feesers do not compete. Sodexo prepares and sells meals 
and handles all dining service functions for its customers. Feesers only distributes food. Competing 
retail stores, in contrast, generally compete to sell fungible goods to the same group of customers. 
Second, Sodexo operates in a bid market with other food service management companies, and 
competes with Feesers only in a preliminary stage where a prospective customer is deciding whether 
to self-operate or hire a food service management company. Retail stores compete over prospective 
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customers every time a customer decides to purchase a product, and those purchases are not made 
in a bid market. Third, Sodexo competes for customers with Feesers prior to purchasing food from 
Michaels. Retail stores generally purchase products from manufacturers and then compete with 
other retailers based on pricing. 

In sum, because any competition between Feesers and Sodexo occurred at the time an institution 
was deciding whether to self-operate or hire a food service management company, and any resulting 
sale of Michaels’s products would have to occur after that competition, Feesers cannot show that 
it was a competing purchaser of Sodexo. The evidence produced by Feesers only further confirms 
the futility of its RPA claims, because such evidence—evidence showing consistent favoring of 
another purchaser over the plaintiff over time by a manufacturer in a bid market—was rejected in 
Toledo Mack. Such evidence cannot support an inference of competitive injury in a bid market. 
Finally, the Supreme Court’s instructions to narrowly construe the RPA also compel us to reject 
Feesers’s RPA claims. 

III. 
The District Court, after thoughtful consideration of the Volvo Trucks and Toledo Mack decisions, 
determined that those decisions were not controlling for three reasons: (1) Volvo Trucks involved 
only formal competition whereas the instant case involves formal and informal competition; (2) 
application of Toledo Mack to the instant case would misconstrue that decision’s holding by impos-
ing a new requirement under the RPA, divorced from the statutory text, that the manufacturer’s 
sale of the commodity to two different sellers occur prior to the competition for the resale of those 
goods; and (3) a logical reading of Toledo Mack limits that decision’s applicability to custom-manu-
factured goods. We reject each of these reasons in turn. 

The District Court reasoned that because “[f]ood service management companies, distributors, 
and GPOs all compete formally and informally for the sale of food to institutions,” the instant case 
was distinguishable from Volvo Trucks, which it believed involved only a formal bidding process. 
Feesers, Inc., 632 F.Supp.2d at 431. Contrary to the District Court’s belief, the market in Volvo Trucks 
involved both formal and informal competition. In that case, a customer’s decision to request a bid 
from a particular dealer was based on informal competitive factors such as “an existing relationship, 
... reputation, and cold calling or other marketing strategies initiated by individual dealers.” Volvo Trucks, 546 
U.S. at 170 (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis added). Sodexo’s actions were indistinguishable 
from the actions of truck dealers in Volvo Trucks. Sodexo competed for institutions’ business 
through the formal RFP process, and through “informal contacts with targeted institutions.” Feesers, 
Inc., 632 F.Supp.2d at 428. 

The District Court’s second reason, that construing Toledo Mack to apply to the instant case would 
require imposing a new requirement under the RPA that the sale of the commodity by the manu-
facturer to two different sellers occur prior to the competition for resale of those goods, is a mis-
understanding of the competing purchaser requirement. The rule the District Court describes is 
not new—it is simply the product of the competing purchaser requirement, which considers the 
relevant market, a bid market, and the timing of the competition, before the sale to the manufac-
turer. *** In Feesers’s prior appeal, we embraced that approach to the competing purchaser re-
quirement by stating that Sodexo and Feesers compete only if “they are each directly after the same 
dollar.” Feesers, Inc., 498 F.3d at 214 (quoting M.C. Mfg., 517 F.2d at 1068 n. 20). We now hold that, 
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simply put, Feesers and Sodexo cannot compete for the same dollar because their resales of 
Michaels’s products to institutions, by their “very nature[, were] mutually exclusive commitments.” 
M.C. Mfg., 517 F.2d at 1067.18 The RPA does not ordinarily protect competition where “a product 
subject to special order is sold through a customer-specific bidding process.” Volvo Trucks, 546 U.S. 
at 170 (contrasting such competition with “competition between different purchasers for resale of 
[a] purchased product”). In other words, the RPA was not meant to cover the type of competition 
present in the instant case. 

Third, the District Court reasoned that a logical reading of Toledo Mack limited that decision’s 
applicability to custom-manufactured goods. *** [T]here is no reason to limit the reach of the Toledo 
Mack decision to customized goods because the underlying principles, pertaining to the timing of 
the competition and the nature of the market, remain the same whether applied to generic goods 
or customized goods. This Court’s directive to “narrowly interpret the oft-questioned RPA” also 
supports rejection of the District Court’s view. Toledo Mack, 530 F.3d at 228 n. 17. A narrow inter-
pretation, one that limits the applicability of the Act, calls for taking an expansive view of Toledo 
Mack’s holding and not limiting it to customized goods. *** 

V. 
Feesers cannot show that it and Sodexo were competing purchasers, and therefore, cannot show 
that it suffered competitive injury under the Robinson-Patman Act. Accordingly, we will reverse 
the District Court’s judgment for Feesers and instruct the District Court to enter judgment as a 
matter of law for Michaels and Sodexo. 
 
  

 
18 Notably, we do not hold that the sales of products by the manufacturer to two purchasers must always occur prior to the 

competition between the two purchasers. Our holding is limited to bid markets that closely resemble the markets in this case, 
Volvo Trucks, and Toledo Mack. 
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Meyer v. Kalanick 
174 F.Supp.3d 817 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) 
JED S. RAKOFF, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE: On December 16, 2015, plaintiff 
Spencer Meyer, on behalf of himself and those similarly situated, filed this putative antitrust class 
action lawsuit against defendant Travis Kalanick, CEO and co-founder of Uber Technologies, Inc. 
(“Uber”). Mr. Meyer’s First Amended Complaint, filed on January 29, 2016, alleged that Mr. 
Kalanick had orchestrated and facilitated an illegal price-fixing conspiracy in violation of Section 1 
of the federal Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and the New York State Donnelly Act, New 
York General Business Law § 340. See First Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”), Dkt. 26, ¶¶ 
120-140. Plaintiff claimed, in essence, that Mr. Kalanick, while disclaiming that he was running a 
transportation company, had conspired with Uber drivers to use Uber’s pricing algorithm to set 
the prices charged to Uber riders, thereby restricting price competition among drivers to the detri-
ment of Uber riders, such as plaintiff Meyer. 

On February 8, 2016, defendant Kalanick moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. See Notice 
of Motion, Dkt. 27. Plaintiff opposed on February 18, 2016; defendant replied on February 25, 
2016; and oral argument was held on March 9, 2016. Having considered all of the parties’ submis-
sions and arguments, the Court hereby denies defendant’s motion to dismiss. 

In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the Court accepts as true the factual allegations in the complaint 
and draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff. *** In the antitrust context, stating a 
claim under Section 1 of the Sherman Act “requires a complaint with enough factual matter (taken 
as true) to suggest that an agreement was made. Asking for plausible grounds to infer an agreement 
does not impose a probability requirement at the pleading stage; it simply calls for enough fact to 
raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of illegal agreement.” Bell Atl. 
Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007). 

The relevant allegations of the Amended Complaint are as follows. Uber, founded in 2009, is a 
technology company that produces an application for smartphone devices (“the Uber App”) that 
matches riders with drivers (called “driver-partners”). See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 2, 21, 24, 27. Uber states 
that it is not a transportation company and does not employ drivers. See id. ¶¶ 2, 23. Defendant 
Kalanick, in addition to being the co-founder and CEO of Uber, is a driver who has used the Uber 
app. See id. ¶ 3. Plaintiff Meyer is a resident of Connecticut, who has used Uber car services in 
New York. See id. ¶ 7. 

Through the Uber App, users can request private drivers to pick them up and drive them to their 
desired location. See id. ¶ 24. Uber facilitates payment of the fare by charging the user’s credit card 
or other payment information on file. See id. ¶ 32. Uber collects a percentage of the fare as a 
software licensing fee and remits the remainder to the driver. See Am. Compl. ¶ 27. Drivers using 
the Uber app do not compete on price, see id. ¶ 2, and cannot negotiate fares with drivers for rides, 
see id. ¶ 34. Instead, drivers charge the fares set by the Uber algorithm. See id. ¶ 2. Though Uber 
claims to allow drivers to depart downward from the fare set by the algorithm, there is no practical 
mechanism by which drivers can do so. See id. ¶ 69. Uber’s “surge pricing” model, designed by Mr. 
Kalanick, permits fares to rise up to ten times the standard fare during times of high demand. See 
id. ¶ 26, 48, 50. Plaintiff alleges that the drivers have a “common motive to conspire” because 
adhering to Uber’s pricing algorithm can yield supra-competitive prices, Am. Compl. ¶ 90, and that 
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if the drivers were acting independently instead of in concert, “some significant portion” would 
not agree to follow the Uber pricing algorithm. See id. ¶ 93. 

Plaintiff further claims that the drivers “have had many opportunities to meet and enforce their 
commitment to the unlawful agreement.” Am. Compl. ¶ 92. Plaintiff alleges that Uber holds meet-
ings with potential drivers when Mr. Kalanick and his subordinates decide to offer Uber App ser-
vices in a new geographic location. See id. ¶ 40. Uber also organizes events for its drivers to get 
together, such as a picnic in September 2015 in Oregon with over 150 drivers and their families in 
attendance, and other “partner appreciation” events in places including New York City. See id. ¶ 
41. Uber provides drivers with information regarding upcoming events likely to create high demand 
for transportation and informs the drivers what their increased earnings might have been if they 
had logged on to the Uber App during busy periods. See id. ¶ 58. Moreover, plaintiff alleges, in 
September 2014 drivers using the Uber App in New York City colluded with one another to nego-
tiate the reinstitution of higher fares for riders using Uber-BLACK and UberSUV services (certain 
Uber car service “experiences”). See id. ¶¶ 25, 87. Mr. Kalanick, as Uber’s CEO, directed or ratified 
negotiations between Uber and these drivers, and Uber ultimately agreed to raise fares. See id. ¶ 
87. 

As to market definition, plaintiff alleges that Uber competes in the “relatively new mobile app-
generated ride-share service market,” of which Uber has an approximately 80% market share. 
Amended Complaint ¶¶ 94-95. Uber’s chief competitor in this market, Lyft, has only a 20% market 
share, and a third competitor, Sidecar, left the market at the end of 2015. See id. ¶¶ 95-96. Although, 
plaintiff contends, neither taxis nor traditional cars for hire are reasonable substitutes for mobile 
app-generated ride-share service, Uber’s own experts have suggested that in certain cities in the 
U.S., Uber captures 50% to 70% of business customers in the combined market of taxis, cars for 
hire, and mobile-app generated ride-share services. See id. ¶ 107. 

Plaintiff claims to sue on behalf of the following class: “all persons in the United States who, on 
one or more occasions, have used the Uber App to obtain rides from uber driver-partners and paid 
fares for their rides set by the Uber pricing algorithm,” with certain exclusions, such as Mr. 
Kalanick. See id. ¶ 13. Plaintiff also identifies a “subclass” of riders who have paid fares based on 
surge pricing. See id. ¶ 114. Plaintiff alleges that he and the putative class have suffered antitrust 
injury because, were it not for Mr. Kalanick’s conspiracy to fix the fares charged by Uber drivers, 
drivers would have competed on price and Uber’s fares would have been “substantially lower.” See 
id. ¶ 109. Plaintiff also contends that Mr. Kalanick’s design has reduced output and that, as “inde-
pendent studies have shown,” the effect of surge pricing is to lower demand so that prices remain 
artificially high. Am. Compl. ¶ 110. Based on these allegations, plaintiff claims that Mr. Kalanick 
has violated the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and the Donnelly Act, New York General Business 
Law § 340. See id. ¶¶ 120-140. *** 

In the instant case, the Court finds that plaintiff has adequately pled both a horizontal and a 
vertical conspiracy. As to the horizontal conspiracy, plaintiff alleges that Uber drivers agree to par-
ticipate in a conspiracy among themselves when they assent to the terms of Uber’s written agree-
ment (the “Driver Terms”) and accept riders using the Uber App. See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 70-71. In 
doing so, plaintiff indicates, drivers agree to collect fares through the Uber App, which sets fares 
for all Uber drivers according to the Uber pricing algorithm. In plaintiff’s view, Uber drivers forgo 
competition in which they would otherwise have engaged because they “are guaranteed that other 
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Uber drivers will not undercut them on price.” See id. ¶ 72; Memorandum of Law in Opposition 
to Defendant Travis Kalanick’s Motion to Dismiss (“Pl. Opp.Br.”), Dkt. 33, at 11. Without the 
assurance that all drivers will charge the price set by Uber, plaintiff contends, adopting Uber’s 
pricing algorithm would often not be in an individual driver’s best interest, since not competing 
with other Uber drivers on price may result in lost business opportunities. See Am. Compl. ¶ 72. 
The capacity to generate “supra-competitive prices” through agreement to the Uber pricing algo-
rithm thus provides, according to plaintiff, a “common motive to conspire” on the part of Uber 
drivers. See Amended Complaint ¶ 90. Plaintiff also draws on its allegations about meetings among 
Uber drivers and the “September 2014 conspiracy,” in which Uber agreed to reinstitute higher fares 
after negotiations with drivers, to bolster its claim of a horizontal conspiracy. See Pl. Opp. Br. at 
14-15; Am. Compl. ¶¶ 41, 87, 92. In plaintiff’s view, defendant Kalanick is liable as the organizer 
of the price-fixing conspiracy, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 76, 88; Pl. Opp. Br. at 9, and as an Uber driver 
himself, see id. ¶¶ 80-85. 

Defendant Kalanick argues, however, that the drivers’ agreement to Uber’s Driver Terms evinces 
no horizontal agreement among drivers themselves, as distinct from vertical agreements between 
each driver and Uber. See Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant Travis Kalanick’s Motion 
to Dismiss (“Def.Br.”), Dkt. 28, at 9, 12-13; Transcript of Oral Argument dated March 9, 2016 
(“Tr.”) 3:19-22. According to Mr. Kalanick, drivers’ individual decisions to enter into contractual 
arrangements with Uber constitute mere independent action that is insufficient to support plain-
tiff’s claim of a conspiracy. See Def. Br. at 9. Defendant asserts that the most “natural” explanation 
for drivers’ conduct is that each driver “independently decided it was in his or her best interest to 
enter a vertical agreement with Uber,” and doing so could be in a driver’s best interest because, for 
example, Uber matches riders with drivers and processes payment. See Def. Br. at 12-13. In de-
fendant’s view, the fact that “a condition of [the agreement with Uber] was that the driver-partner 
agree to use Uber’s pricing algorithm” does not diminish the independence of drivers’ decisions. 
See id. at 13. It follows, defendant contends, that such vertical arrangements do not support a 
horizontal conspiracy claim. 

The Court, however, is not persuaded to dismiss plaintiff’s horizontal conspiracy claim. In Inter-
state Circuit v. United States, 306 U.S. 208 (1939), the Supreme Court held that competing movie 
distributors had unlawfully restrained trade when they each agreed to a theater operator’s terms, 
including price restrictions, as indicated in a letter addressed to all the distributors. For an illegal 
conspiracy to exist, the Supreme Court stated: 

It was enough that, knowing that concerted action was contemplated and invited, the dis-
tributors gave their adherence to the scheme and participated in it.... Acceptance by com-
petitors, without previous agreement, of an invitation to participate in a plan, the necessary 
consequence of which, if carried out, is restraint of interstate commerce, is sufficient to 
establish an unlawful conspiracy under the Sherman Act. 

Interstate Circuit, 306 U.S. at 226-27. Much more recently, the Second Circuit stated: 
[C]ourts have long recognized the existence of “hub-and-spoke” conspiracies in which an 
entity at one level of the market structure, the “hub,” coordinates an agreement among 
competitors at a different level, the “spokes.” These arrangements consist of both vertical 
agreements between the hub and each spoke and a horizontal agreement among the spokes 
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to adhere to the [hub’s] terms, often because the spokes would not have gone along with 
[the vertical agreements] except on the understanding that the other [spokes] were agreeing 
to the same thing. 

United States v. Apple, Inc., 791 F.3d 290, 314 (2d Cir.2015), (internal citation and quotation marks 
omitted);. 

In this case, plaintiff has alleged that drivers agree with Uber to charge certain fares with the clear 
understanding that all other Uber drivers are agreeing to charge the same fares. See Amended 
Complaint ¶¶ 70-71. These agreements are organized and facilitated by defendant Kalanick, who 
as at least an occasional Uber driver, is also a member of the horizontal conspiracy. See id. ¶ 76, 
84. 

On a motion to dismiss, the Court is required to draw all reasonable inferences in plaintiff’s favor. 
Given this standard, the Court finds that plaintiffs have plausibly alleged a conspiracy in which 
drivers sign up for Uber precisely “on the understanding that the other [drivers] were agreeing to 
the same” pricing algorithm, and in which drivers’ agreements with Uber would “be against their 
own interests were they acting independently.” Apple, 791 F.3d at 314, 320. Further, drivers’ ability 
to benefit from reduced price competition with other drivers by agreeing to Uber’s Driver Terms 
plausibly constitutes “a common motive to conspire.” Apex Oil Co. v. DiMauro, 822 F.2d 246, 254 
(2d Cir. 1987). The fact that drivers may also, in signing up for Uber, seek to benefit from other 
services that Uber provides, such as connecting riders to drivers and processing payment, is not to 
the contrary. Of course, whether plaintiff’s allegations are in fact accurate is a different matter, to 
be left to the fact-finding process. 

The Court’s conclusion that plaintiff has alleged a plausible horizontal conspiracy is bolstered by 
plaintiff’s other allegations concerning agreement among drivers. Plaintiff, as noted supra, contends 
that Uber organizes events for drivers to get together, see Am. Compl. ¶ 41, and, more importantly, 
that Mr. Kalanick agreed to raise fares following drivers’ efforts to negotiate higher rates in Sep-
tember 2014. See id. ¶ 87. While it is true that these allegations about agreements among drivers 
reaching even beyond acceptance of Uber’s Driver Terms are not extensive, see Def. Reply Br. at 
7 n.8, nonetheless, they provide additional support for a horizontal conspiracy, and plaintiff need 
not present a direct, “smoking gun” evidence of a conspiracy, particularly at the pleading stage. 
Mayor & City Council of Baltimore, Md. v. Citigroup, Inc., 709 F.3d 129, 136 (2d Cir. 2013). 

More basically, it is well to remember that a Sherman Act conspiracy is but one form of conspir-
acy, a concept that is as ancient as it is broad. It is fundamental to the law of conspiracy that the 
agreements that form the essence of the misconduct are not to be judged by technical niceties but 
by practical realities. Sophisticated conspirators often reach their agreements as much by the wink 
and the nod as by explicit agreement, and the implicit agreement may be far more potent, and 
sinister, just by virtue of being implicit. *** In the instant case, Uber’s digitally decentralized nature 
does not prevent the App from constituting a “marketplace” through which Mr. Kalanick orga-
nized a horizontal conspiracy among drivers. 

Defendant argues, however, that plaintiff’s alleged conspiracy is “wildly implausible” and “phys-
ically impossible,” since it involves agreement “among hundreds of thousands of independent 
transportation providers all across the United States.” Def. Br. at 1. Yet as plaintiff’s counsel 
pointed out at oral argument, the capacity to orchestrate such an agreement is the “genius” of Mr. 
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Kalanick and his company, which, through the magic of smartphone technology, can invite hun-
dreds of thousands of drivers in far-flung locations to agree to Uber’s terms. See Tr. 12:15-16. The 
advancement of technological means for the orchestration of large-scale price-fixing conspiracies 
need not leave antitrust law behind. The fact that Uber goes to such lengths to portray itself—one 
might even say disguise itself—as the mere purveyor of an “app” cannot shield it from the conse-
quences of its operating as much more. 

Recent jurisprudence on vertical resale price maintenance agreements does not, as defendant 
would have it, undermine plaintiff’s claim of an illegal horizontal agreement. In Leegin, the Supreme 
Court held that resale price maintenance agreements—e.g., a retailer’s agreement with a manufac-
turer not to discount the manufacturer’s goods beneath a certain price—are to be judged by the 
rule of reason, unlike horizontal agreements to fix prices, which are per se illegal. See Leegin Creative 
Leather Products, Inc. v. PSKS, Inc., 551 U.S. 877, 886 (2007). The Court cited various “procompetitive 
justifications for a manufacturer’s use of resale price maintenance,” id. at 889, and concluded that 
although this practice may also have anticompetitive effects, the rule of reason is the best approach 
to distinguishing resale price maintenance agreements that violate the antitrust laws from those that 
do not. See id. at 897-900. 

Here, unlike in Leegin, Uber is not selling anything to drivers that is then resold to riders. Moreo-
ver, the justifications for rule of reason treatment of resale price maintenance agreements offered 
in Leegin are not directly applicable to the instant case. In particular, the Court’s attention has not 
been drawn to concerns about free-riding Uber drivers, or to efforts that Uber drivers could make 
to promote the App that will be under-provided if Uber does not set a pricing algorithm. See Leegin, 
551 U.S. at 890-91. While Mr. Kalanick asserts that Uber’s pricing algorithm facilitates its market 
entry as a new brand, this observation—which is fairly conclusory—does not rule out a horizontal 
conspiracy among Uber drivers, facilitated by Mr. Kalanick both as Uber’s CEO and as a driver 
himself. The Court therefore finds that plaintiff has adequately pleaded a horizontal antitrust con-
spiracy under Section 1 of the Sherman Act. 

As to plaintiff’s claim of a vertical conspiracy, a threshold question is whether plaintiff has alleged 
a vertical conspiracy in the Amended Complaint, which defendant denies. Although plaintiff’s al-
legations of a vertical conspiracy are much more sparse than his contentions about a horizontal 
conspiracy, the Court finds that the Amended Complaint adequately pleads a vertical conspiracy 
between each driver and Mr. Kalanick. In particular, plaintiff alleges that “[a]ll of the independent 
driver-partners have agreed to charge the fares set by Uber’s pricing algorithm,” Am. Compl. ¶ 68, 
and that Mr. Kalanick designed this business model, see id. ¶¶ 76, 78. The Amended Complaint 
also includes several allegations that would be pertinent to a rule of reason, vertical price-fixing 
theory. See id. ¶¶ 94-108. Under the Sherman Act count, plaintiff states that the “unlawful arrange-
ment consists of a series of agreements between Kalanick and each of the Uber driver-partners, as 
well as a conscious commitment among the Uber driver-partners to the common scheme of adopt-
ing the Uber pricing algorithm...” Am. Compl. ¶ 124. Plaintiff claims that Mr. Kalanick is per se 
liable as organizer of the conspiracy and as an occasional Uber driver, ¶¶ 128-29, and then states 
that “[i]n the alternative, Kalanick is also liable under Section 1 of the Sherman Act under a ‘quick 
look’ or ‘rule of reason’ analysis.” Id. ¶ 130. In the Court’s view, these allegations of legal theory, 
when coupled with the allegations of pertinent facts, are sufficient to plead a vertical conspiracy 
theory. 
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The question, then, is whether this theory is plausible under a “rule of reason” analysis. Under 
this analysis, “plaintiff bears the initial burden of showing that the challenged action has had an 
actual adverse effect on competition as a whole in the relevant market.” Capital Imaging Associates, 
P.C. v. Mohawk Valley Med. Associates, Inc., 996 F.2d 537, 543 (2d Cir. 1993). “To survive a Rule 
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, an alleged product market must bear a rational relation to the method-
ology courts prescribe to define a market for antitrust purposes—analysis of the interchangeability 
of use or the cross-elasticity of demand, and it must be plausible.” Todd v. Exxon Corp., 275 F.3d 
191, 200 (2d Cir. 2001) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). 

As to market definition, plaintiff defines the relevant market as the “mobile app-generated ride-
share service market.” Am. Compl. ¶ 94. Plaintiff alleges that Uber has an approximately 80% 
market share in the United States in this market; Uber’s chief competitor Lyft has nearly a 20% 
market share; and a third competitor, Sidecar, left the market at the end of 2015. Id. ¶¶ 95-97. 
Plaintiff then explains that traditional taxi service is not a reasonable substitute for Uber, since, for 
example, rides generated by a mobile app can be arranged at the push of a button and tracked on 
riders’ mobile phones; riders need not carry cash or a credit card, or, upon arrival, spend time 
paying for the ride; and riders can rate drivers and see some information on them before entering 
the vehicle. Id. ¶ 104. Indeed, plaintiff claims, Uber has itself stated that it does not view taxis as 
ride-sharing competition. Id. ¶ 105. 

Plaintiff also alleges that traditional cars for hire are not reasonable substitutes, since they gener-
ally need to be scheduled in advance for prearranged locations. Id. ¶ 106. However, plaintiff nev-
ertheless contends that “Uber has obtained a significant share of business in the combined markets 
of taxis, cars for hire, and mobile-app generated ride-share services,” and that Uber’s own experts 
have suggested that in some U.S. cities, Uber has 50% to 70% of business customers “among all 
types of rides,” which seems to refer to these combined markets. Id. ¶ 107. 

Defendant contests plaintiff’s proposed market definition, arguing that plaintiff provides inade-
quate justification for the exclusion not just of taxis and car services, but also of public transit such 
as subways and buses, personal vehicle use, and walking. See Def. Br. at 18; Def. Reply Br. at 8. In 
defendant’s view, “[e]ach of these alternatives is a clear substitute for the services provided by 
driver-partners.” Def. Br. at 18. 

One could argue this either way (and defendant’s attorneys are encouraged to hereinafter walk 
from their offices to the courthouse to put their theory to the test). But for present purposes, 
plaintiff has provided plausible explanations for its proposed market definition, and the accuracy 
of these explanations may be tested through discovery and, if necessary, trial. “Market definition is 
a deeply fact-intensive inquiry [and] courts [therefore] hesitate to grant motions to dismiss for fail-
ure to plead a relevant product market.” Chapman v. New York State Div. for Youth, 546 F.3d 
230, 238 (2d Cir. 2008). Plaintiff’s allegation that Uber—an industry member—recognizes that it 
does not compete with taxis, see Am. Compl. ¶ 105, also deserves consideration. The Court finds 
that plaintiff has pleaded a plausible relevant product market. 

The Court further finds that plaintiff has adequately pleaded adverse effects in the relevant mar-
ket. Specifically, plaintiff pleads that “Kalanick’s actions have further restrained competition by 
decreasing output,” Am. Compl. ¶ 110 (citing “independent studies”); “Uber’s market position has 
already helped force Sidecar out of the marketplace,” id. ¶ 102; “Uber’s dominant position and 
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considerable name recognition has also made it difficult for potential competitors to enter the mar-
ketplace,” id. ¶ 103. 

Defendant counters that Uber provides many pro-competitive benefits, see Def. Reply Br. at 9, 
and also disputes the conclusions that plaintiff purports to draw from the cited studies. See Def. 
Letter. Defendant’s counter-assertions, while certainly well worth a fact-finder’s consideration, do 
not persuade the Court to grant a motion to dismiss. The Court hence determines that plaintiff has 
plausibly pleaded adverse effects in the relevant market. Consequently, the Court finds that plaintiff 
has presented a plausible claim of a vertical conspiracy under Section 1 of the Sherman Act. ***8 
For these reasons, the Court denies defendant Kalanick’s motion to dismiss. *** 
 

Philadelphia Taxi Ass’n, Inc. v. Uber Technologies, Inc. 
886 F.3d 332 (3rd Cir. 2018) 
RENDELL, Circuit Judge: Philadelphia taxicab drivers, aggrieved by the influx of taxis hailed at 
the touch of an app on one’s phone, brought this antitrust action to protest the entry of Appellee 
Uber Technologies, Inc. (“Uber”) into the Philadelphia taxicab market. The Philadelphia Taxi As-
sociation (“PTA”), along with 80 individual taxicab companies (collectively, “Appellants”), appeal 
the District Court’s dismissal of their Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) alleging one count of 
attempted monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, and seeking injunc-
tive relief and treble damages under Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

Appellants urge us to reverse the District Court’s Order, contending that Uber violated the anti-
trust laws because its entry into the Philadelphia taxicab market was illegal, predatory, and led to a 
sharp drop in the value of taxicab medallions as well as a loss of profits. They contend that this is 
evidence that Uber’s operation in Philadelphia was anticompetitive and caused them to suffer an 
antitrust injury. However, the conduct they allege falls short of the conduct that would constitute 
an attempted monopoly in contravention of the antitrust laws. Thus, we will affirm the District 
Court’s dismissal of the SAC for failure to state a claim for attempted monopolization and failure 
to state an antitrust injury. 

I. Background & Procedural History 
From March of 2005 to October of 2014, taxicabs operating in Philadelphia were required to have 
a medallion and a certificate of public convenience, issued by the Philadelphia Parking Authority 
(“PPA”). Medallions are property, and are often pledged as collateral to borrow funds to finance 

 
8 Defendant argues that plaintiff is equitably estopped from avoiding the class action waiver in the user agreement that plaintiff 

made with Uber. The relevant provision of the User Agreement reads: 
Dispute Resolution: You and Company agree that any dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement... will be settled by binding arbitration... You acknowledge and agree that you and Company are each waiving the 
right to a trial by jury or to participate as a plaintiff or class User in any purported class action or representative proceeding. 

User Agreement at 8-9. Although plaintiff has sued Mr. Kalanick personally and not Uber, defendant claims that plaintiff’s 
claims against Mr. Kalanick are “intimately founded in and intertwined with” the underlying agreement with Uber. The Court 
finds, however, that since defendant is not seeking to compel arbitration, and plaintiff is not seeking to enforce the User 
Agreement against defendant, plaintiff is not equitably estopped from pursuing a class action suit against Mr. Kalanick, nor has 
plaintiff waived the right to proceed through this mechanism. 
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the purchase of the cab or to “upgrade and improve the operations of taxicabs.” 53 Pa. C.S.A. § 
5712(a). Once medallion-holders comply with the obligatory standards for taxicabs, they may ob-
tain a certificate of public convenience. Those standards, which provide for safety and uniformity 
among taxicabs, require vehicles to be insured and in proper condition, and mandate that drivers 
are paid the prevailing minimum wage, are proficient in English, and have the appropriate drivers’ 
licenses. 

As alleged in the SAC, when the medallion system was mandated in Philadelphia in 2005, a me-
dallion was worth only $65,000. In October of 2014, there were approximately 500 taxicab compa-
nies in Philadelphia. Together, 7,000 drivers held 1610 medallions, each valued at an average of 
$545,000. 

Appellants are 80 of those 500 companies, which collectively hold 240 of the 1610 medallions, 
as well as PTA, which was incorporated to advance the legal interests of its members—the 80 
individual medallion taxicab companies. 

Uber began operating in Philadelphia in October of 2014 without securing medallions or certifi-
cates of public convenience for its vehicles. While a potential rider can avail himself of a medallion 
taxicab by calling a dispatcher or hailing an available cab, to use Uber, he can download the Uber 
application onto his mobile phone and request that the vehicle come to his location, wherever he 
is. Passengers enter payment information, which is retained by Uber and automatically processed 
at the end of each ride. Uber does not own or assume legal responsibility for the vehicles or their 
operation, nor does it hire the drivers as its employees. Uber did not pay fines to the PPA or comply 
with its regulations when it first entered the Philadelphia taxi market, as is otherwise required for 
medallion taxicabs. Appellants maintain that this rendered Uber’s operation illegal, and enabled the 
company to cut operating costs considerably. 

In October of 2016, the Pennsylvania state legislature passed a law approving Uber’s operation 
in Philadelphia, under the authority of the PPA. The law, which went into effect in November of 
2016, allows the PPA to regulate both medallion taxicab companies and Transportation Network 
Companies (“TNCs”)—a classification that includes Uber and other vehicle-for-hire companies 
that operate through digital apps—in Philadelphia. TNCs must now obtain licenses to operate and 
comply with certain requirements, including insurance obligations and safety standards for drivers 
and vehicles. The law also exempts TNCs from disclosing the number of drivers or vehicles oper-
ating in the city, and allows TNCs to set their own fares, unlike medallion taxicab companies, which 
comply with established rates, minimum wages, and have a limited number of vehicles and medal-
lions operating at once in Philadelphia. 

Before this law passed, in Uber’s first two years in Philadelphia, nearly 1200 medallion taxicab 
drivers left their respective companies and began to drive for Uber. In those two years, there were 
1700 Uber drivers and vehicles operating in Philadelphia, serving over 700,000 riders, for more 
than one million trips. Simultaneously, medallion taxi rides reduced by about 30 percent, and thus 
Appellants experienced a 30 percent decrease in earnings. The value of each medallion dropped 
significantly, to approximately $80,000 in November of 2016. Fifteen percent of medallions have 
been confiscated by the lenders due to default by drivers. 

The PTA and 75 individual taxicab companies filed a Complaint, alleging three counts: attempted 
monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act, tortious interference with contract under 
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Pennsylvania law, and unfair competition under Pennsylvania law. Uber moved to dismiss the 
Complaint. 

Appellants, the PTA and now 80 individual taxicab companies, then filed an Amended Com-
plaint, alleging the same three counts. Uber moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. The Dis-
trict Court granted the dismissal, without prejudice. The District Court noted that Plaintiffs alleged 
merely harm to their business after Uber entered the Philadelphia taxicab market, and that Plaintiffs 
pointed to Uber’s supposed illegal participation in the taxicab market as evidence of attempted 
monopolization. However, the District Court concluded that these harms are “not the type of 
injuries that antitrust laws were intended to prevent, and thus do not establish antitrust standing.” 
Phila. Taxi Ass’n, Inc. v. Uber Techs., Inc., 218 F.Supp.3d 389, 392 (E.D. Pa. 2016). The Court 
also dismissed the state law claims, for failure to plead the proper elements of an unfair competition 
or a tortious interference claim. 

Appellants then filed the SAC, alleging one count of attempted monopolization under Section 2 
of the Sherman Act and seeking treble damages under Section 4 of the Clayton Act. Uber re-
sponded with a Motion to Dismiss, which the District Court granted, with prejudice. The District 
Court held that Appellants, in spite of multiple opportunities for amendment, had pled no antitrust 
injury sufficient for antitrust standing, and were unlikely to cure the lack of standing with any 
amendments to the SAC. The Court also held that the PTA could not satisfy the requirements for 
associational standing because the association’s members lacked standing to sue on their own. *** 

III. Discussion 
*** If the challenged conduct has an effect on “prices, quantity or quality of goods or services,” 
Mathews v. Lancaster Gen. Hosp., 87 F.3d 624, 641 (3d Cir. 1996), we will find a violation of antitrust 
laws only when that effect harms the market, and thereby harms the consumer. 

Anticompetitive conduct is the hallmark of an antitrust claim. An allegation of anticompetitive 
conduct is necessary both to: (1) state a claim for attempted monopolization; and (2) aver that a 
private plaintiff has suffered an antitrust injury. Appellants’ SAC, however, is deficient in averring 
conduct that is, in fact, anticompetitive. 

While our caselaw is unresolved regarding which to address first—an antitrust violation or an 
antitrust injury—we need not resolve that here, because Appellants’ claim fails on both counts. We 
begin by discussing how Appellants’ allegations in the SAC fall short of demonstrating anticom-
petitive conduct, and thus fail to state a claim for attempted monopolization, and then discuss how 
in the alternative, Appellants fail to allege antitrust injury to have antitrust standing. For both rea-
sons, we affirm the judgment of the District Court dismissing the SAC with prejudice. 

A. Attempted Monopolization 
To prevail on a claim under Sherman Act Section 2 for attempted monopolization, a plaintiff must 
prove: “(1) that the defendant has engaged in predatory or anticompetitive conduct with (2) a spe-
cific intent to monopolize and (3) a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power.” Mylan 
Pharm. Inc. v. Warner Chilcott Pub. Ltd. Co., 838 F.3d 421, 433 (3d Cir. 2016) (quoting Broadcom Corp. 
v. Qualcomm Inc., 501 F.3d 297, 317 (3d Cir. 2007). *** Liability hinges on whether valid business 
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reasons, as part of the ordinary competitive process, can explain the defendant’s actions that re-
sulted in a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power. See Avaya Inc., RP v. Telecom Labs, 
Inc., 838 F.3d 354, 393 (3d Cir. 2016). 

In the SAC, Appellants allege that Uber: (1) flooded the market with non-medallion taxicabs, 
entered the market illegally without purchasing medallions, operated at a lower cost by failing to 
comply with statutory requirements and regulations, and lured away drivers from Individual Plain-
tiffs, which allegedly impaired the competitive market for medallion taxicabs; (2) knew of PPA’s 
regulatory jurisdiction over vehicles for hire, purposefully ignored or avoided the regulations and 
rulings of the Court of Common Pleas, and thereby excluded rivals from competing in the taxicab 
market; and (3) is dangerously close to achieving monopoly power with its market share and by 
operating in an unfair playing field with the “financial ability” to be the only market player and to 
destroy competitors’ business. SAC ¶ 83. Appellants also complain that the new legislation author-
izing the TNCs’ operation would facilitate the creation of an illegal monopoly. 

We find that the SAC fails to plausibly allege any of the three elements of an attempted monop-
olization claim. 

1. Anticompetitive Conduct 
Allegations of purportedly anticompetitive conduct are meritless if those acts would cause no del-
eterious effect on competition. This is where the SAC falters: Appellants set forth a litany of ways 
in which Uber’s entry into the market has harmed Appellants’ business and their investment in 
medallions; yet none of the allegations demonstrate a harmful effect on competition. 

To determine whether conduct is anticompetitive, “courts must look to the monopolist’s conduct 
taken as a whole rather than considering each aspect in isolation.” LePage’s Inc. v. 3M, 324 F.3d 141, 
162 (3d Cir. 2003) (en banc). 

Here, Appellants claim that Uber inundated the Philadelphia taxicab market illegally with their 
non-medallion vehicles. They contend that Uber’s entry into the market was predatory because it 
failed to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements, failed to purchase medallions, failed 
to pay drivers a minimum wage, and failed to obtain the proper insurance, among other actions. 
All of these actions, Appellants assert, enabled Uber to operate at a significantly lower cost than 
the medallion companies, and thereby acquire a stronghold in the Philadelphia taxicab market. 

Appellants also maintain that Uber “flooded” the Philadelphia taxicab market by improperly lur-
ing drivers away from medallion companies, including Individual Plaintiffs. Appellants cite Uber’s 
practice of sending representatives to 30th Street Station and the Philadelphia International Airport, 
where medallion taxicab drivers often congregate, to disseminate information about its services and 
to recruit potential drivers. They argue that Uber promised new drivers financial inducements, such 
as reimbursements for the cost of gasoline, as an incentive to leave their medallion companies and 
instead drive for Uber. 

Considering the averments regarding Uber’s conduct in their totality, Uber’s elimination of me-
dallion taxicab competition did not constitute anticompetitive conduct violative of the antitrust 
laws. 

First, inundating the Philadelphia taxicab market with Uber vehicles, even if it served to eliminate 
competitors, was not anticompetitive. Rather, this bolstered competition by offering customers 
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lower prices, more available taxicabs, and a high-tech alternative to the customary method of hailing 
taxicabs and paying for rides. It is well established that lower prices, as long as they are not preda-
tory, benefit consumers—“regardless of how those prices are set.” Atl. Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum 
Co., 495 U.S. 328, 340 (1990). “Cutting prices in order to increase business often is the very essence 
of competition.” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 592 (1986). Thus, lost 
business alone cannot be deemed a consequence of “anticompetitive” acts by the defendant. See 
Atl. Richfield, 495 U.S. at 337. 

Second, Uber’s ability to operate at a lower cost is not anticompetitive. Running a business with 
greater economic efficiency is to be encouraged, because that often translates to enhanced compe-
tition among market players, better products, and lower prices for consumers. Even if Uber were 
able to cut costs by allegedly violating PPA regulations, Appellants cannot use the antitrust laws to 
hold Uber liable for these violations absent proof of anticompetitive conduct. Even unlawful con-
duct is “of no concern to the antitrust laws” unless it produces an anticompetitive effect. Brunswick 
Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 487 (1977). 

Finally, hiring rivals may be anticompetitive, but only in certain cases. For example, if rival em-
ployees were hired in an attempt to exclude competitors from the market for some basis other than 
efficiency or merit, such as to acquire monopoly power or to merely deny the employees to the 
rival, this could violate the antitrust laws if injurious to the rival and to competition at large. 

However, Appellants acknowledge that the nearly 1200 medallion taxicab drivers that Uber re-
cruited did not remain idle, but rather they drove for Uber. In sum, what Appellants allege does 
not give rise to an inference of anticompetitive or exclusionary conduct and suggests, if anything, 
that Uber’s ability to attract these drivers was due to its cost efficiency and competitive advantage. 

Thus, the SAC is devoid of allegations of truly anticompetitive conduct. 

2. Specific Intent to Monopolize 
Appellants allege specific intent to monopolize from Uber’s knowledge that the PPA maintained 
regulatory authority over vehicles-for-hire, and its choice to avoid regulation by being a TNC that 
neither owned vehicles nor employed drivers. They also point to Uber’s alleged willful disregard of 
the rulings of the Court of Common Pleas. Appellants’ claim, in essence, is that Uber’s knowledge 
that their operation was illegal reveals a specific intent to monopolize. 

“[I]n a traditional § 2 claim, a plaintiff would have to point to specific, egregious conduct that 
evinced a predatory motivation and a specific intent to monopolize.” Avaya, 838 F.3d at 406 (citing 
Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 456 (1993)). *** 

While Uber’s alleged conduct might have formed the basis of a regulatory violation, its knowledge 
of existing regulations alone cannot reasonably be said to demonstrate specific intent to monopo-
lize. Further, Uber’s choice to distinguish itself from other vehicles-for-hire, eschewing medallions 
in favor of independent drivers who operate their own cars at will, can instead be reasonably viewed 
as “predominantly motivated by legitimate business aims.” Times Picayune Publ’g Co. v. United States, 
345 U.S. 594, 627 (1953). Appellants have not averred any other motive. The allegations suggest 
that these business choices allowed Uber to operate more efficiently, and to offer a service that 
consumers find attractive, thus enabling it to acquire a share of the Philadelphia taxicab market. 
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Thus, Uber’s alleged competitive strategy of creating a vehicle-for-hire business model, presum-
ably to acquire customers, does not reflect specific intent to monopolize. Accordingly, Appellants 
have failed to allege specific intent on Uber’s part. 

3. Dangerous Probability of Achieving Monopoly Power 
We held in Broadcom Corp. v. Qualcomm Inc. that because the dangerous probability standard is a 
complex and “fact-intensive” inquiry, courts “typically should not resolve this question at the plead-
ing stage ‘unless it is clear on the face of the complaint that the “dangerous probability” standard 
cannot be met as a matter of law.’” 501 F.3d at 318-19 (quoting Brader v. Allegheny Gen. Hosp., 64 
F.3d 869, 877 (3d Cir. 1995)). 

We may consider factors such as “significant market share coupled with anticompetitive practices, 
barriers to entry, the strength of competition, the probable development of the industry, and the 
elasticity of consumer demand” to determine whether dangerous probability was alleged in the 
pleadings. Id. Entry barriers include “regulatory requirements, high capital costs, or technological 
obstacles[] that prevent new competition from entering a market.” Id. at 307 (citations omitted). 
“No single factor is dispositive.” Id. at 318. 

Appellants argue that Uber has a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power because it 
has pushed numerous competitors out of the market. As discussed, however, the SAC fails to allege 
anticompetitive practices by Uber. Nor does the SAC mention Uber’s market share; it merely sug-
gests that Uber and medallion taxicabs had similar numbers of vehicles operating in Philadelphia 
as of October 2016. This allegation falls short of indicating Uber’s market share in the context of 
all the competitors in the Philadelphia taxicab market, such as other TNCs. 

Similarly, the SAC makes no allegation of current barriers to entry or weak competition from 
other market participants. Appellants make the bold allegation that Uber holds the power to raise 
barriers to entry in the market, without any factual support. In fact, the SAC alleges that Uber was 
readily able to enter the Philadelphia market. *** Surely other competitors, such as Lyft, are able to 
enter without difficulty, as well. 

Nor does the SAC describe any potentially harmful industry developments. It only vaguely claims 
that Uber may be able to drive out competition and raise entry barriers. Appellants assert in the 
SAC that once Uber becomes the dominant competitor, it would be able to charge higher prices, 
and consumers who do not own smartphones would be deprived of the ability to hail taxis on the 
street. Absent any allegations of a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power, this argu-
ment fails. And, as counsel for Uber stated at oral argument, if Uber raised its prices, this would 
encourage other rivals to enter the market and charge lower prices, battling Uber through price 
competition. 

Because the elements of attempted monopolization are often interdependent, proof of one ele-
ment may provide “permissible inferences” of other elements. Broadcom, 501 F.3d at 318 (quoting 
Barr Labs., Inc. v. Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 112 (3d Cir. 1992)). Even so, none of the other elements 
of attempted monopolization allow us to infer a dangerous probability that Uber will achieve mo-
nopoly power. Acknowledging Broadcom’s reticence to resolve the dangerous probability question 
at the pleadings stage, we nevertheless find that the SAC does not allege any of the relevant factors 
to prove that Uber had a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power. 
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In sum, Appellants have failed to set forth a plausible claim of attempted monopolization under 
Section 2 of the Sherman Act, as a matter of law. *** 

V. Conclusion 
Appellants may have been better off, financially, if Uber had not entered the Philadelphia taxicab 
market. However, Appellants have no right to exclude competitors from the taxicab market, even 
if those new entrants failed to obtain medallions or certificates of public convenience. See Ill. 
Transp. Trade Ass’n v. City of Chicago, 839 F.3d 594, 597 (7th Cir. 2016) (Posner, J.). 

If medallion taxicabs could prevent TNCs from entering the Philadelphia market, and if incum-
bents could prevent new entrants or new technologies from competing because they fear loss of 
profits, then “economic progress might grind to a halt.” Id. at 596-97. “Instead of taxis we might 
have horse and buggies; instead of the telephone, the telegraph; instead of computers, slide rules.” 
Id. at 597. 

Absent any allegations of anticompetitive conduct, Appellants fail to allege any of the elements 
for a claim for attempted monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act and fail to allege 
antitrust standing. 

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the District Court is AFFIRMED. 
 

Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America v. City of Seattle 
890 F.3d 769 (9th Cir. 2018) 
M. SMITH, Circuit Judge: On December 14, 2015, the Seattle City Council enacted into law Ordi-
nance 124968, an Ordinance Relating to Taxicab, Transportation Network Company, and For-Hire 
Vehicle Drivers (Ordinance). The Ordinance was the first municipal ordinance of its kind in the 
United States, and authorizes a collective-bargaining process between “driver coordinators”—like 
Uber Technologies (Uber), Lyft, Inc. (Lyft), and Eastside for Hire, Inc. (Eastside)—and independ-
ent contractors who work as for-hire drivers. The Ordinance permits independent-contractor driv-
ers, represented by an entity denominated an “exclusive driver representative,” and driver coordi-
nators to agree on the “nature and amount of payments to be made by, or withheld from, the driver 
coordinator to or by the drivers.” Seattle, Wash., Municipal Code § 6.310.735(H)(1). This provision 
of the Ordinance is the crux of this case. 

Acting on behalf of its members Uber, Lyft, and Eastside, Plaintiff-Appellant the Chamber of 
Commerce of the United States of America, together with Plaintiff-Appellant Rasier, LLC, a sub-
sidiary of Uber (collectively, the Chamber), sued Defendants-Appellees the City of Seattle, the Se-
attle Department of Finance and Administrative Services (the Department), and the Department’s 
Director, Fred Podesta (collectively, the City), challenging the Ordinance on federal antitrust and 
labor law grounds. First, the Chamber asserts that the Ordinance violates, and is preempted by, 
section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, because the Ordinance sanctions price-fixing 
of ride-referral service fees by private cartels of independent-contractor drivers. Second, the Cham-
ber claims that the Ordinance is preempted by the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. 
§§ 151-169, under Machinists and Garmon preemption. 



Picker, Antitrust Winter 2023 Page 222 

 

 

The district court dismissed the case, holding that the state-action immunity doctrine exempts 
the Ordinance from preemption by the Sherman Act, and that the NLRA does not preempt the 
Ordinance. The Chamber appealed both holdings. 

We have jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. We reverse the district court’s 
dismissal of the Chamber’s federal antitrust claims, and remand the federal antitrust claims to the 
district court for further proceedings. We also affirm the district court’s dismissal of the Chamber’s 
NLRA preemption claims. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

A. Ride-Referral Companies 
Eastside is the largest dispatcher of taxicab and for-hire vehicles in the Pacific Northwest. Eastside 
provides licensed taxicab and for-hire vehicle drivers with dispatch, advertising, payment pro-
cessing, and other administrative services, in exchange for a weekly fee, payable by drivers to 
Eastside. Relying on advertising and a preexisting client base, Eastside generates transportation 
requests from passengers, who call, text-message, or email Eastside to request a ride. Eastside then 
refers ride requests to drivers through a mobile data terminal. If a passenger uses a credit card to 
pay a driver, Eastside processes the transaction and remits the payment to the driver. The drivers 
who pay for Eastside’s services are independent contractors—Eastside does not dictate how the 
drivers operate their transportation businesses. For example, some drivers own licensed vehicles, 
whereas others lease them. 

Uber and Lyft, founded in 2009 and 2012, respectively, have ushered ride-referral services into 
the digital age. Uber and Lyft have developed proprietary smartphone applications (apps) that en-
able an online platform, or digital marketplace, for ride-referral services, often referred to as “rides-
haring” services. After downloading the Uber or Lyft app onto their smartphones, riders request 
rides through the app, which transmits ride requests to available drivers nearby. Drivers are free to 
accept or ignore a ride request. If a driver accepts a ride request, he or she is matched electronically 
with the rider, and then proceeds to the rider’s location and fulfills the ride request. If a driver 
ignores a ride request, the digital platform transmits the request to another nearby driver. Drivers 
may cancel a ride request, even after initially accepting it, at any point prior to the commencement 
of the ride. Riders, too, may decide whether or not to accept a ride from any of the drivers contacted 
through the app. After a ride is completed, riders pay drivers via the Uber or Lyft app, using a 
payment method, such as a credit card, placed on file with Uber or Lyft. 

Uber and Lyft’s business models have facilitated the rise of the so-called “gig economy.” In order 
to receive ride requests through the apps, drivers contract with, and pay a technology licensing fee 
to, Uber or Lyft. These licensing fees are a percentage of riders’ paid fares: Uber and Lyft subtract 
their technology licensing fees from riders’ payments, and remit the remainder to drivers. Drivers’ 
contractual agreements with either Uber or Lyft are not exclusive—in fact, many drivers use several 
ridesharing apps and even operate multiple apps simultaneously. Drivers may use the Uber and 
Lyft apps for however long and whenever they wish, if they wish to use them at all. 
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B. The Ordinance 
On December 14, 2015, the Seattle City Council adopted Ordinance 124968. The stated purpose 
of the Ordinance is to “allow[] taxicab, transportation network company, and for-hire vehicle driv-
ers (‘for-hire drivers’) to modify specific agreements collectively with the entities that hire, direct, 
arrange, or manage their work,” in order to “better ensure that [for-hire drivers] can perform their 
services in a safe, reliable, stable, cost-effective, and economically viable manner.” Seattle, Wash., 
Ordinance 124968, pmbl. 

The Ordinance requires “driver coordinators” to bargain collectively with for-hire drivers. Id. § 
1(I). A “driver coordinator” is defined as “an entity that hires, contracts with, or partners with for-
hire drivers for the purpose of assisting them with, or facilitating them in, providing for-hire ser-
vices to the public.” Seattle, Wash., Municipal Code § 6.310.110. The Ordinance applies only to 
drivers who contract with a driver coordinator “other than in the context of an employer-employee 
relationship”—in other words, the Ordinance applies only to independent contractors. Id. § 
6.310.735(D). 

The collective-bargaining process begins with the election of a “qualified driver representative,” 
or QDR. Id. §§ 6.310.110, 6.310.735(C). An entity seeking to represent for-hire drivers operating 
within Seattle first submits a request to the Director of Finance and Administrative Services (the 
Director) for approval to be a QDR. Id. § 6.310.735(C). Once approved by the City, the QDR must 
notify the driver coordinator of its intent to represent the driver coordinator’s for-hire drivers. Id. 
§ 6.310.735(C)(2). 

Upon receiving proper notice from the QDR, the driver coordinator must provide the QDR with 
the names, addresses, email addresses, and phone numbers of all “qualifying drivers.” Id. § 
6.310.735(D). This disclosure requirement applies only to driver coordinators that have “hired, 
contracted with, partnered with, or maintained a contractual relationship or partnership with, 50 or 
more for-hire drivers in the 30 days prior to the commencement date” set by the Director. Id. 

The QDR then contacts the qualifying drivers to solicit their interest in being represented by the 
QDR. Id. § 6.310.735(E). Within 120 days of receiving the qualifying drivers’ contact information, 
the QDR submits to the Director statements of interest from qualifying drivers indicating that they 
wish to be represented by the QDR in collective-bargaining negotiations with the driver coordina-
tor. Id. § 6.310.735(F)(1). If a majority of qualifying drivers consent to representation by the QDR, 
the Director certifies the QDR as the “exclusive driver representative” (EDR) for all for-hire driv-
ers for that particular driver coordinator. Id. § 6.310.735(F)(2). 

Once the Director certifies the EDR, 
the driver coordinator and the EDR shall meet and negotiate in good faith certain subjects 
to be specified in rules or regulations promulgated by the Director including, but not limited 
to, best practices regarding vehicle equipment standards; safe driving practices; the manner 
in which the driver coordinator will conduct criminal background checks of all prospective 
drivers; the nature and amount of payments to be made by, or withheld from, the driver coordinator to or 
by the drivers; minimum hours of work, conditions of work, and applicable rules. 

Id. § 6.310.735(H)(1) (emphasis added). 
If an agreement is reached, the driver coordinator and the EDR submit the written agreement to 

the Director. Id. § 6.310.735(H)(2). The Director reviews the agreement for compliance with the 
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Ordinance and Chapter 6.310 of the Seattle Municipal Code, which governs taxicabs and for-hire 
vehicles. Id. In conducting this review, the Director is to “ensure that the substance of the agree-
ment promotes the provision of safe, reliable, and economical for-hire transportation services and 
otherwise advance[s] the public policy goals set forth in Chapter 6.310 and in the [Ordinance].” Id. 

The Director’s review is not limited to the parties’ submissions or the terms of the proposed 
agreement. Id. Rather, the Director may gather and consider additional evidence, conduct public 
hearings, and request information from the EDR and the driver coordinator. Id. 

The agreement becomes final and binding on all parties if the Director finds the agreement com-
pliant. Id. § 6.310.735(H)(2)(a). The agreement does not take effect until the Director makes such 
an affirmative determination. Id. § 6.310.735(H)(2)(c). If the Director finds the agreement non-
compliant, the Director remands it to the parties with a written explanation of the agreement’s 
failures, and may offer recommendations for remedying the agreement’s inadequacies. Id. § 
6.310.735(H)(2)(b). 

If the driver coordinator and the EDR do not reach an agreement, “either party must submit to 
interest arbitration upon the request of the other,” in accordance with the procedures and criteria 
specified in the Ordinance. Id. § 6.310.735(I). The interest arbitrator must propose an agreement 
compliant with Chapter 6.310 and in line with the City’s public policy goals. Id. § 6.310.735(I)(2). 
The term of an agreement proposed by the interest arbitrator may not exceed two years. Id. 

The interest arbitrator submits the proposed agreement to the Director, who reviews the agree-
ment for compliance with the Ordinance and Chapter 6.310, in the same manner the Director 
reviews an agreement proposed by the parties. Id. § 6.310.735(I)(3). 

The parties may discuss additional terms and propose amendments to an approved agreement. 
Id. § 6.310.735(J). The parties must submit any proposed amendments to the Director for approval. 
Id. The Director has the authority to withdraw approval of an agreement during its term, if the 
Director finds that the agreement no longer complies with the Ordinance or furthers the City’s 
public policy goals. Id. § 6.310.735(J)(1). *** 

ANALYSIS 

I. State-Action Immunity Does Not Protect the Ordinance from Preemption by Section 1 of the 
Sherman Act. 
We turn first to the Chamber’s federal antitrust claims, and hold that the Ordinance does not meet 
the requirements for state-action immunity. 

A. Preemption 
In determining whether the Sherman Act preempts a state or local law pursuant to the Supremacy 
Clause, we apply the principles of conflict preemption. “As in the typical pre-emption case, the 
inquiry is whether there exists an irreconcilable conflict between the federal and state [or local] 
regulatory schemes.” Rice v. Norman Williams Co., 458 U.S. 654, 659 (1982). 

A state or local law, “when considered in the abstract, may be condemned under the antitrust 
laws,” and thus preempted, “only if it mandates or authorizes conduct that necessarily constitutes 
a violation of the antitrust laws in all cases, or if it places irresistible pressure on a private party to 
violate the antitrust laws in order to comply with the statute.” Id. at 661. “Such condemnation will 
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follow under [section] 1 of the Sherman Act when the conduct contemplated by the statute is in all 
cases a per se violation.” Id. However, “[i]f the activity addressed by the statute does not fall into 
that category, and therefore must be analyzed under the rule of reason, the statute cannot be con-
demned in the abstract.” Id. Unlike the categorical analysis under the per se rule of illegality, “[a]nal-
ysis under the rule of reason requires an examination of the circumstances underlying a particular 
economic practice, and therefore does not lend itself to a conclusion that a statute is facially incon-
sistent with federal antitrust laws.” Id. In short, the Ordinance may be preempted facially by federal 
antitrust law if it authorizes a per se violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, but not if it must 
be analyzed under the rule of reason. *** 

Here, the district court assumed, without deciding, “that collusion between independent eco-
nomic actors to set the prices they will accept for their services in the market is a per se antitrust 
violation.” On appeal, the City acknowledges that it “did not challenge the Chamber’s contention 
that collective negotiations regarding topics such as payments to drivers could, absent Parker im-
munity, constitute per se antitrust violations.” Because the district court dismissed the Chamber’s 
federal antitrust claims solely on the basis of state-action immunity, we limit our analysis to that 
issue. We accept, without reaching the merits of the question, that the Ordinance authorizes a per 
se antitrust violation. The parties may address on remand which mode of antitrust analysis—the 
per se rule of illegality or the rule of reason—applies. 

B. The Requirements for State-Action Immunity 
The state-action immunity doctrine derives from Parker v. Brown, 317 U.S. 341 (1943). In Parker, 
the Supreme Court held that “because ‘nothing in the language of the Sherman Act ... or in its 
history’ suggested that Congress intended to restrict the sovereign capacity of the States to regulate 
their economies, the Act should not be read to bar States from imposing market restraints ‘as an 
act of government.’” FTC v. Phoebe Putney Health Sys., Inc., 568 U.S. 216, 224 (2013) (quoting Parker, 
317 U.S. at 350, 352). Following Parker, the Supreme Court has, “under certain circumstances,” 
extended immunity from federal antitrust laws to “nonstate actors carrying out the State’s regula-
tory program.” Id. at 224-25. 

State-action immunity is the exception rather than the rule. *** The Supreme Court uses a two-
part test, sometimes referred to as the Midcal test, to “determin[e] whether the anticompetitive acts 
of private parties are entitled to immunity.” Id. First, “the challenged restraint [must] be one clearly 
articulated and affirmatively expressed as state policy,” and second, “the policy [must] be actively 
supervised by the State.” Id. (quoting Cal. Retail Liquor Dealers Ass’n v. Midcal Aluminum, Inc., 445 
U.S. 97, 105 (1980)). 

“Because municipalities and other political subdivisions are not themselves sovereign, state-ac-
tion immunity under Parker does not apply to them directly.” Id. As such, “immunity will only 
attach to the activities of local governmental entities if they are undertaken pursuant to a ‘clearly 
articulated and affirmatively expressed’ state policy to displace competition.” Id. at 226, (quoting 
Cmty. Commc’ns Co. v. Boulder, 455 U.S. 40, 52 (1982)). Local governmental entities, “unlike private 
parties, . . . are not subject to the ‘active state supervision requirement’ because they have less of 
an incentive to pursue their own self-interest under the guise of implementing state policies.” Id. 
(quoting Town of Hallie v. City of Eau Claire, 471 U.S. 34, 46-47 (1985)). “Where state or municipal 
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regulation by a private party is involved, however, active state supervision must be shown, even 
where a clearly articulated state policy exists.” Hallie, 471 U.S. at 46 n.10. 

i. The Clear-Articulation Test 
We conclude that the anticompetitive restraint challenged in this case fails the first prong of the 
Midcal test. The State of Washington has not “clearly articulated and affirmatively expressed” a state 
policy authorizing private parties to price-fix the fees for-hire drivers pay to companies like Uber 
or Lyft in exchange for ride-referral services. 

The clear-articulation test is met “if the anticompetitive effect was the ‘foreseeable result’ of what 
the State authorized.” Phoebe Putney, 568 U.S. at 226-27 (quoting Hallie, 471 U.S. at 42). “‘[T]o pass 
the “clear articulation” test,’ a state legislature need not ‘expressly state in a statute or its legislative 
history that the legislature intends for the delegated action to have anticompetitive effects.’” Id. at 
226 (alteration in original) (quoting Hallie, 471 U.S. at 43). *** 

Our inquiry with respect to the clear-articulation test is a precise one. “[T]he relevant question is 
whether the regulatory structure which has been adopted by the state has specifically authorized the 
conduct alleged to violate the Sherman Act.” Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. Wash. Nat. Gas Co., 99 F.3d 937, 
942 (9th Cir. 1996) (emphasis added). The state’s authorization must be plain and clear: The rele-
vant statutory provisions must “‘plainly show’ that the [state] legislature contemplated the sort of 
activity that is challenged,” which occurs where they “confer ‘express authority to take action that 
foreseeably will result in anticompetitive effects.’” Hass v. Or. State Bar, 883 F.2d 1453, 1457 (9th Cir. 
1989) (first emphasis added) (quoting Hallie, 471 U.S. at 43-44). The state, in its sovereign capacity, 
must “clearly intend[] to displace competition in a particular field with a regulatory structure ... in 
the relevant market.” S. Motor Carriers Rate Conference, Inc. v. United States, 471 U.S. 48, 64 (1985). 

Once we determine that there is express state authorization, we then turn to the concept of fore-
seeability, which “is to be used in deciding the reach of antitrust immunity that stems from an already 
authorized monopoly, price regulation, or other disruption in economic competition.” Shames, 626 
F.3d at 1084 (second emphasis added). A foreseeable result cannot circumvent the requirement 
that there be express authorization in the first place: “[A] foreseeable result cannot create state 
authorization itself,” but must itself stem from express authorization, which is “the necessary pred-
icate for the Supreme Court’s foreseeability test.” Id. (quoting Columbia Steel Casting Co. v. Portland 
Gen. Elec. Co., 111 F.3d 1427, 1444 (9th Cir. 1996)). We must be careful not to “appl[y] the concept 
of ‘foreseeability’ from [the] clear-articulation test too loosely.” Phoebe Putney, 568 U.S. at 229. 

Applying these principles to the Ordinance, we conclude that the clear-articulation requirement 
has not been satisfied. The state statutes relied upon by the City Council in enacting the Ordi-
nance—Revised Code of Washington sections 46.72.001, 46.72.160, 81.72.200, and 81.72.210—do 
not “plainly show” that the Washington legislature “contemplated” allowing for-hire drivers to 
price-fix their compensation. Nor is such an anticompetitive result foreseeable. 

We examine the state statutes in turn. First, Revised Code of Washington section 46.72.001 pro-
vides: 

The legislature finds and declares that privately operated for hire transportation service is a 
vital part of the transportation system within the state. Consequently, the safety, reliability, 
and stability of privately operated for hire transportation services are matters of statewide 
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importance. The regulation of privately operated for hire transportation services is thus an 
essential governmental function. Therefore, it is the intent of the legislature to permit polit-
ical subdivisions of the state to regulate for hire transportation services without liability 
under federal antitrust laws. 

Id. 
That the Washington state legislature “inten[ded] ... to permit political subdivisions of the state 

to regulate for hire transportation services without liability under federal antitrust laws,” id., is in-
sufficient to bring the Ordinance within the protective ambit of state-action immunity. We are 
mindful of the Supreme Court’s instruction that “a State may not confer antitrust immunity on 
private persons by fiat,” Ticor Title, 504 U.S. at 633, and that a “State may not validate a municipal-
ity’s anticompetitive conduct simply by declaring it to be lawful,” Hallie, 471 U.S. at 39. Rather, it 
must first meet the Midcal requirements: A state “may displace competition with active state super-
vision [only] if the displacement is both intended by the State and implemented in its specific de-
tails.” Ticor Title, 504 U.S. at 633. We may not “defer[] to private pricefixing arrangements under 
the general auspices of state law,” but instead must ensure that the “precondition[s] for immunity 
from federal law,” such as “[a]ctual state involvement,” are met. Id. After all, “[i]mmunity is con-
ferred out of respect for ongoing regulation by the State, not out of respect for the economics of 
price restraint.” Id. 

The plain language of the statute centers on the provision of “privately operated for hire trans-
portation services,” Wash. Rev. Code § 46.72.001, not the contractual payment arrangements be-
tween for-hire drivers and driver coordinators for use of the latter’s smartphone apps or ride-re-
ferral services. Although driver coordinators like Uber and Lyft contract with providers of trans-
portation services, they do not fulfill the requests for transportation services—the drivers do. Noth-
ing in the statute evinces a clearly articulated state policy to displace competition in the market for 
ride-referral service fees charged by companies like Uber, Lyft, and Eastside. In other words, alt-
hough the statute addresses the provision of transportation services, it is silent on the issue of 
compensation contracts between for-hire drivers and driver coordinators. To read into the plain 
text of the statute implicit state authorization and intent to displace competition with respect to 
for-hire drivers’ compensation would be to apply the clear-articulation test “too loosely.” Phoebe 
Putney, 568 U.S. at 229. *** 

The regulation of rates in one area—i.e., the regulation of rates charged to passengers for trans-
portation services—does not confer the shield of state-action immunity onto anticompetitive con-
duct in a related market—i.e., price-fixing the fees for-hire drivers pay to Uber and Lyft in order to 
use their digital platforms. 

In cases in which the Supreme Court found the clear-articulation test to be satisfied, the initial 
state authorization clearly contemplated and plainly encompassed the challenged anticompetitive 
conduct. *** Tellingly, Uber and Lyft did not exist when the Washington statutes were enacted. 
The very concept of digital ridesharing services was probably well beyond the imaginations of law-
makers two to three decades ago, much less foreseeable. But the fact that technology has advanced 
leaps and bounds beyond the contemplation of the state legislature is not, on its own, the disposi-
tive factor in our holding today. Digital platforms like Uber and Lyft have become “highly inter-
connected with modern economic and social life,” Fields v. Twitter, Inc., 881 F.3d 739, 749 (9th Cir. 
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2018), and present novel challenges and contexts for regulation. Nevertheless, it is not our role to 
make policy judgments properly left to the Washington state legislature. Instead, we must tread 
carefully in the area of state-action immunity, lest “a broad interpretation of the doctrine ... inad-
vertently extend immunity to anticompetitive activity which the states did not intend to sanction,” 
or “a broad application of the doctrine ... impede states’ freedom by threatening to hold them 
accountable for private activity they do not condone ‘whenever they enter the realm of economic 
regulation.’” Cost Mgmt. Servs., 99 F.3d at 941 (quoting Ticor Title, 504 U.S. at 635-36). 

Applying governing law, we hold that the clear-articulation requirement for state-action immunity 
is not satisfied in this case. 

ii. The Active-Supervision Requirement 
We next hold that the Ordinance does not meet the active-supervision requirement for Parker im-
munity. 

“The active supervision requirement demands ... ‘that state officials have and exercise power to 
review particular anticompetitive acts of private parties and disapprove those that fail to accord 
with state policy.’” N.C. State Bd. of Dental Examiners v. FTC, ___ U.S. ___ (2015) (quoting Patrick 
v. Burget, 486 U.S. 94, 101 (1988)). Because “[e]ntities purporting to act under state authority might 
diverge from the State’s considered definition of the public good” and “[t]he resulting asymmetry 
between a state policy and its implementation can invite private self-dealing,” the active-supervision 
requirement “seeks to avoid this harm by requiring the State to review and approve interstitial 
policies made by the entity claiming immunity.” Id. 

As a threshold matter, we first clarify that the active-supervision requirement applies to this case. 
It is settled law that “active state supervision is not a prerequisite to exemption from the antitrust 
laws where the actor is a municipality rather than a private party.” Hallie, 471 U.S. at 47. However, 
where, as here, “state or municipal regulation by a private party is involved, . . . active state super-
vision must be shown, even where a clearly articulated state policy exists.” Id. at 46n.10 (citing S. 
Motor Carriers, 471 U.S. at 62). 

Southern Motor Carriers is illustrative. *** Likewise here, private parties—for-hire drivers and driver 
coordinators—are permitted to set rates collectively and submit them to the Director for approval. 
Accordingly, the active-supervision requirement applies. 

The involvement of private parties in municipal regulation renders this case ineligible for the 
municipality exception outlined in Hallie: “Hallie explained that ‘[w]here the actor is a municipality, 
there is little or no danger that it is involved in a private price-fixing arrangement. The only real 
danger is that it will seek to further purely parochial public interests at the expense of more over-
riding state goals.’” Dental Examiners, 135 S.Ct. at 1112 (alteration in original) (quoting Hallie, 471 
U.S. at 47). In contrast, this case presents a scenario in which the City authorizes collective price-
fixing by private parties, which the Director evaluates and ratifies. The amount of discretion the 
Ordinance confers upon private actors is far from trivial. 

Having decided that the active-supervision requirement applies to this case, we turn to examine 
whether it is met. Clearly, it is not. It is undisputed that the State of Washington plays no role in 
supervising or enforcing the terms of the City’s Ordinance. 
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The City cites no controlling authority to support its argument that the Supreme Court uses the 
word “State” simply “as shorthand for the State and all its agents, including municipalities.” The 
Supreme Court has stated repeatedly that active supervision must be “by the State itself.” Midcal, 
445 U.S. at 105. 

We take it as a given that the Supreme Court means what it states. In Hallie, the Supreme Court 
stated that “[w]here state or municipal regulation by a private party is involved, however, active 
state supervision must be shown.” 471 U.S. at 46 n.10. In the first clause, the Supreme Court used 
“state or municipal,” thus drawing a disjunctive difference between the two words. In the second 
clause, it used only “state.” It is highly improbable that the Supreme Court chose to distinguish 
between states and municipalities in the beginning of the sentence, only to conflate the two in the 
latter part of the sentence. 

Moreover, the City’s interpretation of the Supreme Court’s use of “State” collapses the specific 
distinction the Supreme Court has drawn between cities, which are not sovereign entities, and 
states, which are. Sovereign capacity matters. Indeed, the very origins of Parker immunity stem 
from respect for the states’ sovereign capacity to regulate their economies. Phoebe Putney, 568 U.S. 
at 224. A “substate governmental entity” is simply not equivalent to a state: “Because municipalities 
and other political subdivisions are not themselves sovereign, state-action immunity under Parker 
does not apply to them directly.” Phoebe Putney, 568 U.S. at 225. Unlike a state, a municipality may 
invoke the protective cloak of Parker immunity under “the narrow exception Hallie identified” not 
because it is sovereign, but because there is “little or no danger that it is involved in a private price-
fixing arrangement”; the fact that “municipalities are electorally accountable and lack the kind of 
private incentives characteristic of active participants in the market”; and the “substantially re-
duc[ed] ... risk that [a municipality] would pursue private interests while regulating any single field.” 
Dental Examiners, 135 S.Ct. at 1112-13 (quoting Hallie, 471 U.S. at 47). All of the reasons justifying 
the Hallie exception are eviscerated by the involvement of private parties in this case. 

In concluding that the active-supervision requirement is not satisfied in this case, we do not dis-
turb Hallie’s well-settled rule that municipal actors need not meet the active-supervision require-
ment. See Hallie, 471 U.S. at 47. Rather, following Hallie, we hold that in this case, in which private 
actors exercise substantial discretion in setting the terms of municipal regulation, “active state su-
pervision must be shown.” Id. at 46 n.10. Because the distinction between states and municipalities 
is of crucial importance for purposes of state-action immunity, we reject the City’s invitation to 
treat the two entities interchangeably. 

II. The Ordinance Is Not Preempted by the National Labor Relations Act. 
We next hold that the Ordinance is not preempted by the NLRA under either Machinists or Garmon 
preemption. *** 

CONCLUSION 
For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the district court’s dismissal of the Chamber’s federal anti-
trust claims, and remand the federal antitrust claims to the district court for further proceedings. 
We also affirm the district court’s dismissal of the Chamber’s NLRA preemption claims. *** 
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Federal Trade Commission v. Qualcomm Incorporated 
969 F.3d 974 (9th Cir. 2020) 
CALLAHAN, Circuit Judge. This case asks us to draw the line between anticompetitive behav-
ior, which is illegal under federal antitrust law, and hypercompetitive behavior, which is not. The 
Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) contends that Qualcomm Incorporated (“Qualcomm”) vi-
olated the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2, by unreasonably restraining trade in, and unlawfully 
monopolizing, the code division multiple access (“CDMA”) and premium long-term evolution 
(“LTE”) cellular modem chip markets. After a ten-day bench trial, the district court agreed and 
ordered a permanent, worldwide injunction prohibiting several of Qualcomm’s core business 
practices. We granted Qualcomm’s request for a stay of the district court’s injunction pending 
appeal. FTC v. Qualcomm Inc., 935 F.3d 752 (9th Cir. 2019). At that time, we characterized the 
district court’s order and injunction as either “a trailblazing application of the antitrust laws” or 
“an improper excursion beyond the outer limits of the Sherman Act.” Id. at 757. We now hold 
that the district court went beyond the scope of the Sherman Act, and we reverse. 

I A 
Founded in 1985, Qualcomm dubs itself “the world’s leading cellular technology company.” 
Over the past several decades, the company has made significant contributions to the technolog-
ical innovations underlying modern cellular systems, including third-generation (“3G”) CDMA 
and fourth-generation (“4G”) LTE cellular standards—the standards practiced in most modern 
cellphones and “smartphones.” Qualcomm protects and profits from its technological innova-
tions through its patents, which it licenses to original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) 
whose products (usually cellphones, but also smart cars and other products with cellular appli-
cations) practice one or more of Qualcomm’s patented technologies. 

Qualcomm’s patents include cellular standard essential patents (“SEPs”), non-cellular SEPs, 
and non-SEPs. Cellular SEPs are patents on technologies that international standard-setting 
organizations (“SSOs”) choose to include in technical standards practiced by each new genera-
tion of cellular technology. . . . Cellular SEPs are necessary to practice a particular cellular stand-
ard. Because SEP holders could prevent industry participants from implementing a standard 
by selectively refusing to license, SSOs require patent holders to commit to license their SEPs 
on fair, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory (“FRAND”) terms before their patents are incorpo-
rated into standards.  

. . . . Rather than license its patents individually, Qualcomm generally offers its customers 
various “patent portfolio” options, whereby the customer/licensee pays for and receives the right 
to practice all three types of Qualcomm patents (SEPs, non-cellular SEPs, and non-SEPs). 

Qualcomm’s patent licensing business is very profitable, representing around two-thirds of the 
company’s value. But Qualcomm is no one-trick pony. The company also manufactures and 
sells cellular modem chips, the hardware that enables cellular devices to practice CDMA and pre-
mium LTE technologies and thereby communicate with each other across cellular networks. This 
makes Qualcomm somewhat unique in the broader cellular services industry. Companies such as 
Nokia, Ericsson, and Interdigital have comparable SEP portfolios but do not compete with 
Qualcomm in the modem chip markets. On the other hand, Qualcomm’s main competitors in 
the modem chip markets—companies such as MediaTek, HiSilicon, Samsung LSI, ST-Ericsson, 
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and VIA Telecom (purchased by Intel in 2015)—do not hold or have not held comparable SEP 
portfolios.  

Like its licensing business, Qualcomm’s modem chip business has been very successful. 
From 2006 to 2016, Qualcomm possessed monopoly power in the CDMA modem chip 
market, including over 90% of market share. From 2011 to 2016, Qualcomm possessed monop-
oly power in the premium LTE modem chip market, including at least 70% of market share. 
During these timeframes, Qualcomm leveraged its monopoly power to “charge monopoly prices 
on [its] modem chips.” Qualcomm, 411 F.Supp.3d at 800. Around 2015, however, Qualcomm’s 
dominant position in the modem chip markets began to recede, as competitors like Intel and 
MediaTek found ways to successfully compete. Based on projections from 2017 to 2018, 
Qualcomm maintains approximately a 79% share of the CDMA modem chip market and a 64% 
share of the premium LTE modem chip market.  

B 
Qualcomm licenses its patent portfolios exclusively at the OEM level, setting the royalty rates 
on its CDMA and LTE patent portfolios as a percentage of the end-product sales price. This 
practice is not unique to Qualcomm. As the district court found, “[f]ollowing Qualcomm’s lead, 
other SEP licensors like Nokia and Ericsson have concluded that licensing only OEMs is more 
lucrative, and structured their practices accordingly.” OEM-level licensing allows these compa-
nies to obtain the maximum value for their patented technologies while avoiding the problem 
of patent exhaustion, whereby “the initial authorized [or licensed] sale of a patented item termi-
nates all patent rights to that item.” Quanta Comput., Inc. v. LG Elecs., Inc., 553 U.S. 617, 625 
(2008). Due to patent exhaustion, if Qualcomm licensed its SEPs further “upstream” in the 
manufacturing process to competing chip suppliers, then its patent rights would be exhausted 
when these rivals sold their products to OEMs. OEMs would then have little incentive to pay 
Qualcomm for patent licenses, as they could instead become “downstream” recipients of the 
already exhausted patents embodied in these rivals’ products.  

Because rival chip manufacturers practice many of Qualcomm’s SEPs by necessity, Qualcomm 
offers these companies what it terms “CDMA ASIC Agreements,” wherein Qualcomm prom-
ises not to assert its patents in exchange for the company promising not to sell its chips to 
unlicensed OEMs. . . . 

Qualcomm reinforces these practices with its so-called “no license, no chips” policy, under 
which Qualcomm refuses to sell modem chips to OEMs that do not take licenses to practice 
Qualcomm’s SEPs. Otherwise, because of patent exhaustion, OEMs could decline to take li-
censes, arguing instead that their purchase of chips from Qualcomm extinguished Qualcomm’s 
patent rights with respect to any CDMA or premium LTE technologies embodied in the chips. 
This would not only prevent Qualcomm from obtaining the maximum value for its patents, it 
would result in OEMs having to pay more money (in licensing royalties) to purchase and use a 
competitor’s chips, which are unlicensed. Instead, Qualcomm’s practices, taken together, are 
“chip supplier neutral”—that is, OEMs are required to pay a per-unit licensing royalty to Qual-
comm for its patent portfolios regardless of which company they choose to source their chips 
from. 
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Although Qualcomm’s licensing and modem chip businesses have made it a major player in the 
broader cellular technology market, the company is not an OEM. That is, Qualcomm does not 
manufacture and sell cellphones and other end-use products (like smart cars) that consumers pur-
chase and use. Thus, it does not “compete”—in the antitrust sense—against OEMs like Apple 
and Samsung in these product markets. Instead, these OEMs are Qualcomm’s customers.  

C 
 * * * 

Qualcomm’s competitors in the modem chip markets contend that Qualcomm’s business 
practices, in particular its refusal to license them, have hampered or slowed their ability to develop 
and retain OEM customer bases, limited their growth, delayed or prevented their entry into the 
market, and in some cases forced them out of the market entirely. These competitors contend 
that this result is not just anticompetitive, but a violation of Qualcomm’s contractual commit-
ments to two cellular SSOs . . . to license its SEPs “to all applicants” on FRAND terms. . . .  

In 2011 and 2013, Qualcomm signed agreements with Apple under which Qualcomm offered 
Apple billions of dollars in incentive payments contingent on Apple sourcing its iPhone modem 
chips exclusively from Qualcomm and committing to purchase certain quantities of chips each 
year. Again, rivals such as Intel—as well as Apple itself, which was interested in using Intel as an 
alternative chip supplier—complained that Qualcomm was engaging in anticompetitive business 
practices designed to maintain its monopolies in the CDMA and premium LTE modem chip mar-
kets while making it impossible for rivals to compete. In 2014, Apple decided to terminate these 
agreements and source its modem chips from Intel for its 2016 model iPhone. 

D 
In January 2017, the FTC sued Qualcomm for equitable relief, alleging that Qualcomm’s inter-
related policies and practices excluded competitors and harmed competition in the modem chip 
markets, in violation § 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and §§ 1 and 2 of the Sherman 
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2. After a ten-day bench trial, the district court concluded that “Qualcomm’s 
licensing practices are an unreasonable restraint of trade under § 1 of the Sherman Act and exclu-
sionary conduct under § 2 of the Sherman Act.” The district court ordered a permanent, world-
wide injunction prohibiting Qualcomm’s core business practices. 

 *  *  *  

II 
 * * * 

A 
. . . [N]ovel business practices—especially in technology markets—should not be “conclusively pre-
sumed to be unreasonable and therefore illegal without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm 
they have caused or the business excuse for their use.” Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 91. . . ; see also 
Rachel S. Tennis & Alexander Baier Schwab, Business Model Innovation and Antitrust Law, 29 Yale J. 
on Reg. 307, 319 (2012) (explaining how “antitrust economists, and in turn lawyers and judges, 
tend to treat novel products or business practices as anticompetitive” and “are likely to 
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decide cases wrongly in rapidly changing dynamic markets,” which can have long-lasting effects 
particularly in technological markets, where innovation “is essential to economic growth and 
social welfare” and “an erroneous decision will deny large consumer benefits”). 

Regardless of whether the alleged antitrust violation involves concerted anticompetitive conduct 
under § 1 or independent anticompetitive conduct under § 2, the three-part burden-shifting 
test under the rule of reason is essentially the same. . . . Under § 1, “the plaintiff has the initial 
burden to prove that the challenged restraint has a substantial anticompetitive effect that harms 
consumers in the relevant market”. . . . “If the plaintiff carries its burden, then the burden shifts 
to the defendant to show a procompetitive rationale for the restraint”. . . . “If the defendant 
makes this showing, then the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to demonstrate that the pro-
competitive efficiencies could be reasonably achieved through less anticompetitive means.”  

Likewise, “if a plaintiff successfully establishes a prima facie case under § 2 by demonstrating anti-
competitive effect, then the monopolist may proffer a ‘procompetitive justification’ for its 
conduct.” Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 59. “If the monopolist asserts a procompetitive justification—
a nonpretextual claim that its conduct is indeed a form of competition on the merits because it 
involves, for example, greater efficiency or enhanced consumer appeal—then the burden shifts 
back to the plaintiff to rebut that claim.” Id. If the plaintiff cannot rebut the monopolist’s 
procompetitive justification, “then the plaintiff must demonstrate that the anticompetitive harm 
of the conduct outweighs the procompetitive benefit.” Id. 

The similarity of the burden-shifting tests under §§ 1 and 2 means that courts often review 
claims under each section simultaneously. . . . However, although the tests are largely similar, 
a plaintiff may not use indirect evidence to prove unlawful monopoly maintenance via anticom-
petitive conduct under § 2. . . .  

B 
A threshold step in any antitrust case is to accurately define the relevant market, which refers 
to “the area of effective competition.” Am. Express, 138 S.Ct. at 2285 (citation omitted). . . . 

Here, the district court correctly defined the relevant markets as “the market for CDMA 
modem chips and the market for premium LTE modem chips.” Nevertheless, its analysis of 
Qualcomm’s business practices and their anticompetitive impact looked beyond these markets 
to the much larger market of cellular services generally. Thus, a substantial portion of the district 
court’s ruling considered alleged economic harms to OEMs—who are Qualcomm’s customers, not 
its competitors—resulting in higher prices to consumers. These harms, even if real, are not “anti-
competitive” in the antitrust sense—at least not directly—because they do not involve restraints 
on trade or exclusionary conduct in “the area of effective competition.” Am. Express, 138 S.Ct. 
at 2285. 

 * * * 

III 
Accordingly, we reframe the issues to focus on the impact, if any, of Qualcomm’s practices in the 
area of effective competition: the markets for CDMA and premium LTE modem chips. Thus, we 
begin by examining the district court’s conclusion that Qualcomm has an antitrust duty to license 
its SEPs to its direct competitors in the modem chip markets.  
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 * * *  

A 
“As the Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized, there is ‘no duty to deal under the terms and 
conditions preferred by [a competitor’s] rivals[.]” Likewise, “the Sherman Act ‘does not restrict 
the long recognized right of [a] trader or manufacturer engaged in an entirely private business, 
freely to exercise his own independent discretion as to parties with whom he will deal.’” Trinko, 
540 U.S. at 408 (alteration in original). . . . 

The one, limited exception to this general rule that there is no antitrust duty to deal comes under 
the Supreme Court’s decision in Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 585 
(1985). There, the Court held that a company engages in prohibited, anticompetitive conduct 
when (1) it “unilateral[ly] terminat[es] . . . a voluntary and profitable course of dealing”; (2) “the 
only conceivable rationale or purpose is ‘to sacrifice short-term benefits in order to obtain higher 
profits in the long run from the exclusion of competition’”; and (3) the refusal to deal involves 
products that the defendant already sells in the existing market to other similarly situated custom-
ers. The Supreme Court later characterized the Aspen Skiing exception as “at or near the outer 
boundary of § 2 liability.” Trinko, 540 U.S. at 409. 

The district court’s conclusion that Qualcomm’s refusal to provide exhaustive SEP licenses to 
rival chip suppliers meets the Aspen Skiing exception ignores critical differences between Qual-
comm’s business practices and the conduct at issue in Aspen Skiing, and it ignores the Supreme 
Court’s subsequent warning in Trinko that the Aspen Skiing exception should be applied only 
in rare circumstances. . . .  

First, the district court was incorrect that “Qualcomm terminated a ‘voluntary and profitable 
course of dealing’” with respect to its previous practice of licensing at the chip-manufacturer level. 
In support of this finding, the district court cited a single piece of record evidence: an email from 
a Qualcomm lawyer regarding 3%-royalty-bearing licenses for modem chip suppliers. But this 
email was sent in 1999, seven years before Qualcomm gained monopoly power in the CDMA 
modem chip market. Furthermore, Qualcomm claims that it never granted exhaustive licenses 
to rival chip suppliers. Instead, as the 1999 email suggests, it entered into “non-exhaustive, 
royalty-bearing agreements with chipmakers that explicitly did not grant rights to the chipmaker’s 
customers.”  

According to Qualcomm, it ceased this practice in response to developments in patent law’s 
exhaustion doctrine, which made it harder for Qualcomm to argue that it could provide “non-
exhaustive” licenses in the form of royalty agreements. Nothing in the record or in the district 
court’s factual findings rebuts these claims. The FTC offered no evidence that, from the time 
Qualcomm first gained monopoly power in the modem chip market in 2006 until now, it ever had 
a practice of providing exhaustive licenses at the modem chip level rather than the OEM level. 

Second, Qualcomm’s rationale for “switching” to OEM-level licensing was not “to sacrifice 
short-term benefits in order to obtain higher profits in the long run from the exclusion of com-
petition,” the second element of the Aspen Skiing exception. Instead, Qualcomm responded to 
the change in patent-exhaustion law by choosing the path that was “far more lucrative,” both 
in the short term and the long term, regardless of any impacts on competition. The district court 
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itself acknowledged that this was Qualcomm’s purpose, observing: “Following Qualcomm’s lead, 
other SEP licensors like Nokia and Ericsson have concluded that licensing only OEMs is more 
lucrative, and structured their practices accordingly.”  

Finally, unlike in Aspen Skiing, the district court found no evidence that Qualcomm singles 
out any specific chip supplier for anticompetitive treatment in its SEP-licensing. In Aspen Skiing, 
the defendant refused to sell its lift tickets to a smaller, rival ski resort even as it sold the same 
lift tickets to any other willing buyer (including any other ski resort); moreover, this refusal was 
designed specifically to put the smaller, nearby rival out of business. Qualcomm applies its 
OEM-level licensing policy equally with respect to all competitors in the modem chip markets 
and declines to enforce its patents against these rivals even though they practice Qualcomm’s 
patents (royalty-free). . . . 

As none of the required elements for the Aspen Skiing exception are present, let alone all of 
them, the district court erred in holding that Qualcomm is under an antitrust duty to license rival 
chip manufacturers. We hold that Qualcomm’s OEM-level licensing policy, however novel, is 
not an anticompetitive violation of the Sherman Act. 

B 
Conceding error in the district court’s conclusion that Qualcomm is subject to an antitrust duty 
to deal under Aspen Skiing, the FTC contends that this court may nevertheless hold that Qual-
comm engaged in anticompetitive conduct in violation of § 2. This is so, the FTC urges, because 

“Qualcomm entered into a voluntary contractual commitment to deal with its rivals as 
part of the SSO process, which is itself a derogation from normal market competition,” 
and (2) Qualcomm’s breach of this contractual commitment “satisfies traditional Section 
2 standards [in that] it ‘tends to impair the opportunities of rivals and . . . does not 
further competition on the merits.’” 

We disagree. 
Even if the district court is correct that Qualcomm is contractually obligated via its SSO 

commitments to license rival chip suppliers—a conclusion we need not and do not reach—the 
FTC still does not satisfactorily explain how Qualcomm’s alleged breach of this contractual 
commitment itself impairs the opportunities of rivals. It argues the breach “facilitat[es] Qual-
comm’s collection of a surcharge from rivals’ customers.” Appellee’s Br. at 77. But this refers 
to a distinct business practice, licensing royalties, and alleged harm to OEMs, not rival 
chipmakers. In any case, Qualcomm’s royalties are “chip-supplier neutral” because Qualcomm 
collects them from all OEMs that license its patents, not just “rivals’ customers.” The FTC 
argues that Qualcomm’s breach directly impacts rivals by “otherwise deterring [their] entry and 
investment.” But this ignores that Qualcomm’s “CDMA ASIC Agreements” functionally act as 
de facto licenses (“no license, no problem”) by allowing competitors to practice Qualcomm’s 
SEPs (royalty-free) before selling their chips to downstream OEMs. Furthermore, in order to 
make out a § 2 violation, the anticompetitive harm identified must be to competition itself, not 
merely to competitors. The FTC identifies no such harm to competition. 

The FTC’s conclusion that OEM-level licensing does not further competition on the merits is not 
only belied by MediaTek and Intel’s entries into the modem chip markets in the 2015–2016 
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timeframe, it also gives inadequate weight to Qualcomm’s reasonable, procompetitive justification 
that licensing at the OEM and chip-supplier levels simultaneously would require the company 
to engage in “multi-level licensing,” leading to inefficiencies and less profit. Qualcomm’s 
procompetitive justification is supported by at least two other companies—Nokia and Dolby—
with similar SEP portfolios to Qualcomm’s.1 More critically, this part of the FTC’s argument 
skips ahead to an examination of Qualcomm’s procompetitive justifications, failing to recognize 
that the burden does not shift to Qualcomm to provide such justifications unless and until the 
FTC meets its initial burden of proving anticompetitive harm. Because the FTC has not met 
its initial burden under the rule of reason framework, we are less critical of Qualcomm’s pro-
competitive justifications for its OEM-level licensing policy—which, in any case, appear to be 
reasonable and consistent with current industry practice. 

 * * *  
Finally, we note the persuasive policy arguments of several academics and practitioners with 

significant experience in SSOs, FRAND, and antitrust enforcement, who have expressed 
caution about using the antitrust laws to remedy what are essentially contractual disputes between 
private parties engaged in the pursuit of technological innovation.  

 * * * 

C 
We next address the district court’s primary theory of anticompetitive harm: Qualcomm’s 
imposition of an “anticompetitive surcharge” on rival chip suppliers via its licensing royalty 
rates. According to the district court, Qualcomm’s unreasonably high royalty rates enable Qual-
comm to control rivals’ prices because Qualcomm receives the royalty even when an OEM uses 
one of Qualcomm’s rival’s chips. Thus, the “all-in” price of any modem chip sold by one of 
Qualcomm’s rivals effectively includes two components: (1) the nominal chip price; and (2) 
Qualcomm’s royalty surcharge. 

This central component of the district court’s ruling is premised on the district court’s findings 
that Qualcomm’s royalty rates are (1) “unreasonably high” because they are improperly based on 
Qualcomm’s monopoly chip market share and handset price instead of the “fair value of Qual-
comm’s patents,” and (2) anticompetitive because they raise costs to OEMs, who pass the extra 
costs along to consumers and are forced to invest less in other handset features. . . . 

We hold that the district court’s “anticompetitive surcharge” theory fails to state a cogent 
theory of anticompetitive harm. . . .  

 
1 See Br. of Amicus Curiae Nokia Technologies Oy at 18–19 (noting that “[t]here are good reasons for SEP owners to 

structure their licensing programs to license end-user products,” including the reduction of “transaction costs and complexities 
associated with negotiating and executing licenses at multiple points in the supply chain,” the avoidance of “overlapping and 
duplicative licensing,” “expedite[d] access to SEPs for the entire supply chain,” and “greater visibility to what products are 
actually licensed, for example, for auditing purposes”); Br. of Amicus Curiae Dolby Laboratories, Inc. at 28 (“Forcing SEP 
holders to license component suppliers would interfere with historical precedents and established practices, and produce 
significant inefficiencies and lack of transparency regarding whether products in the stream of commerce are in fact licensed.”).  
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1 
First, the district court’s determination that Qualcomm’s royalty rates are “unreasonable” because 
they are based on handset prices misinterprets Federal Circuit law regarding “the patent rule of 
apportionment” and the smallest salable patent-practicing unit (“SSPPU”). The district court ob-
served “that ‘it is generally required that royalties be based not on the entire product, but 
instead on the [SSPPU].’” Qualcomm, 411 F.Supp.3d at 783.  

Even if we accept that the modem chip in a cellphone is the cellphone’s SSPPU, the district 
court’s analysis is still fundamentally flawed. No court has held that the SSPPU concept is a per 
se rule for “reasonable royalty” calculations; instead, the concept is used as a tool in jury cases to 
minimize potential jury confusion when the jury is weighing complex expert testimony about pa-
tent damages. .  .  .  

 * * *  
A second problem with the district court’s “unreasonable royalty rate” conclusion is that it er-

roneously assumes that royalties are “anticompetitive”—in the antitrust sense—unless they pre-
cisely reflect a patent’s current, intrinsic value and are in line with the rates other companies 
charge for their own patent portfolios. Neither the district court nor the FTC provides any case 
law to support this proposition, which sounds in patent law, not antitrust law. . . . We decline to 
adopt a theory of antitrust liability that would presume anticompetitive conduct any time a com-
pany could not prove that the “fair value” of its SEP portfolios corresponds to the prices the 
market appears willing to pay for those SEPs in the form of licensing royalty rates.  

Finally, even assuming that a deviation between licensing royalty rates and a patent portfolio’s 
“fair value” could amount to “anticompetitive harm” in the antitrust sense, the primary harms 
the district court identified here were to the OEMs who agreed to pay Qualcomm’s royalty 
rates—that is, Qualcomm’s customers, not its competitors. These harms were thus located outside the 
“areas of effective competition”—the markets for CDMA and premium LTE modem chips—
and had no direct impact on competition in those markets. See Rambus, 522 F.3d at 464 (noting 
that if a practice “raises the price secured by a seller” or otherwise harms customers, “but does so 
without harming competition, it is beyond the antitrust laws’ reach”). 

2 
Regardless of the “reasonableness” of Qualcomm’s royalty rates, the district court erred in 
finding that these royalties constitute an “artificial surcharge” on rivals’ chip sales. In Caldera, 
Inc. v. Microsoft Corp., 87 F. Supp. 2d 1244 (D. Utah 1999), the primary case relied upon by the 
district court for its surcharging theory, Microsoft required OEMs “to pay [it] a royalty on 
every machine the OEM shipped regardless of whether the machine contained MS DOS or 
another operating system.” This resulted in OEMs having to pay two royalties instead of one for 
a portion of their product base unless they chose to exclusively install Microsoft’s operating 
system in their products. Microsoft’s policy thus had “the practical effect of exclusivity,” as it 
imposed a naked tax on rivals’ software even when the end-product—an individual computer 
installed with a non-Microsoft operating system— contained no added value from Microsoft. . . .  

Qualcomm’s licensing royalties are qualitatively different from the per-unit operating-system 
royalties at issue in Caldera. When Qualcomm licenses its SEPs to an OEM, those patent licenses 
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have value—indeed, they are necessary to the OEM’s ability to market and sell its cellular products 
to consumers—regardless of whether the OEM uses Qualcomm’s modem chips or chips 
manufactured and sold by one of Qualcomm’s rivals. And unlike Caldera, where OEMs who 
installed non-Microsoft operating systems in some of their products were required to pay 
royalties for both the actual operating system and MS DOS (which was not installed), here OEMs 
do not pay twice for SEP licenses when they use non-Qualcomm modem chips. Thus, unlike 
Microsoft’s practice, Qualcomm’s practice does not have the “practical effect of exclusivity”. . . .  

In its complaint and in its briefing, the FTC suggests that Qualcomm’s royalty rates impose an 
anticompetitive surcharge on its rivals’ sales not for the reasons at play in Caldera, but rather 
because Qualcomm uses its licensing royalties to charge anticompetitive, ultralow prices on 
its own modem chips—pushing out rivals by squeezing their profit margins and preventing 
them from making necessary investments in research and development. But this type of “margin 
squeeze” was rejected as a basis for antitrust liability in linkLine. 555 U.S. at 451–52, 457. There, 
multiple digital subscriber line (“DSL”) high-speed internet service providers complained that 
AT&T was selling them access to AT&T’s must-have telephone lines and facilities at inflated 
wholesale rates and then shifting those increased profits to charge ultra-low rates for DSL 
services at retail, effectively squeezing these DSL competitors out of the market. The Court 
rejected the plaintiffs’ assertion of anticompetitive harm, holding that AT&T was under no 
antitrust duty to deal with its competitors on the wholesale level, and that the plaintiffs failed 
to introduce evidence of predatory pricing (that is, charging below cost) at the retail level. 

Here, not only did the FTC offer no evidence that Qualcomm engaged in predatory pricing, the 
district court’s entire antitrust analysis is premised on the opposite proposition: that Qualcomm 
“charge[s] monopoly prices on modem chips.” Indeed, the district court faulted Qualcomm for 
lowering its prices only when other companies introduced CDMA modem chips to the market to 
effectively compete. We agree with Qualcomm that this is exactly the type of “garden-variety 
price competition that the law encourages,” and are aware of no authority holding that a monop-
olist may not lower its rates in response to a competitor’s entry into the market with a lower-priced 
product. 

D 
As with its critique of Qualcomm’s royalty rates, the district court’s analysis of Qualcomm’s 
“no license, no chips” policy focuses almost exclusively on alleged “anticompetitive harms” to 
OEMs—that is, impacts outside the relevant antitrust market. The district court labeled Qual-
comm’s policy “anticompetitive conduct against OEMs” and an “anticompetitive practice[] in 
patent license negotiations.” But the district court failed to identify how the policy directly 
impacted Qualcomm’s competitors or distorted “the area of effective competition.” Am. Express, 
138 S. Ct. at 2285.  

  
 * * * 

According to the FTC, the problem with “no license, no chips” is that, under the policy, 
“Qualcomm will not sell chips to a cellphone [OEM] like Apple or Samsung unless the OEM 
agrees to a license that requires it to pay a substantial per-phone surcharge even on phones that 
use rivals’ chips.” But this argument is self-defeating: if the condition imposed on gaining access to 
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Qualcomm’s chip supply applies regardless of whether the OEM chooses Qualcomm or a 
competitor (in fact, this appears to be the essence of Qualcomm’s policy), then the condition 
by definition does not distort the “area of effective competition” or impact competitors. At 
worst, the policy raises the “all-in” price that an OEM must pay for modem chips (chipset + 
licensing royalties) regardless of which chip supplier the OEM chooses to source its chips from. 
As we have already discussed, whether that all-in price is reasonable or unreasonable is an issue 
that sounds in patent law, not antitrust law. Additionally, it involves potential harms to Qual-
comm’s customers, not its competitors, and thus falls outside the relevant antitrust markets. 

 * * * 

E 
Having addressed the primary components of the district court’s antitrust ruling with respect to 
Qualcomm’s general business practices, we now address the district court’s more specific finding 
that from 2011 to 2015, Qualcomm violated both sections of the Sherman Act by signing 
“exclusive deals” with Apple that “foreclosed a ‘substantial share’ of the [CDMA] modem chip 
market.”  

 * * * 
Qualcomm argues that its agreements with Apple were “volume discount contracts, not 

exclusive dealings contracts.” Unlike exclusive dealing arrangements, “volume discount contracts 
are legal under antitrust law . . . [b]ecause the contracts do not preclude consumers from using other 
. . . services.” Likewise, conditional agreements that provide “substantial discounts to custom-
ers that actually purchase[] a high percentage of their . . . requirements from” a firm are not 
exclusive dealing arrangements, de facto or actual, unless they “prevent[] the buyer from pur-
chasing a given good from any other vendor.”  

 * * * 
There is some merit in the district court’s conclusion that the Apple agreements were structured 

more like exclusive dealing contracts than volume discount contracts. However, we do not agree 
that these agreements had the actual or practical effect of substantially foreclosing competition 
in the CDMA modem chip market, or that injunctive relief is warranted. 

During the relevant time period (2011–2015), the record suggests that the only serious competi-
tion Qualcomm faced with respect to the Apple contracts was from Intel, a company from 
whom Apple had considered purchasing modem chips prior to signing the 2013 agreement with 
Qualcomm. The district court made no finding that any other specific competitor or potential 
competitor was affected by either of Qualcomm’s agreements with Apple, and it is undisputed 
that Intel won Apple’s business the very next year, in 2014, when Apple’s engineering team unani-
mously recommended that the company select Intel as an alternative supplier of modem chips. 
The district court found that “Qualcomm’s exclusive deals . . . delayed Intel’s ability to sell modem 
chips to Apple until September 2016.” There is no indication in the record, however, that Intel was 
a viable competitor to Qualcomm prior to 2014–2015, or that the 2013 agreement delayed Apple’s 
transition to Intel by any more than one year. Given these undisputed facts, we conclude that the 
2011 and 2013 agreements did not have the actual or practical effect of substantially foreclosing 
competition in the CDMA modem chip market. 
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 * * * 
We therefore REVERSE the district court’s judgment and VACATE its injunction as well 

as its partial grant of summary judgment. 
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	NATURE OF THE CASE
	1. Microsoft and Sony control the market for high-performance video game consoles. The number of independent companies capable of developing standout video games for those consoles has contracted, with only a small group of firms commanding that space...
	2. Microsoft, one of only two manufacturers of high-performance video game consoles, develops and sells Xbox gaming consoles. Microsoft is vertically integrated: through its in-house game studios, it develops and publishes popular video game titles su...
	3. Activision develops and publishes high-quality video games for multiple devices, including video game consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s games include high-quality games that are commonly referred to in the industry as “AAA” titles. AA...
	4. Activision produces some of the most iconic video game titles, including several leading AAA franchises. For example, Activision develops the popular franchises Diablo and Overwatch and the marquee franchise Call of Duty.
	5. The Diablo and Overwatch AAA franchises are among several Activision franchises that have individually earned more than $1 billion in lifetime revenues. Overwatch just released a successful new title, Overwatch 2, available for play on multiple gam...
	6. Activision and industry participants recognize Call of Duty as Activision’s “key product franchise.” Call of Duty was originally launched in 2003, and Activision releases new titles for the franchise on an annual basis. Activision allocates substan...
	7. By any measure, Call of Duty is a leading AAA franchise. It is one of the most successful console-game franchises ever. From its launch in 2003 up through 2020, it generated $27 billion in revenues. Call of Duty also has a massive following, with 1...
	8. Activision’s content is extremely important for, and drives adoption of, video game consoles. Given their immense popularity, Activision’s titles are of particular importance to console makers, including Microsoft’s competition.
	9. Microsoft produces its own first-party video game titles. Microsoft has acquired over ten third-party studios and their titles in recent years to expand its offerings. Microsoft has frequently made those acquired titles exclusive to its own console...
	10. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in multiple markets because it will create a combined firm with the ability and increased incentive to use its control of Activision tit...
	11. Microsoft’s ownership of Activision would provide Microsoft with the ability to withhold or degrade Activision content through various means, including manipulating Activision’s pricing, degrading game quality or player experience on rival offerin...
	12. Microsoft’s past conduct provides a preview of the combined firm’s likely plans if it consummates the Proposed Acquisition, despite any assurances the company may offer regarding its plans. In March 2021, Microsoft acquired ZeniMax Media Inc. (“Ze...
	13. Today, Activision touts that it is “platform agnostic” and seeks to offer its games wherever gamers want to be playing them. It has an incentive to offer its titles broadly. Microsoft’s ownership of Activision’s content would alter that dynamic. A...
	14. These effects are likely to be felt throughout the video gaming industry. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition and/or tend to create a monopoly in both well-developed and new, burgeoning markets, includ...

	JURISDICTION
	15. Respondents Microsoft and Activision are each “corporations” as defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and in Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12.
	16. Respondents are engaged in activities in or affecting “commerce” as defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and in Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12.
	17. The Proposed Acquisition constitutes a merger subject to Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.

	RESPONDENTS AND THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION
	18.  Respondent Microsoft is a publicly traded technology company incorporated in the State of Washington with headquarters in Redmond, Washington. Microsoft sells software, services, and devices across the technology industry and is among the most va...
	19. Respondent Activision is a publicly traded company, incorporated in the State of Delaware with headquarters in Santa Monica, California. Activision develops and publishes video games for consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s revenues in ...
	20. Microsoft entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Activision on January 18, 2022, for an all-cash purchase price of $95 per Activision share and a total estimated value of $68.7 billion.

	BACKGROUND
	21. Activision’s gaming content is extremely important in a gaming industry where content availability shapes gamers’ decisions about which video game consoles and services to purchase. If the Proposed Acquisition is allowed to proceed, Microsoft woul...
	22. Today, gaming is the largest category in the entertainment industry, with revenues that far exceed those of both the film and music industries. This year, the gaming industry is expected to be worth more than $170 billion in global revenues, five ...
	23. Gaming’s unrivaled popularity among consumers is expected to continue. Microsoft projects global gaming revenues to grow to $500 billion in annual sales by 2030. Microsoft also expects the number of gamers worldwide to increase significantly, expa...
	24. Video game content and services are generally available on a variety of devices, including video game consoles that are predominantly used for playing video games; PCs, including general purpose PCs as well as high-performance gaming PCs configure...
	25. Consumers purchase consoles based on the technological capability of the console, the price, and the games available for that specific console, among other factors.
	I. Consoles
	26. For gamers who play games on gaming consoles today, the most popular options, Microsoft’s Xbox, Sony’s PlayStation, and Nintendo’s Switch, come from the same trio of companies that have been manufacturing consoles for decades with no meaningful ne...
	27. Since the 1970s, competing video game console makers have periodically released consoles featuring the latest technological advances, with a new generation of consoles released approximately every five to ten years. Within the video game industry,...
	28. Of these three console makers, PlayStation and Xbox compete in a high-performance segment that includes only the most technologically advanced and capable consoles. In November 2020, both Microsoft and Sony launched their current generation of con...
	29. The Xbox Series X|S are two ninth-generation Xbox consoles offered by Microsoft. The Series X is a more powerful console while the Series S is more affordable. Together, these consoles provide Microsoft’s “flagship gaming experience.”
	30. Microsoft closely tracks the performance of its Xbox consoles relative to Sony’s PlayStation consoles. For example, in FY2022, the first full year that Xbox Series X|S consoles were available, one of Microsoft’s key metrics for evaluating success ...
	31. Xbox Series X|S consoles have been a commercial success. In a July 26, 2022 earnings call, Microsoft CEO Satya Nadella announced that the company “ha[d] been the market leader in North America for three quarters in a row among next gen consoles.”
	32. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are “roughly comparable,” from a broad consumer perspective, in a number of technical specifications, including offering similar graphics, user experiences, and hardware features. In addition, the Xbox Series X...
	33. Other consoles lack the high performance of the Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles. For example, the Nintendo Switch, which is designed to allow portable, handheld use, necessarily sacrifices computing power, which leaves it unable to play certain g...
	II. Gaming Content
	A. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services
	34. For the last several decades, gamers have purchased games through a “buy-to-play” model: either purchasing physical copies of games or, more prevalent today, purchasing digital copies of individual games that gamers download to their gaming consol...
	35. Recent years, however, have seen the expansion of a subscription model. Multi-game content library subscription services allow gamers to access a library of games for a fixed monthly or yearly fee. Microsoft’s multi-game content library subscripti...
	36. Xbox Game Pass provides subscribers with unlimited access to a library of over 300 first- and third-party games at no additional cost. The service is priced at $9.99 per month for gamers who seek to download games to play solely on an Xbox console...
	37. Sony also offers a multi-game content library subscription service, PlayStation Plus, which at certain tiers is comparable to Xbox Game Pass. The lower comparable tier, PlayStation Plus Extra, priced at $14.99 per month, provides access to a libra...
	38. In addition to Sony’s PlayStation Plus Extra and Premium, other multi-game content library subscription services include EA Play and Ubisoft+. EA Play, starting at $4.99 per month, and Ubisoft+, starting at $14.99 per month, each offer access only...
	B. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services
	39. Today, video game software typically runs locally on the player’s gaming device. Recently, however, cloud gaming subscription services have been introduced that allow players to stream games that run on remote hardware without downloading the game...
	40. Microsoft touts numerous benefits of cloud gaming to customers. Cloud gaming enables gamers to begin playing a game in seconds, rather than waiting for games to download or update, and streaming rather than downloading avoids burdening the storage...
	41. In September 2020, Microsoft added cloud gaming to its top-tier multi-game content library subscription service offering, Xbox Game Pass Ultimate. To date, more than 20 million gamers have used the service to stream games from the cloud. Microsoft...
	42. Other cloud gaming subscription services include Amazon Luna, Nvidia GeForce NOW, and Google Stadia, although Alphabet Inc. has announced that it is discontinuing Stadia in January 2023. Amazon’s Luna+ (a tier of Amazon Luna), priced at $9.99 per ...
	C. Importance of AAA Games
	43. AAA games are particularly important within the gaming industry. The term “AAA” is frequently used by industry participants to refer to highly anticipated games bearing similar characteristics: high development costs, superior graphical quality, a...
	44. In the words of one Microsoft executive, AAA games are “blockbuster[s].” They are also not numerous. Phil Spencer, CEO of Microsoft Gaming, estimates there are “probably 10 to 20 AAA games in a given… calendar year” compared to 300 to 400 console ...
	45. Production budgets for AAA games frequently exceed $100 million, if not $200 million, and development teams can include thousands of developers working over several years. The high cost of AAA game development is driven by many factors such as lon...
	52. AAA content has particularly important downstream effects because it generates player interest, develops a base of users, and drives monetization opportunities. As Microsoft’s CEO has explained, there is some gaming content that is needed on a con...
	53. To differentiate their products from rivals, console manufacturers and subscription service providers may seek to make certain titles exclusive to their products and unavailable on rivals’ products, including by obtaining exclusive licenses from t...
	54. A diverse array of AAA content that increases adoption and engagement gives a console or subscription service greater leverage in attracting additional content. The console or subscription service can tout the size of its player base in negotiatio...
	55. Microsoft Xbox’s Chief Marketing Officer has emphasized the importance of such content, noting: “we want to bet bigger on tentpoles (things we believe will drive acquisition, engagement hours, and have talkable and shareable marketing value).”
	56. Microsoft expects that Activision’s AAA content will drive sales of Xbox consoles and Xbox Game Pass and increase active play of both Activision and non-Activision games on Xbox consoles. As Mr. Spencer explained to Microsoft investors, “[a]s our ...
	57. Activision content is especially valuable to any gaming console or subscription service due to the ability of Activision games to drive sales and engagement. Activision’s CEO Bobby Kotick testified that Activision’s games are “iconic” and “beloved...
	58. Activision currently has a combined 154 million MAU globally across its console and PC games and the company expects this number to grow to over 250 million MAU by 2024. Activision’s statements reflect its ability to influence video game product p...
	59. Even among AAA games, Activision’s most well-known franchise, Call of Duty, is particularly strong. First released nearly twenty years ago in 2003, Call of Duty is, in Activision’s own words, “one of the most successful entertainment franchises of...

	RELEVANT MARKETS
	60. The Proposed Acquisition will result in a combined firm with the ability and increased incentive to withhold or degrade Activision’s valuable gaming content to undermine its competitors in multiple Relevant Markets. This anticompetitive behavior i...
	61. The Proposed Acquisition is likely to harm innovation, for instance, by decreasing the combined firm’s incentive to optimize Activision’s content for gameplay on rival hardware, thereby reducing the quality of consumer gaming experiences on compet...
	62. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets for High-Performance Consoles, Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services, and Cloud Gaming Subscription S...
	I. High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Product Market

	63. High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Market for evaluating the likely competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.
	64. The only High-Performance Consoles offered for sale today are the most recent generation of Microsoft Xbox and Sony PlayStation consoles—the Xbox Series X|S and the PS5. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 are therefore included within the Relevant Market.
	65. The third major gaming console available today, the Nintendo Switch, is highly differentiated from the Xbox and PlayStation consoles in significant ways. The Nintendo Switch, therefore, is not included in the Relevant Market.
	66. Microsoft’s Xbox Series X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles are characterized by greater computational power, different content portfolios, different form factors and technical specifications, generally higher prices, and different release cadences than t...
	a. Superior computational power enables faster processing that shapes the kind of content that can run on High-Performance Consoles, enabling higher resolution, more realistic graphics, and cutting-edge performance. Both Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consol...
	b. Microsoft and Sony compete closely for high-quality, resource-intensive AAA console games. They compete over genre coverage, portfolio size and quality, and multiplayer game availability, and they routinely benchmark their content libraries against...
	c. Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles provide a technologically advanced gaming experience from a stationary endpoint. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are plug-in devices that draw electrical power to support advanced computations and are connected...
	d. The PlayStation 5 and the Xbox Series X, the companies’ latest flagship consoles, retail for $499.99. By contrast, the Nintendo Switch retails for $200 less at $299.99.
	e. Since the 2000s, Microsoft and Sony have released new console generations largely contemporaneously—most recently in 2020. The prior generation (Generation 8) Xbox One and PlayStation 4 were released in 2013, and the current generation (Generation ...

	67. Microsoft’s own ordinary course documents regularly distinguish the closest potential substitute, the Nintendo Switch, from Microsoft’s Xbox Series X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles. Respondents conceded in a regulatory filing that Nintendo’s Switch is ...
	68. Due to their distinct offerings, Microsoft and Sony consoles appeal to different gaming audiences than the Nintendo Switch. While Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles offer more mature content for more serious gaming, Nintendo’s hardware and content t...
	69. Indeed, “dual console owners” are more likely to own one High-Performance Console and a Nintendo Switch than two High-Performance Consoles. NPD Group, a trusted source for video game industry data, shows that as of 2020, nearly 40 percent of PlayS...
	70. Other video gaming devices available today are not commercially reasonable alternatives to High-Performance Consoles and are therefore not included in the Relevant Market. These include gaming PCs, and mobile devices.
	71. Gaming PCs are distinct from High-Performance Consoles due to differences in price, hardware, performance, and functionality (i.e., where and when a game can be played), among other factors. Gaming PCs are therefore not included in the Relevant Ma...
	72. High-Performance Consoles are a relevant antitrust market. However, although the Nintendo Switch is highly differentiated from the Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles, it shares many of the same characteristics that make High-Performance Consoles dis...
	II. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a Relevant Product Market

	73. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a relevant product market for evaluating the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.
	74. The Relevant Market for Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services includes services that offer unlimited access to a library of video games that are predominantly played on non-mobile devices and are available to play at zero additional cos...
	75. Microsoft is already a significant player in this market through its Xbox Game Pass offerings and continues to expand rapidly in this market. Microsoft offers three tiers of Game Pass, each of which provide unlimited access to hundreds of games, w...
	76. Each service competes aggressively to offer the best, most exciting titles to attract users to its service, with each attempting to provide access to a compelling library of high-end, AAA games. Services offer a range of incentives to developers a...
	77. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services rely on distinct pricing compared to the traditional “buy to play” model, where gamers purchase individual games for up to $70 per title, or more. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services se...
	78. Subscription services in the Relevant Market closely track each other’s pricing and set their own prices accordingly. Microsoft’s ordinary course documents show that Microsoft closely monitors how competitors such as Sony are pricing their subscri...
	79. Buy-to-play games are not commercially reasonable alternatives and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services provide immediate access to hundreds of game titles for a monthly fee, facilitat...
	80. Subscription services that focus on enabling online multiplayer gaming, such as Xbox Live Gold and PlayStation Plus Essential, are not commercially reasonable alternatives and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Xbox Live Gold and P...
	81. Subscription services that do not offer a library of video games that are predominantly played on non-mobile devices are also not commercially reasonable alternatives and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Mobile-native games are d...
	82. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services comprise a Relevant Market. The anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition also are reasonably likely to occur in any relevant antitrust market that contains Multi-Game Content Library Subs...
	III.  Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a Relevant Market

	83. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a relevant product market for evaluating the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.
	84. The Relevant Market for Cloud Gaming Subscription Services includes services that offer the ability to play predominantly non-mobile video games via cloud streaming.
	85. The Relevant Market includes Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services that offer access to games via cloud streaming as well as any services that offer streaming via a “Bring Your Own Game” (“BYOG”) approach where users play games they own...
	86. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services provide a way to play games that is distinct from running them locally on the player’s gaming device. Such subscription services make predominantly non-mobile video games available instantly on a wide variety of ...
	87. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are designed to reach a different set of consumers than other forms of game distribution. These subscription services enable gaming on devices that do not meet the minimum specifications for large and technologic...
	88. Microsoft’s executives recognize the expanded opportunity Cloud Gaming Subscription Services offer. For example, Microsoft executives have explained that xCloud (now referred to as Xbox Cloud Gaming) offers “a visionary statement of the games you ...
	89. Microsoft’s documents show that video game play by gamers who use cloud gaming differs from that of gamers who do not. In a recap of insights and learnings from FY2022, the Xbox Cloud Gaming team reported that “gamers who play a title with cloud e...
	90. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services also require specialized inputs. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services operate on cloud infrastructure, either by deploying their own dedicated infrastructure or by contracting with a third party. For example, Micro...
	91. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a Relevant Market. The anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition alleged in this complaint are also likely to occur in any relevant antitrust market that contains Cloud Gaming Subscription Services,...
	IV. The Relevant Geographic Market is the United States

	92. The relevant geographic market in which to assess the Proposed Acquisition’s effects is the United States.
	93.  In each of the Relevant Markets, consumer preferences and gaming behavior differ across countries. Internal research from both Microsoft and Activision also finds significant variation among countries on metrics like average consumer spending on ...
	94. Microsoft is a leader in the United States in the Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services market. As of the first quarter of 2022, over half of its Game Pass subscribers were located in the United States. Microsoft offers Game Pass at dif...
	95. Microsoft and other Cloud Gaming Subscription Service providers have similarly focused on the United States when choosing where to launch their services. Microsoft launched Game Pass Ultimate first in the United States and Canada, with Nvidia’s Ge...

	ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS
	96. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets by creating a combined firm with the ability and increased incentive to withhold Activision’s valuable gaming co...
	I. As the Owner of Activision’s Gaming Content, Microsoft Would Have the Ability to Disadvantage Rivals by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content in the Relevant Markets

	97. AAA gaming content is a substantially important input for High-Performance Consoles, Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services and Cloud Gaming Subscription Services, as these products use AAA content to attract and retain users and drive a...
	98. Activision is a leader amongst an already limited number of developers able to produce such content through its cherished gaming franchises, including Call of Duty, Diablo, and Overwatch. As the owner of Activision’s gaming content, Microsoft woul...
	A. AAA Content is a Substantially Important Input for Products in the Relevant Markets
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	104. The Proposed Acquisition would give Microsoft the ability to engage in several strategies to degrade access to Activision content on rival consoles and subscription services, including timed exclusivity, exclusive downloadable content available o...
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	107. Activision also works to optimize its games, including Call of Duty, to work on Nvidia’s GPUs. A GPU (or Graphics Processing Unit) is a hardware component that renders graphics for video games. Nvidia uses these GPUs in their datacenters where ga...
	II. The Proposed Acquisition Would Increase Microsoft’s Incentive to Disadvantage Rivals by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content in the Relevant Markets.

	108. If permitted to take control of Activision, Microsoft would have an incentive to disadvantage rivals by withholding or degrading Activision content. Gaming is a growing and lucrative market opportunity and one in which Microsoft is already well-p...
	109. Prior to the Proposed Acquisition, Activision sought to maximize its profits from sales of its video game titles. The Proposed Acquisition would change Activision’s incentives, because Microsoft stands to gain significant profits from additional ...
	110. While AAA content in general is important to competitors in the Relevant Markets, Activision content is especially important because of its ability to drive gaming product adoption and engagement by users.
	111. Activision’s own documents point out the significant role Activision content plays in consumers’ choice of gaming products. In a 2019 presentation to Nvidia, Activision highlighted consumer survey data showing that 47% of gamers responded that pl...
	112. The Proposed Acquisition would reduce Microsoft’s incentive to optimize Activision content for rival products, including via collaboration with Microsoft’s rivals. Given the competition between Microsoft and Sony, the combined firm will have less...
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	113. Microsoft stated earlier this year that it planned to make all future Activision titles exclusive to Game Pass. Microsoft subsequently has wavered in its representations as to its plans for exclusivity of Activision content post-merger on Game Pa...
	114. Moreover, Microsoft’s past conduct is telling. Despite statements by Microsoft to European regulators disavowing the incentive to make ZeniMax content exclusive post-close, after the EC cleared the transaction, Microsoft plans for three of the ne...
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	116. Microsoft is eager to further build upon its already significant strength in gaming, with Mr. Nadella declaring publicly, “Microsoft’s all-in on gaming.” Looking to reap the financial opportunity available in the gaming industry, Microsoft would ...
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	IV. Withholding Activision Content From, or Degrading Activision Content On, Microsoft’s Rival Products Will Harm Competition and Consumers in the Relevant Markets
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	ABSENCE OF COUNTERVAILING FACTORS
	120. Respondents cannot demonstrate that entry or expansion in the Relevant Markets would be timely, likely, or sufficient to reverse the anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition.
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	VIOLATION
	COUNT I – ILLEGAL ACQUISITION
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